
 
 
 

Council Offices 

Argyle Road 

Sevenoaks 

Kent 

TN13 1HG 

 

 

16 July 2012 

I hereby summon you to attend the Annual meeting of the Sevenoaks District Council to 

be held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, Argyle Road, Sevenoaks commencing at 

7.00 pm on 24 July 2012 to transact the under-mentioned business. 

 

 
Chief Executive 

 
 

AGENDA 

 

 

Apologies for absence 

 

1. To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 

Annual Council Meeting held on 15 May 2012  

 

(Pages 1 - 16) 

2. To receive any additional declarations of interest from Members in 

respect of items of business included on the agenda for this 

meeting.  

 

 

3. Chairman's Announcements  

 

 

4. To receive any petitions submitted by members of the public.  

 

 

5. To appoint representatives on outside organisations.  

 

(Pages 17 - 18) 

6. Matters considered by the Cabinet and/or other committees:  

 

 

 a) The Localism Act 2011 - The New Standards Regime  (Pages 19 - 118) 

 

 b) Amendments to the Constitution  (Pages 119 - 128) 

 

 c) Localisation of Council Tax Support  (Pages 129 - 138) 

 

 d) Community Right to Challenge  (Pages 139 - 158) 

 

7. To consider any questions by Members under paragraph 19.3 of 

Part 2 (The Council and District Council Members) of the 

Constitution, notice of which have been duly given.  

 

 



 

 

 

8. To receive any questions from members of the public under 

paragraph 17 of Part 2 (The Council and District Council Members) 

of the Constitution.  

 

 

9. To receive the report of the Leader of the Council on the work of 

the Cabinet since the last Council meeting.  

 

(Pages 159 - 160) 

10. To receive a report from the Chairmen of the Select Committees on 

the work of the Committees since the last Council meeting.  

 

(Pages 161 - 166) 

11. To receive a report from the Chairman of the Performance and 

Governance Committee on the Work of the Committee since the 

last Council Meeting  

 

(Pages 167 - 168) 

To assist in the speedy and efficient despatch of business, Members wishing to obtain factual 

information on items included on the Agenda are asked to enquire of the appropriate Director or 

Contact Officer named on a report prior to the day of the meeting. 

 

Should you require a copy of this agenda or any of the reports listed on it in another format please 

do not hesitate to contact the Democratic Services Team as set out below. 

 

For any other queries concerning this agenda or the meeting please contact: 

 

The Democratic Services Team (01732 227241) 

 



1 

 

ANNUAL COUNCIL 

 
Minutes of the meeting of the held on 15 May 2012 commencing at 7.00 pm 

 

 

Present: Cllr.  Mrs. Morris  (Chairman) 

 

Cllr. Pett   (Vice Chairman) 

  

 Cllrs. Abraham, Ayres, Mrs. Ayres, Ball, Mrs. Bayley, Bosley, Mrs. Bosley, 

Brookbank, Brown, Butler, Clark, Mrs. Clark, Mrs. Cook, Cooke, Davison, 

Mrs. Davison, Mrs. Dawson, Dickins, Edwards-Winser, Firth, Fittock, Fleming, 

Gaywood, Mrs. George, Grint, Hogarth, Horwood, Mrs. Hunter, London, 

Ms. Lowe, Maskell, McGarvey, Mrs. Morris, Orridge, Mrs. Parkin, Pett, Piper, 

Mrs. Purves, Raikes, Ramsay, Mrs. Sargeant, Scholey, Searles, Miss. Stack, 

Miss. Thornton, Towell, Underwood and Walshe 

 

 Apologies for absence: Cllrs. Ms. Chetram, Eyre and Williamson 

 

 

  

1. To Elect a Member to be Chairman for the Ensuing Year.  

 

Cllr. Fleming proposed and Cllr. Mrs. Davison seconded that Cllr. Mrs. Dee Morris 

be elected Chairman of the Council for the ensuing municipal year. 

Resolved: That Cllr. Mrs. Morris be elected Chairman of the Council for the 

municipal year, 2012/13. 

Cllr. Mrs. Morris then made the declaration of acceptance of office and took the 

chair.  The new Chairman thanked the Council for her election and expressed her 

appreciation for the many good wishes she had received.  She announced that 

her Escort for the year would be her husband, Mr. Ray Morris, and presented him 

with his badge of office. 

 

The new Chairman led the Council in expressing thanks to the outgoing 

Chairman, Cllr. Bob Orridge, for his service to the Council and to the District. This 

was strongly supported by other Members who commented on Cllr. Orridge’s 

exemplary service as Chairman and support of local voluntary organisations.  The 

new Chairman presented Cllr. Orridge with a plaque of the official badge, the 

past Chairman’s badge and Civic Shield, and a past Chairman’s Escort badge 

and flowers to Mrs. Orridge. 

 

In response Cllr. Orridge commented on the many events he had attended during 

the year and thanked Members and Officers for their support. He offered 

particular thanks to his wife and personal assistant Margaret Hagger who was 

retiring after working for the District Council for twenty four years, inviting all 

present to attend her retirement celebration at noon the next day. 

Agenda Item 1

Page 1



Annual Council - 15 May 2012 

2 

 

2. To Elect a Member to be Vice-Chairman for the Ensuing Year 

 

Cllr. Fleming proposed and Cllr. Mrs. Davison seconded that Cllr. Alan Pett be elected 

Vice-Chairman of the Council for the ensuing municipal year. 

 

 Resolved: That Cllr. Pett be appointed Vice-Chairman of the Council for the 

 municipal year, 2012/13. 

 

Cllr. Pett then made the declaration of acceptance of office and expressed his thanks to 

the Council for his appointment. 

 

The Chairman of the Council then presented the new Vice-Chairman’s Escort, Mrs. Sylvia 

Eccles, with her badge of office. 

 

3. To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 24 

April 2012.  

 

The Chairman proposed that the Minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 24 April 

2012 be approved and signed as a correct record. 

 

 Resolved: That the minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 24 April 

 2012 be approved and signed by the Chairman as a correct record. 

 

4. Declarations of Interest  

 

No declarations of interest were made. 

 

5. Chairman's Announcements 

 

The Chairman proposed to send the following loyal greetings to Her Majesty the Queen in 

her Diamond Jubilee year, on behalf of the District Council:  

 

‘To her Most Gracious Majesty Queen Elizabeth the Second. 

 

Your Majesty,  

 

The Chairman, on behalf of the Councillors and residents of the District of Sevenoaks, 

sends loyal greetings and congratulations to Your Majesty on the occasion of the 

Diamond Anniversary of your accession to the throne.  

 

For 60 years Your Majesty has given dedicated service to the people of this country and 

the commonwealth. You have provided a matchless example of devotion to public 

service.  

 

Throughout your reign you have been supported by His Royal Highness the Duke of 

Edinburgh and we send him our warmest thanks and greetings.  

 

Your Majesty has reigned for 60 years of unprecedented change. The people of 

Sevenoaks look forward to many more years of your wisdom and guidance in the times 

ahead.’ 

 

Agenda Item 1

Page 2



Annual Council - 15 May 2012 

3 

 

The Chairman announced that she intended to help promote the London 2012 Olympics 

especially as the Paralympic Road Cycling events were being held at Brands Hatch.  In 

light of this she would actively help promote cycling within the District including safe 

cycling, bicycle recycling, swap shops and maintenance workshops. 

 

In light of recent guidance she would not be having prayers and therefore not appointing 

a Chaplain. 

 

Whist there was no longer fundraising events held she would continue in her own support 

of a local charity called the ‘Happy Club’ for the disabled. 

 

The theme of her year as Chairman would be ‘fun,’ even in these frugal times with no 

place for extravagance she planned to enjoy her year and encouraged everyone to do the 

same. 

 

6. To appoint the Chairmen, Vice-Chairmen and Membership of Committees for the 

Ensuing Year 

 

Cllr. Fleming proposed and Cllr. Mrs. Davison seconded that the appointments of 

Chairmen, Vice Chairmen and Membership of Committees for the ensuing municipal year 

and recommendation as detailed in the papers tabled at the meeting, be approved.  

 

 Resolved: That  

 

a) the Chairmen, Vice-Chairmen and membership of Committees for the 

 municipal year 2012/13 be approved, as set out in Appendix A to these 

 minutes; and 

 

b) authority be delegated to the Leader of the Council to rotate/amend the 

 District Council Membership of the Locality Board, as appropriate. 

 

7. Scheme of Delegations 

 

Cllr. Fleming proposed and Cllr. Mrs. Davison seconded that the delegations to 

Committees and Officers be agreed and that the delegations of executive functions by 

the Leader of the Council, and appointments to the Cabinet and the composition of the 

Cabinet Portfolios attached to the minutes at Appendix B be noted.  

 

Resolved: That 

 

a) the delegations to Committees and Officers be approved; and 

 

b) that the appointments to the Cabinet and delegations of    

 executive functions for 2012/13 made by the Leader, as set out in Appendix 

 B to these minutes, be noted. 

Agenda Item 1

Page 3



Annual Council - 15 May 2012 

4 

 

8. To confirm the Calendar of Meetings for the Ensuing Year 

 

Cllr. Fleming moved and Cllr. Mrs. Davison seconded that the Calendar of Meetings for 

ensuing Municipal Year, be agreed.  It was noted that there was a discrepancy between 

the number of meetings scheduled and the Scheme of Delegations, which would be 

clarified.     

 

 Resolved: That the Calendar of Meetings for the ensuing Municipal Year 

 2012/13, be agreed subject to investigation into the number of Select Committee 

 meetings complying with the Scheme of Delegations. 

 

9. To appoint Representatives on Outside Organisations 

 

Cllr. Fleming moved and Cllr. Mrs. Davison seconded that the appointment of 

representatives on outside organisations for the ensuing Municipal Year be as set out in 

the papers tabled at the meeting.  It was noted that the representation on the Kent 

County Council’s Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee was conducted on a rotational 

basis and there was no official representation on the committee this municipal year. 

 

 Resolved: That the appointment of representatives on Outside Organisations  for 

2012/13 as amended, as set out in Appendix C to these minutes, be  approved. 

 

10. To note the outgoing Chairman's Report  

 

The report was noted. 

 

 

 

THE MEETING WAS CONCLUDED AT 7.27 PM 

 

 

 

 

CHAIRMAN 

 

Agenda Item 1

Page 4



 

Appendix A 

CHAIRMEN, VICE-CHAIRMEN AND MEMBERSHIP OF COMMITTEES 2012-13 

Environment Select Committee 

(19 Members: 16 Conservative, 2 Labour, 1 Liberal Democrat) 

Chairman: Cllr. Bosley  

Vice-Chairman: Cllr. Grint 

Cllrs. Abraham, Ayres, Mrs. Bayley, Butler, Ms. Chetram, Cooke, Mrs. Dibsdall, Edwards-

Winser, Eyre, London, Maskell, Orridge, Mrs. Purves, Mrs. Sargeant, Scholey, Searles and 

Williamson  

Services Select Committee 

(19 Members: 16 Conservative, 3 Labour)  

Chairman: Cllr. Davison 

Vice-Chairman: Cllr. Brown 

Cllrs. Abraham, Mrs. Ayres, Ayres, Ball, Mrs. Dibsdall, Edwards-Winser,  Fittock, Mrs. 

George, Hogarth, Horwood, Neal, Mrs. Parkin, Pett, Piper, Raikes, Scholey and Towell. 

Social Affairs Select Committee 

(19 Members: 17 Conservative, 1 Labour, 1 Liberal Democrat) 

Chairman: Cllr. Mrs. Cook 

Vice-Chairman: Cllr. Ms. Lowe 

Cllrs. Ball, Bosley, Brookbank, Butler, Ms. Chetram, Eyre, Firth, Mrs. George, Horwood,  

Maskell, Neal, Mrs. Purves, Raikes, Searles, Miss. Stack, Miss. Thornton and Towell.  

Performance and Governance Committee 

(14 Members: 12 Conservative, 1 Labour, 1 Liberal Democrat) 

Chairman: Cllr. Fittock 

Vice-Chairman: Cllr. Walshe 

Cllrs. Mrs. Bayley, Clark, Mrs. Cook, Davison, Dickins, Firth, Gaywood, Grint, Hogarth, 

London, McGarvey and Piper 

Minute Annex

Page 1

Agenda Item 1

Page 5



 

Appendix A 

Modern Local Government Group 

(10 Members: 8 Conservative, 1 Labour, 1 Liberal Democrat) 

Cllrs. Mrs. Bracken, Brookbank, Mrs. Cook, Mrs. Davison, Fittock, Fleming, Mrs. Hunter, 

Piper, Scholey and Walshe  

(Please note the election of the Chairman will take place at the first meeting of the 

Committee in the municipal year.) 

Development Control Committee 

(19 Members: 17 Conservative, 1 Labour, 1 Liberal Democrat) 

Chairman: Cllr. Mrs. Dawson 

Vice-Chairman: Cllr. Williamson 

Cllrs. Mrs. Ayres, Brookbank, Brown, Clark, Cooke, Davison, Dickins, Gaywood, McGarvey, 

Ms. Lowe, Orridge, Mrs. Parkin, Piper, Scholey, Miss. Thornton, Underwood and Walshe. 

Standards Committee 

(7 District Council Members (4 Conservative, 2 Labour, 1 Liberal Democrat) + 5 

independent {non-Councillor}, 5 (parish/town council representatives)) 

Cllrs. Ball, Mrs. Bracken, Mrs. Dibsdall, Dickins, Eyre, Mrs. Purves and Underwood. 

Independent Members: Mr. J. Henderson, Mr. K. Newman, Mr. J. Reece. Mr. A. Riddell 

and Mr. A.  Smith. 

Town/Parish Council Representatives: Mr. T. Austin, Mrs. S. Dickinson, Mr. R. House, Mr. 

R. Parry, and Mr. D. Taylor. 

 (Please note that a meeting of Standards Committee cannot take place without the 

presence of one of the independent (non-councillor) Members and one of the 

parish/town council representatives. Therefore the election of the Chairman and Vice-

Chairman will take place at the first meeting of the Committee in the municipal year.) 

Appointments Committee 

(10 Members: 8 Conservative, 1 Labour, 1 Liberal Democrat) 

Cllrs. Brown, Mrs. Cook, Fittock, Fleming, Gaywood, Walshe + 4 appropriate Portfolio 

Holders 

(Please note the election of the Chairman will take place at the first meeting of the 

Committee in the municipal year.) 

Minute Annex

Page 2

Agenda Item 1

Page 6



 

Appendix A 

Electoral Arrangements Committee 

(10 Members: 9 Conservative, 1 Labour) 

Cllrs. Mrs. Bayley, Bosley, Brookbank, Mrs. Clark, Mrs. Davison, Fleming, Grint, Mrs. 

Hunter, Ms. Lowe and Mrs. Sargeant.  

(Please note the election of the Chairman will take place at the first meeting of the 

Group in the municipal year.) 

Sevenoaks Joint Transportation Board 

(7 District Council Members: (6 Conservative, 1 Labour), 7 Kent Council Council 

Members and 1 Town/Parish Council Representative) 

Chairman: County Cllr. Parry 

Vice-Chairman: Cllr. James London 

(The position of Chairman is on a yearly alternate basis between the District Council and 

County Council and appointed under respective constitutional arrangements.  This year it 

is the County Council’s turn.) 

District Council Membership: Cllrs. Mrs. Davison, Edwards-Winser, Searles, Towell, 

Underwood and Williamson. 

County Council Membership: County Councillors: Brazier, Brookbank, Chard, Gough, Lake 

and John London. 

Town/Parish Council Representative: Cllr. Robson (nominated by the Area Committee of 

the Kent Association of Local Councils) 

 (The Board comprises of all Kent County Council local members for divisions in the 

Sevenoaks District Council area, an equal number of Sevenoaks District Council 

Members and a Town/Parish Council Representative (of which a substitute member may 

be nominated) who may speak but not vote, nor propose a motion or amendment.) 

Licensing Committee 

(15 Members: 13 Conservative, 1 Labour, 1 Liberal Democrat) 

Chairman: Cllr. Pett 

Cllrs. Abraham, Mrs. Ayres, Ayres, Clark, Cooke, Davison, Mrs. Dawson, Fittock, Hogarth, 

Orridge, Mrs. Parkin, Piper, Raikes and Walshe. 

Homelessness Review Board 

(3 Members: to be drawn from the Council) 

The Portfolio Holder for Housing and Balanced Communities to be Chairman of the Board 

and the membership to be drawn from the Council. 

Minute Annex

Page 3

Agenda Item 1

Page 7



 

Appendix A 

 

Locality Board 

(14 Members: 7 District Council Cabinet Members and 7 Kent County Council Members) 

Chairman: Cllr. Fleming 

Vice Chairman: County Cllr. Brookbank 

(The position of Chairman to be the Leader of Sevenoaks District Council, with the Vice 

Chairman appointed by Kent County Council.  Leader has delegated authority to 

rotate/amend the District Council Membership as appropriate ) 

District Council Membership: Cllrs. Mrs. Bosley, Ms. Chetram, Clark, Davison, Ramsay 

and Searles. 

County Council Membership: County Councillors: Brazier, Chard, Gough, Lake, John 

London and Parry. 

 

 

 

Minute Annex

Page 4

Agenda Item 1

Page 8



 
 

 

A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 B
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 
M
e
m
b
e
rs
h
ip
 

(8
 M

e
m
b
e
rs
: 
8
 C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
v
e
s
) 
C
ll
rs
. 
M
rs
. 
B
o
s
le
y,
 M

rs
. 
B
ra
c
k
e
n
, 
M
rs
. 
C
la
rk
, 
M
rs
 D
a
v
is
o
n
, 
F
le
m
in
g
 (
C
h
a
ir
m
a
n
),
 M

rs
. 
H
u
n
te
r 
a
n
d
 R
a
m
s
a
y.
 

P
o
rt
fo
li
o
 H

o
ld
e
rs
 2
0
1
2
/
1
3
 (
A
n
n
e
x
 t
o
 A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 H

 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
n
s
ti
tu
ti
o
n
 -
 l
a
s
t 
re
v
is
e
d
 M

a
y
 2
0
1
1
) 

C
ll
r.
 P
a
t 
B
o
s
le
y 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y 

W
e
ll
b
e
in
g
 

A
rt
, 
C
u
lt
u
re
, 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t,
 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y 
G
ra
n
ts
, 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y 
P
la
n
 
(S
),
 
H
e
a
lt
h
y 
L
iv
in
g
, 

L
e
is
u
re
, 
L
o
c
a
li
s
m
 (
S
),
 O

ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
, 
O
ly
m
p
ic
s
 2

0
1
2
, 
T
o
u
ri
s
m
, 
T
o
w
n
 a
n
d
 P

a
ri
s
h
 C

o
u
n
c
il
s
, 
Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le
 

C
ll
r.
 E
la
in
e
 B
ra
c
k
e
n
 

S
a
fe
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y 

C
C
T
V
, 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y 
P
la
n
 
(S
),
 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y 
S
a
fe
ty
, 
E
m
e
rg
e
n
c
y 
P
la
n
n
in
g
, 
E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
H
e
a
lt
h
 
a
n
d
 

R
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
, 
E
q
u
a
li
ty
,  
F
re
e
d
o
m
 
o
f 
In
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
, 
F
o
o
d
 
H
yg
ie
n
e
, 
L
e
g
a
l 
a
n
d
 
D
e
m
o
c
ra
ti
c
 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 

L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
, 
L
o
c
a
li
s
m
 (
S
) 

C
ll
r.
 C
a
ro
l 
C
la
rk
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 a
n
d
 

B
a
la
n
c
e
d
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

C
li
m
a
te
 C
h
a
n
g
e
, 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y 
P
la
n
 (
S
),
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y 
R
e
g
e
n
e
ra
ti
o
n
, 
E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
(S
),
 

H
o
m
e
le
s
s
, 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y,
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 N
e
e
d
s
, 
Im

p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
G
ra
n
ts
, 
K
e
y 
W
o
rk
e
r 
a
n
d
 A
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
, 
L
o
c
a
li
s
m
 (
S
),
 S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

C
ll
r.
 J
il
l 
D
a
v
is
o
n
 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 

(D
e
p
u
ty
 L
e
a
d
e
r)
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y 
P
la
n
 (
S
),
 C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
, 
D
a
ta
 Q
u
a
li
ty
, 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
C
o
n
tr
o
l,
 E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
(S
),
 

H
ig
h
w
a
y 
re
la
te
d
 I
s
s
u
e
s
, 
In
te
rn
a
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 (
S
),
 L
o
c
a
l 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
, 
L
o
c
a
li
s
m
 

(S
),
 L
o
c
a
l 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 (
S
),
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
(S
),
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 P
o
li
c
y,
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 P
o
li
c
y 

C
ll
r.
 P
e
te
r 
F
le
m
in
g
 

 

L
e
a
d
e
r 

C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 &
 C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
, 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y 
P
la
n
 (
S
),
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 G
o
v
e
rn
a
n
c
e
, 
C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 P
la
n
n
in
g
, 

C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 &
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
, 
In
te
rn
a
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
 I
n
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 (
S
),
 I
T
 a
n
d
 w
e
b
s
it
e
, 
L
o
c
a
li
s
m
 (
S
),
 

L
o
c
a
l 
S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 (
S
),
 O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t,
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 W

o
rk
in
g
 (
S
),
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
(S
) 

C
ll
r.
 A
v
ri
l 
H
u
n
te
r 

T
h
e
 C
le
a
n
e
r 
a
n
d
 

G
re
e
n
e
r 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 

A
ir
 Q
u
a
li
ty
, 
B
u
il
d
in
g
 C
o
n
tr
o
l,
 C
le
a
n
 S
tr
e
e
ts
, 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y 
P
la
n
 (
S
),
 C
o
n
ta
m
in
a
te
d
 L
a
n
d
, 
 F
lo
o
d
in
g
, 

G
ra
s
s
 C
u
tt
in
g
, 
L
o
c
a
li
s
m
 (
S
),
 O
p
e
n
 S
p
a
c
e
s
, 
P
a
rk
in
g
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t,
 R
e
c
yc
li
n
g
, 
R
e
fu
s
e
, 
S
u
s
ta
in
a
b
il
it
y 

C
ll
r.
 B
ri
a
n
 R
a
m
s
a
y 

F
in
a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 V
a
lu
e
 

fo
r 
M
o
n
e
y 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
E
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y 
S
ta
te
m
e
n
t,
 A
u
d
it
, 
B
u
d
g
e
t,
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y 
P
la
n
 (
S
),
 H
u
m
a
n
 R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
, 
L
o
c
a
l 
T
a
x 
a
n
d
 

B
e
n
e
fi
t,
 L
o
c
a
li
s
m
 (
S
),
 P
a
yr
o
ll
, 
P
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
P
o
li
c
ie
s
, 
P
ro
p
e
rt
y,
 R
is
k
 A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t,
 U
s
e
 o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
, 

V
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
M
o
n
e
y,
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 W

o
rk
in
g
 (
S
) 
 

Minute Annex

Page 5

Agenda Item 1

Page 9



   

Appendix B 

Area Portfolio Holder/Portfolio 

Air Quality Cllr Avril Hunter (The Cleaner and Greener 

Environment) 

Annual Efficiency Statement Cllr Brian Ramsay (Finance and Value for Money) 

Art Cllr Pat Bosley (Community Wellbeing) 

Audit Cllr Brian Ramsay (Finance and Value for Money) 

Budget Cllr Brian Ramsay (Finance and Value for Money) 

Building Control Cllr Avril Hunter (The Cleaner and Greener 

Environment) 

CCTV Cllr Elaine Bracken (Safe Community) 

Clean Streets Cllr Avril Hunter (The Cleaner and Greener 

Environment) 

Climate Change Cllr Carol Clark (Housing and Balanced Communities) 

Communications & Consultation Cllr Peter Fleming (Leader) 

Community Development  Cllr Pat Bosley (Community Wellbeing) 

Community Grants Cllr Pat Bosley (Community Wellbeing) 

Community Plan  Shared between all Portfolio Holders:  

Cllr Pat Bosley (Community Wellbeing), Cllr Carol Clark 

(Housing and Balanced Communities), Cllr Jill Davison 

(Planning and Improvement), Cllr Peter Fleming 

(Leader), Cllr Avril Hunter (The Cleaner and Greener 

Environment), Cllr Elaine Bracken (Safe Community) 

and Cllr Brian Ramsay (Finance and Value for Money) 

Community Regeneration Cllr Carol Clark (Housing and Balanced Communities) 

Community Safety Cllr Elaine Bracken (Safe Community) 

Conservation Cllr Jill Davison (Planning and Improvement) 

Contaminated Land Cllr Avril Hunter (The Cleaner and Greener 

Environment) 

Corporate Governance Cllr Peter Fleming (Leader) 

Corporate Planning Cllr Peter Fleming (Leader) 

Minute Annex

Page 6

Agenda Item 1

Page 10



   

Appendix B 

Culture Cllr Pat Bosley (Community Wellbeing) 

Customer Services & Standards Cllr Peter Fleming (Leader) 

Data Quality Project 

Management 

Cllr Jill Davison (Planning and Improvement) 

Development Control Cllr Jill Davison (Planning and Improvement) 

Economic Development Shared between Cllr Carol Clark (Housing and 

Balanced Communities) and Cllr Jill Davison (Planning 

and Improvement) 

Emergency Planning Cllr Elaine Bracken (Safe Community) 

Environmental Health and 

Regulation 

Cllr Elaine Bracken (Safe Community) 

Equality Cllr Elaine Bracken (Safe Community) 

Flooding Cllr Avril Hunter (The Cleaner and Greener 

Environment) 

Food Hygiene Cllr Elaine Bracken (Safe Community) 

Freedom of Information Cllr Elaine Bracken (Safe Community) 

Grass Cutting Cllr Avril Hunter (The Cleaner and Greener 

Environment) 

Healthy Living Cllr Pat Bosley (Community Wellbeing) 

Highway related Issues Cllr Jill Davison (Planning and Improvement) 

Homeless Cllr Carol Clark (Housing and Balanced Communities) 

Housing Needs Cllr Carol Clark (Housing and Balanced Communities) 

Housing Strategy Cllr Carol Clark (Housing and Balanced Communities) 

Human Resources Cllr Brian Ramsay (Finance and Value for Money) 

Improvement Grants Cllr Carol Clark (Housing and Balanced Communities) 

Internal Service Inspections Shared between Cllr Jill Davison (Planning and 

Improvement)and  Cllr Peter Fleming (Leader) 

IT and website Cllr Peter Fleming (Leader) 

Key Worker and Affordable 

Housing 

Cllr Carol Clark (Housing and Balanced Communities) 

Minute Annex

Page 7

Agenda Item 1

Page 11



   

Appendix B 

Legal and Democratic Services Cllr Elaine Bracken (Safe Community) 

Leisure Cllr Pat Bosley (Community Wellbeing) 

Licensing Cllr Elaine Bracken (Safe Community) 

Localism Shared between all Portfolio Holders:  

Cllr Pat Bosley (Community Wellbeing), Cllr Carol Clark 

(Housing and Balanced Communities), Cllr Jill Davison 

(Planning and Improvement), Cllr Peter Fleming 

(Leader), Cllr Avril Hunter (The Cleaner and Greener 

Environment), Cllr Elaine Bracken (Safe Community) 

and Cllr Brian Ramsay (Finance and Value for Money) 

Local Development Framework  Cllr Jill Davison (Planning and Improvement)  

Local Strategic Partnership Shared between Cllr Jill Davison (Planning and 

Improvement) and Cllr Peter Fleming (Leader) 

Local Tax and Benefit Cllr Brian Ramsay (Finance and Value for Money) 

Older People Cllr Pat Bosley (Community Wellbeing) 

Olympics 2012 Cllr Pat Bosley (Community Wellbeing) 

Open Spaces Cllr Avril Hunter (The Cleaner and Greener 

Environment) 

Organisational Development Cllr Peter Fleming (Leader) 

Parking Management Cllr Avril Hunter (The Cleaner and Greener 

Environment) 

Partnership Working Shared between Cllr Peter Fleming (Leader) and Cllr 

Brian Ramsay (Finance and Value for Money) 

Payroll Cllr Brian Ramsay (Finance and Value for Money) 

Performance Management Shared between Cllr Jill Davison (Planning and 

Improvement) and Cllr Peter Fleming (Leader) 

Planning Policy Cllr Jill Davison (Planning and Improvement) 

Procurement Policies Cllr Brian Ramsay (Finance and Value for Money) 

Property Cllr Brian Ramsay (Finance and Value for Money) 

Recycling Cllr Avril Hunter (The Cleaner and Greener 

Environment) 

Minute Annex

Page 8

Agenda Item 1

Page 12



   

Appendix B 

Refuse Cllr Avril Hunter (The Cleaner and Greener 

Environment) 

Risk Assessment Cllr Brian Ramsay (Finance and Value for Money) 

Sustainability Cllr Avril Hunter (The Cleaner and Greener 

Environment) 

Sustainable development  Cllr Carol Clark (Housing and Balanced Communities) 

Tourism Cllr Pat Bosley (Community Wellbeing) 

Town and Parish Councils, Cllr Pat Bosley (Community Wellbeing) 

Transport Policy Cllr Jill Davison (Planning and Improvement) 

Use of Resources Cllr Brian Ramsay (Finance and Value for Money) 

Value for Money Cllr Brian Ramsay (Finance and Value for Money) 

Young People Cllr Pat Bosley (Community Wellbeing) 

 

Minute Annex

Page 9

Agenda Item 1

Page 13



Page 10

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1

Page 14



   

Appendix C 

APPOINTMENTS TO OTHER ORGANISATIONS 2012/13 – NON-EXECUTIVE – TO BE 

APPROVED BY COUNCIL 

Organisation No. of 

Reps 

Period of 

Appoint- 

ment 

Renewal 

Date 

Appointee(s) 

2012/13 

Age UK:     

Darent Valley 2 Annual May 

2013 

Mrs. F.P. Parkin 

M Fittock 

Sevenoaks, Tonbridge & District  1 Annual May 

2013 

R. Walshe 

Biggin Hill Airport Consultative 

Committee 

1 Annual May 

2013 

Mrs. E.L.S. Bracken 

Bough Beech Reservoir Recreation 

Consultative and Management Advisory 

Committee 

1 Annual May 

2013 

P.C.R. Cooke 

Citizens Advice Bureaux:     

Edenbridge & Westerham 2 Annual May 

2013 

K.J. Maskell 

C. Neal 

Sevenoaks and Swanley CAB Ltd 2 Annual May 

2013 

Mrs. A.D. Hunter 

Ms. I. Chetham 

Kent County Council’s Health Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee 

- Annual May 

2013 

Rotated 

Membership  - turn 

of Representatives 

from Maidstone 

and Dartford 

Kent County Playing Fields Association 1 Annual May 

2013 

M. Fittock 

Kent Rural Community Council – 

General Council 

2 Annual May 

2013 

Cam. Clark 

Miss. J. Thornton 

RELATE: West Kent & Tunbridge Wells 1 Annual May 

2013 

Ms. M.J.M. Lowe 

Sevenoaks Churches Group for Social 

Concern 

2 Annual May 

2013 

P.R. McGarvey 

Mrs. A. Cook 

Minute Annex

Page 11

Agenda Item 1

Page 15



   

Appendix C 

Organisation No. of 

Reps 

Period of 

Appoint- 

ment 

Renewal 

Date 

Appointee(s) 

2012/13 

Sevenoaks Conservation Council 4 Annual May 

2013 

R.L. Piper 

P. Towell 

J. Edwards-Winser 

R. Walshe 

Sevenoaks District Access Group 5 Annual May 

2013 

Mrs. A.E. Dawson 

Mrs. F.P. Parkin 

A.W.L. Pett 

R.L. Piper 

J.Underwood 

 

Sevenoaks Leisure Board of Trustees 2 Annual May 

2013 

Mrs. G.P.E. Davison 

Mrs. A. George 

Volunteer Bureaux:     

Sevenoaks Volunteer Transport 

Group 

1 Annual May 

2013 

R.J. Davison 

Edenbridge Volunteer Transport 

Service 

1 Annual May 

2013 

R. Orridge 

North West Kent Volunteer Centre 1 Annual May 

2013 

T. Searles 

 

 

Minute Annex

Page 12

Agenda Item 1

Page 16



 

APPOINTMENTS TO OTHER ORGANISATIONS 2012/13 – NON-EXECUTIVE – TO BE 

APPROVED BY COUNCIL 

Organisation No. of 

Reps 

Period of 

Appoint- 

ment 

Renewal 

Date 

Appointee(s) 

2012/13 

Local Democracy and Accountability 

Network for Councillors 

2 Annual May 

2013 

Miss L. Stack 

S. Raikes 

 

 

Agenda Item 5

Page 17



Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Item 6a – The Localism Act 2011 - The New Standards Regime 

 
Modern Local Government Group’s Recommendation to Council 

 

At its meeting on 11 July 2012, Modern Local Government Group considered the 

matter as follows: 

 

The Localism Act 2011 - The New Standards Regime  

 

The Modern Local Government Group considered a report outlining proposals for 

a new Code of Conduct and new arrangements for dealing with Member 

complaints following implementation of the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, the Localism Act 2011 (Commencement No.6 and Transitional, Savings 

and Transitory Provisions) Order 2012 and the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable 

Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012.  The Localism Act 2011 made 

fundamental changes to the system of regulation of standards of conduct for 

elected and co-opted Councillors.  The existing Standards regime ceased to 

operate on 30th June 2012 with transitional arrangements being limited and not 

allowing for the old arrangements to continue.  From 1st July, the Council was 

required to adopt a new Code of Conduct and put in place arrangements  for 

investigating allegations of breaches and for making decisions in respect of those 

allegations. 

 

A Task Group was set up from Members of the existing Standards Committee and 

met on six occasions to give guidance to Officers on implementation of the new 

regime.  The last meeting of the Group took place on 28th June 2012 when this 

report, including the appendices, was considered in draft.  The comments of the 

Group on the draft documentation were attached at Appendix 1 to the report. 

 

The Chairman thanked Officers and the Members of the Task and Finish Group for 

the time and work that had been devoted to developing the new code of conduct 

processes and procedures. 

 

The Monitoring Officer provided an overview of the report and highlighted that 

what was being proposed was a completely new Standards regime.  The two key 

differences required by statute were a change in the definition of interests and  

that Local Authorities now had to chose their own Code of Conduct.  The favoured 

option of the Task and Finish Group was the Code that had been developed by the 

Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) which was also 

known as the “Bob Neill Code”, this Code was set out on Page 17 of the agenda.  

The Monitoring Officer highlighted that the DCLG Code did not include specific 

provisions for bullying, disrespect and acting in a way to bring the Authority into 

disrepute, although it had been suggested that the Code could cover these issues 

by implication.  The Monitoring Officer did not believe this to be the case and 

stressed the dangers of relying on implied terms which could ultimately result in a 

costly legal challenge.  In light of this, the Monitoring Officer sought a clear steer 

from the Modern Local Government Group in order to provide clarity surrounding 

these issues. 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 19



The Portfolio Holder for Safer Communities (the Portfolio Holder), who had also 

been Chairman of the Task Group, reported that under the Localism Act 2011, 

Council’s had a duty to promote and maintain a Code of Conduct which needed to 

comply with the Nolan Principles.  The arrangements and procedures for handling 

complaints made under the Code of Conduct would have to apply to Town and 

Parish Council as well as the District Council.  The Town and Parish Councils 

would have to develop their own Code of Conduct, although complaints made 

about Town and Parish Councillors would have to be managed by the District 

Council.  The Portfolio Holder stressed that under the new standards regime there 

were now no sanctions if Councillors or Co-opted Members were found to have 

breached the Code although the legislation had now introduced criminal 

sanctions for not disclosing pecuniary interests. 

 

MLG was reminded that the Portfolio Holder had reviewed and investigated a 

number of different codes and had dedicated substantial time to developing the 

new Code.  Ultimately the DCLG Code was favoured however, what was before 

MLG was an integrated package.  As the new system was of a complicated nature 

the Portfolio Holder emphasised that this was not a “pick and mix” option for the 

different elements, it needed to be viewed as a complete package of 

documentation.   

 

The Portfolio Holder reported that she had consulted a number of lawyers who 

had confirmed that a Code of Conduct based on the seven Nolan Principles would 

incorporate bullying and respect.  Bob Neill MP, Parliamentary Under Secretary of 

State, had spoken with one of the Members of the Task and Finish Group and had 

confirmed that he was satisfied that the DCLG Code met the Nolan Principles.  In 

particular, the Portfolio Holder was confident that paragraph 8 of the draft code 

was sufficiently broad to include issues relating to bullying and respect. 

 

MLG considered the various issues that had been raised.  Following discussions, 

the consensus of the Group was that issues of bullying, lack of respect and 

bringing your office into disrepute was covered under the DCLG Code, which was 

based on the Nolan Principles, and the assessment criteria that had been 

developed by the Task Group was linked to the DCLG Code.  The Assessment Test 

had clear definitions (at page 59 of the report) of Lack of Respect and Bullying 

and Intimidation.    Members of MLG felt that the Code that had been 

recommended by the Task Group after extensive work should be recommended to 

Council for adoption and kept under review for a year by a Sub-Committee 

established by the new Standards Committee. 

 

The Portfolio Holder for Safer Communities outlined the assessment process, 

highlighting that after a complaint had passed the initial assessment phase all 

documents would be passed to the Member accused and the Monitoring Officer 

would consult the Independent Person.  MLG welcomed the changes which meant 

that Members accused of breaching the Code of Conduct would now be informed 

of the exact nature of the allegations against them.  In response to a question 

surrounding whether Members would have any right of appeal against decisions 

taken, the Monitoring Officer reported that there was no explicit right of appeal, 

but the Ombudsman could be approach in cases where individuals felt that there 

had been procedural impropriety.   

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 20



A Member noted that whilst there were no formal sanctions for breaches of the 

Code of Conduct, it would be the responsibility of the political leadership and 

political groups to impose informal sanctions on Members who had been found to 

be in breach of the Code. 

 

Turning to the issue of the Independent Person, MLG noted that this was a new 

role that had been introduced by the legislation.  The primary role of the 

Independent Person would be to give evidence in advance of the decision of the 

Hearings Panel.  The Monitoring Officer would also be able to seek the views of 

the Independent Person throughout any investigations that may arise.  The 

Chairman noted that the job description on page 76 of the report suggested that 

one of the roles of the Independent Person was, if requested, to advise a Member 

who had been accused of breaching the Code of Conduct.  The Chairman felt that 

this could compromise the impartiality of the Independent Person in any 

investigation that may result and that it should be made clear that it was not the 

job of the Independent Person to be an advocate for any accused Member.  

Following discussion it was agreed that the wording of the Principal 

Accountabilities on page 76 on the report should be amended to read: 

 

1. To give views to the Council before it takes its decision on any allegation that it 

has investigated that a Member has breached the Code of Conduct of the Council, 

or of the relevant Town/Parish Council. 

 

2. To give views to the Council on any allegation that a Member has breached the 

Code of Conduct, in other circumstances at its request.  

 

3. To give views to any Member of the Council, or of any Town/Parish Council 

within the Council’s area who is the subject of an allegation that he or she has 

breached the Code of Conduct, at the request of that Member.  

 

In response to a question from a visiting Member, the Chairman confirmed that 

the Independent Person would be appointed by the three political leaders and 

provided assurances that they would seek to appoint the “most independent of 

independent person.” 

 

MLG noted that the new Standards Committee and any Sub-Committee formed by 

it would be responsible for monitoring the new standards regime and Code of 

Conduct.  Members requested that any notes of meetings arising from these 

Committee be presented to MLG for review. 

 

Resolved: that Council be recommended to 

 

(a) Adopt  the Department for Communities and Local Government Code, as 

recommended by the Task Group, as the new Code of Conduct for the District 

Council as attached at Appendix 2a. 

(b) Establish a Standards Committee with the Terms or Reference and Delegations 

to the Standards Committee as set out at Appendix 3. 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 21



(c)  Appoint 7 Members in accordance with the political balance rules to serve on the 

Standards Committee.                       

(d)  Adopt the revised procedures for dealing with misconduct complaints including 

arrangements for the investigation of complaints alleging a breach of the 

Member’s Code of Conduct as set out in Appendix 4. 

(e) authorise the MO to advertise for no less than 1 Independent Person and that a 

panel comprising the leaders of the political groups be set up to set the 

allowances and expenses for the Independent Person and to short-list and 

interview candidates, and to make a recommendation to Council for appointment 

as set out in Appendix 5, subject to the amendment outlined above. 

(f) Adopt the new Register of Interest Form for District Council Members and agree 

the definition for interests other than pecuniary interests called non pecuniary 

interests (NPI’s) as set out in the Form and as attached to this report at Appendix 

6. 

(g) Agree to amend its standing orders to provide that a Member or Co-opted 

Member of the Authority must withdraw from the meeting room, including the 

public gallery, during the whole consideration of any item of business in which 

he/she has a DPI, except where he/she is permitted to remain as a result of the 

grant of a dispensation.  The power to amend the Council’s standing orders in this 

way is given by virtue of s.31(10) of the Localism Act .  This amendment to be 

incorporated into the Council’s chosen new Code of Conduct. 

(h) Agree to delegate powers to grant dispensations to the MO in relation to section 

33(2)(a) and(d) of the Localism Act and delegate powers to grant dispensations to 

the Standards Committee in relation to section 33(2) (b), (c) and (e) of the 

Localism Act as set out in Appendix 7. 

(i) Agree that the MO makes the necessary changes to the Constitution by deleting 

those parts of the Constitution as set out as follows: 

• Part 3 – Standards Committee 

• Appendix O – Member’s Register of Interests 

• Appendix Q – Member’s Code of Conduct 

• Appendix S – Procedure for Local Assessment of Complaints about 

Allegations of Member Misconduct 

• Appendix T – Sub-Committees of the Standards Committee 

• Appendix U – Guidance on Applying the Appropriate Sanction when a 

Member has breached the Code of Conduct 

• Appendix V – Process and Procedure for Interviewing and Appointing 

(Independent and Town/Parish Council Representative) Applicants for the 

Standards Committee 

• Appendix X – Procedure for Referrals to the MO for Investigation and 

Determination 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 22



and inserting within the Constitution the new Appendices as approved by this report and 

any necessary consequential changes  including any reference in the Constitution to 

personal and prejudicial interests being changed to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

(DPI’s) and interests other than Pecuniary Interests called Non Pecuniary Interests 

(NPI’s).  

 

(j) Agree that the Standards Committee and or Modern Local Government 

Group keeps the Code and Arrangements under review and reports further 

to the Council as is considered necessary.   The Standards Committee will 

consider setting up a sub-committee for this purpose.   

 
 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 23



Page 24

This page is intentionally left blank



 

The Localism Act 2011 – The New Standards Regime 

COUNCIL – 24 JULY 2012 

Report of the: Monitoring Officer (MO) 

Status: For consideration and decision 

Also considered by: Modern Local Government Group – 11 July 2012 

Key Decision: No.  This is a Council Function 

Executive Summary: This report is presented in order for Council to approve a new Code of 

Conduct and new arrangements for dealing with Member complaints following 

implementation of the relevant provisions of the Localism Act 2011, The Localism Act 2011 

(Commencement No.6 and Transitional, Savings and Transitory Provisions) Order 2012 and 

The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012) 

This report supports the Key Aim of effective management of Council resources. 

Head of Service Mrs. Christine Nuttall – Head of Legal and Democratic Services 

Recommendation to Council from the Modern Local Government Group that Council: 

(a) Adopts  the Department for Communities and Local Government Code, as 

recommended by the Task Group, as the new Code of Conduct for the District 

Council as attached at Appendix 2a. 

(b) Establishes a Standards Committee with the Terms or Reference and Delegations to 

the Standards Committee as set out at Appendix 3. 

(c)  Appoints 7 Members in accordance with the political balance rules to serve on     the 

Standards Committee.                       

(d)  Adopts the revised procedures for dealing with misconduct complaints including 

arrangements for the investigation of complaints alleging a breach of the Member’s 

Code of Conduct as set out in Appendix 4. 

(e) That the MO be authorised to advertise for no less than 1 Independent Person and 

that a panel comprising the leaders of the political groups be set up to set the 

allowances and expenses for the Independent Person and to short-list and interview 

candidates, and to make a recommendation to Council for appointment as set out in 

Appendix 5. 

(f) Adopts the new Register of Interest Form for District Council Members and agrees 

the definition for interests other than pecuniary interests called non pecuniary 

interests (NPI’s) as set out in the Form and as attached to this report at Appendix 6. 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 25



 

(g) Agrees to amend its standing orders to provide that a Member or Co-opted Member 

of the Authority must withdraw from the meeting room, including the public gallery, 

during the whole consideration of any item of business in which he/she has a DPI, 

except where he/she is permitted to remain as a result of the grant of a 

dispensation.  The power to amend the Council’s standing orders in this way is given 

by virtue of s.31(10) of the Localism Act .  This amendment to be incorporated into 

the Council’s chosen new Code of Conduct. 

(h) Agrees to delegate powers to grant dispensations to the MO in relation to section 

33(2)(a) and(d) of the Localism Act and delegates powers to grant dispensations to 

the Standards Committee in relation to section 33(2) (b), (c) and (e) of the Localism 

Act as set out in Appendix 7. 

(i) Agrees that the MO makes the necessary changes to the Constitution by deleting 

those parts of the Constitution as set out as follows: 

• Part 3 – Standards Committee 

• Appendix O – Member’s Register of Interests 

• Appendix Q – Member’s Code of Conduct 

• Appendix S – Procedure for Local Assessment of Complaints about 

Allegations of Member Misconduct 

• Appendix T – Sub-Committees of the Standards Committee 

• Appendix U – Guidance on Applying the Appropriate Sanction when a 

Member has breached the Code of Conduct 

• Appendix V – Process and Procedure for Interviewing and Appointing 

(Independent and Town/Parish Council Representative) Applicants for the 

Standards Committee 

• Appendix X – Procedure for Referrals to the MO for Investigation and 

Determination 

and inserting within the Constitution the new Appendices as approved by this report and 

any necessary consequential changes  including any reference in the Constitution to 

personal and prejudicial interests being changed to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI’s) 

and interests other than Pecuniary Interests called Non Pecuniary Interests (NPI’s).  

(j) Agrees that the Standards Committee and or Modern Local Government Group 

keeps the Code and Arrangements under review and reports further to the Council 

as is considered necessary.   The Standards Committee will consider setting up a 

sub-committee for this purpose.   

Reason for recommendation: To enable Council to approve a revised Code of Conduct and 

arrangements for dealing with Member complaints following implementation of the relevant 

provisions of the Localism Act 2011. 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 26



 

 

Introduction 

1 The Localism Act 2011 makes fundamental changes to the system of regulation of 

standards of conduct for elected and co-opted Councillors.  The existing Standards 

regime ceased to operate on the 30th June 2012.  The transitional arrangements 

are limited and have not allowed for the old arrangements to continue.  The Act 

puts in place a system of requiring members to notify the MO of a new breed of 

interests (The Disclosable Pecuniary Interest “DPI”) and requires the MO to 

maintain a public register of those interests.  Additionally, the Council must, from 

1st July 2012 adopt a new Code of Conduct and put in place arrangements for 

investigating allegations of breaches and for making decisions in respect of those 

allegations. 

2 A Task Group was set up from Members of the existing Standards Committee 

which met on 6 occasions to give guidance to officers on implementation of the 

new regime.  The last meeting of that group took place on the 28th June 2012 

which looked at this report in draft form including the Appendices and the Group’s 

comments are attached at Appendix 1 (to follow).  Unfortunately, there was 

insufficient time for the group to report back to the existing Standards Committee 

following the implementation of the Regulations which effectively abolished the 

existing Committee. 

Features of the New Regime 

3 The Localism Act and further Regulations puts in place a standards regime which 

includes the following features and requirements: 

• A duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members and Co-

opted Members of the authority. 

• A requirement to have a Code of Conduct dealing with the conduct that is 

expected of Members and Co-opted Members when they are acting in that 

capacity. 

• A requirement for the Code of Conduct when viewed as a whole, to be consistent 

with the Nolan principles of: selflessness; integrity; objectivity; accountability; 

openness; honesty and leadership.  (The model codes attached to this report at 

Appendix 2 do include these seven Nolan principles). 

• A requirement to have in place arrangements under which allegations that a 

member has breached the Code can be investigated and also under which 

decisions relating to those allegations can be made. 

• A requirement for the authority to appoint an ‘independent person’ whose views 

must be sought and taken into account by the authority before it makes its 

decision on an allegation that it has decided to investigate.  Additionally, the views 

of the independent person may be sought by the authority and by an elected and 

co-opted member in other circumstances specified in the Act. 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 27



 

• A regime for requiring the notification to the MO of Discloseable Pecuniary 

Interests (DPI’s) to enable the MO to establish and maintain a register of interest 

backed by criminal sanctions.  Under the new regime it is not only the interests of 

the Member which must be notified and registered but also those of a spouse or 

civil partner; a person with whom the Member is living as husband or wife or as 

civil partners. 

• In relation to interests, the authority must also secure that its Code of Conduct 

includes appropriate provisions in respect of the Registration of DPI’s and 

interests other than pecuniary interests called non pecuniary interests (NPI’s). 

• As with the current regime, the new provisions allow for the withholding of 

sensitive information from the Register where the Member concerned and the MO 

consider that the disclosure of details of the interest could lead to the Member 

being subject to violence or intimidation. 

• Parish/Town Councils remain responsible for adopting their own Code of Conduct 

but are still required to rely upon the District Council and MO to register 

notifications of interests and to otherwise investigate allegations of a breach. 

• The District Council’s MO is responsible for maintaining the register of 

Parish/Town Council interests and for securing that the register is published on 

the District Council’s website.  In Sevenoak’s case this will involve the MO 

receiving and administering the notification of interests of up to 30 Parish/Town 

Councils. 

Significant Departures from the Current Arrangements 

4 As a result of the new legislation there are some significant differences from the 

old regime.  These can be summarised as follows: 

• The requirement that the Code of Conduct sets out 10 general principles of 

conduct are replaced by 7 Nolan principles although an Authority has the ability to 

add to the 7 principles if it so wishes. 

• The one regulatory Code and undertakings to comply with it have gone. 

• Standards for England has been abolished together with its various functions. 

• The jurisdiction of the First Tier Tribunal to hear appeals has gone. 

• The classification of personal and personal and prejudicial interests under the old 

Code has gone and is replaced by new registration and disclosure requirements.  

The legislation itself introduces the concept of DPI’s and interests other than 

pecuniary interests (NPI’s). 

• The new registration requirements for DPI’s are wider in that they apply to the 

interests of spouses etc.  The requirement has clearly been introduced in the 

interests of transparency.  It should be noted that where the Member knows about 

such interests, the Member must register these interests otherwise a criminal 

offence is committed.  There are no exemptions other than for sensitive 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 28



 

information.  These criminal offences are automatically matters for police 

investigation. 

• The concept of a statutory standards committee no longer features.  The 

consequence of this is that any committee now appointed to deal with standards 

issues is now an ordinary local authority committee subject to all of the usual 

procedural rules including a requirement for it to be politically balanced.  This 

means that its processes will be more open to public scrutiny because of the 

application of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.  A further 

consequence is that the role of Independent Members and Parish/Town 

appointed Members no longer exists.   

• It follows from the abolition of the statutory standards committee that the 

statutory processes of initial assessment of complaints, review, consideration and 

hearings have all now gone.  It is now solely for the authority to determine how 

allegations are to be received and processed. 

• The powers of the Council to impose specific sanctions for breach of the Code 

have been removed.  Particularly, no facility exists to disqualify or suspend a 

Member for a breach of the Code.  In effect, the powers of a standards committee 

dealing with a complaint will be limited to censure and making recommendations 

to the authority or political leaders that a Member be removed from a particular 

office or committee. 

Preferred New Code 

5 The law requires the authority to adopt a new Code of Conduct for Members in 

furtherance of its duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct by 

Members and Co-opted Members of the authority.  The new Code is to be effective 

by the 1st July 2012.  The legislation does not prescribe a single national ‘model’ 

Code and the situation has arisen where there are a number of model codes in 

circulation.   

6 The Task Group considered four of the prominent models circulating nationally 

and across Kent. Comments are set out below on each of these and the model 

Codes are set out in full at Appendix 2 

a) Choice 1: The Department for Communities and Local Government model 

(sometimes referred to as the “Bob Neill Code”) 

This was the Task Group’s preferred choice. 

The Task Group considered this to be a straightforward Code, written in plain 

English. The Task Group agreed that one additional provision would be needed to 

refer to compliance with all relevant laws and have due regard to local codes and 

protocols in effect from time to time including Appendix W to the Council’s 

constitution “Guidance on the Disclosure of Confidential Information by Members” 

b) Choice 2: The Local Government Association model 

The Task Group had concerns over the content of this model which they 

considered read more as a Member Job Description, and rejected it on this basis. 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 29



 

c) Choice 3: The Kent Model 

This model has been produced by the Association of Kent Secretaries, with the 

objective of having a consistent Code across Kent and Medway, for members who 

are “dual-hatted” at District and County level. 

The Task Group had concerns over this model, which is based on the old Code and 

which they considered was verbose and which could invite complaints. For these 

reasons it was rejected. 

d) Choice 4: The National Association of Local Councils (NALC) model. 

This model has been produced by NALC to assist the large number of Town and 

Parish Councils across the country who all have to adopt their own Code. It is more 

relevant to Town/Parish Councils and it was considered by the Task Group as it 

may be likely that local Town and Parish Councils may adopt it.  If any do it will 

remain the District Council’s role to administer it. 

7 The Task Group’s preferred choice was the Bob Neill Code and this is reflected at 

recommendation (a) of this report. The version shown at Appendix 2a has 

additions shown in red which pick up the additional provision set out at 6(a) 

above, the Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) that have been enacted by the 

Government and the Non Pecuniary Interests (NPIs) set out in paragraph 28 of this 

report. 

8 The Bob Neill Code does not include an explicit provision relating to respect.  This 

is because experience has shown that this provision in the past has generated 

some of the more trivial and time-consuming complaints under the old Code.  In 

addition, the Bob Neill Code does not set out explicit provisions covering bullying 

and disrepute. 

9 The provisions of the legislation require all Members to notify the MO of all DPI’s 

within 28 days of the Code coming into effect.  These provisions have been 

included because, under the Localism Act itself, Members would not be required 

to register DPI’s until re-elected unless a matter came before a meeting which 

concerned a DPI.  In such a case, the Member would be required to declare the 

interest at the meeting and notify the MO within 28 days so as to enable 

registration of the specific DPI.   

10 Members are reminded that there are criminal sanctions for failure to declare and 

notify DPI’s.  Additionally, Members’ attention is drawn to the attached 

arrangements at Appendix 4 which consider the relationship between an 

allegation of a criminal matter and a breach of the Code and how this would be 

dealt with in practice.   

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 30



 

Standards Committee 

11.   The Localism Act 2011 contains no requirement for the establishment of a 

Standards Committee.  Notwithstanding this, the report does call for the 

establishment of such a committee as, without it, it is difficult to see how the 

results of investigations into allegations could be considered in a way which would 

be seen to be fair and transparent.  However, unlike the Standards Committee as 

presently known, (which owed its existence and derived its rules of procedure from 

specific statutory provision contained in the Local Government Act 2000), the new 

Standards Committee will be an ordinary local authority committee established 

under the Local Government Act 1972.  

12.   Apart from the adoption of the new Code of Conduct and the appointment of an 

Independent Person it is proposed that the new Standards Committee will 

discharge all functions associated with the new standards regime which have not 

been delegated to the MO or ascribed by statute once they have initially been 

established by Council.  Appendix 3 recommendation (b) to this report sets out the 

proposed terms of reference and the delegations to the Standards Committee. 

13.   In order to consider reports into any allegations which are investigated it is 

envisaged that the Standards Committee will need to establish a hearing panel 

from amongst its membership.   

14.  As an ordinary committee of the Council the rules of political balance will apply to 

its membership.  If the Council accepts that the committee should be comprised of 

7 Members the current proportionality ‘split’ is 6 Conservative and 1 Labour 

Members as set out within recommendation (c) of this report.  It is not envisaged 

that the creation of this committee will require a redistribution of seats on other 

committees so as to maintain political balance.  There is no longer any statutory 

provision for co-opted Parish/Town Council representatives or for co-opted 

Independent Members on the new committee.  If any such persons are appointed 

to the new committee they would not have any voting rights. 

The Independent Person 

15.   The scheme of the Localism Act 2012 aims to secure independent input into the 

standards regime through the requirement placed upon the authority to appoint 

an ‘Independent Person’.  The requirements of the Act in this connection are quite 

specific.  The Act provides that the arrangements put in place for the investigation 

of allegations and making decisions on them must include provision for the 

appointment of at least one independent person.  The role of the Independent 

Person is prescribed by section 28(7) of the Act.  This provides:- 

“(7) Arrangements put in place…..by a relevant authority must include provision for the 

appointment by the authority of at least one independent person – 

(a) whose views are to be sought, and taken into account, by the authority 

before it makes its decision on an allegation that it has decided to 

investigate, and 

(b) whose view may be sought- 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 31



 

(i) by the authority in relation to an allegation in circumstances not 

within paragraph (a) 

(ii) by a member, or co-opted member of the authority if that person’s 

behaviour is the subject of an allegation, and 

(iii) by a member, or co-opted member, of a parish council if that 

person’s behaviour is the subject of an allegation and the authority 

is the parish council’s principal authority.” 

Thus, the Independent Person’s functions are all related to ‘allegations’ and the 

Independent Person does not have a general advisory role in advising upon or 

monitoring the operation of the standards regime.  This is fundamentally different 

from the role previously fulfilled by the Independent Representatives on the old 

Standards Committee. 

16.   The Localism Act 2012 contains detailed provisions as to who may and may not be 

regarded as an Independent Person.  It also prescribes that an appointment as an 

Independent Person can only be made after public advertisement of a vacancy, 

and receipt of an application by a candidate.  The appointment must be approved 

by the majority of members of the authority.   

17.   It should be noted that, as enacted, the Localism Act prohibited the appointment 

of an existing Independent Member of a Standards Committee as an Independent 

Person.  However, the transitional arrangements (which are extremely limited) 

have relaxed this to allow the appointment of an existing Independent Member 

provided that the appointment is made before 1st July 2013. 

18.  As the Independent Person is not a Member of the authority or of its Committees 

or Sub-Committee, the remuneration of the Independent Person no longer comes 

within the scheme of Members’ Allowances, and can therefore be determined 

without reference to the Independent Remuneration Panel.  Therefore, the 

allowances and expenses of the Independent Person can be set by the interview 

panel. 

19.   Members are asked to consider the proposals set out in Appendix 5, 

recommendation (e) to this report in order that at least one Independent Person 

can be selected for recommendation to Council for appointment. 

Revised Procedures for dealing with Misconduct Complaints 

20.  The arrangements proposed by the Task Group as set out in Appendix 4 

recommendation (d) to this report place on the MO responsibility for deciding 

which allegations should be investigated and which should not (the process 

currently known as ‘Initial Assessment’).  Members will recall that under the 

existing regime this was a function that the law placed on the Standards 

Committee (and its sub-committees).  The Task Group’s opinion is that the existing 

arrangements for initial assessment are bureaucratic, unwieldy and unnecessarily 

resource intensive.  Also, they do not provide for the possibility of trivial or ill-

founded allegations being dismissed at a very early stage.   

Agenda Item 6a

Page 32



 

21.  The new arrangements as set out at Appendix 4 do have the benefit of simplicity 

of operation in their treatment of this aspect of the receipt of allegations.  In 

addition, the Task Group suggested the inclusion of an initial validation test that a 

complaint would need to pass prior to initial assessment in order to reduce the 

number of trivial or ill-founded allegations being processed still further. It was also 

felt strongly that the current arrangements were unjust on the subject member, 

who is told very little about the complaint initially and is not able to give their side 

of the story. To rectify this the proposed arrangements include a “right of reply” 

prior to initial assessment.  A key alteration to the current procedure is that the 

subject Member receives a copy of the complaint together with all supporting 

documentation in order to facilitate this new “right of reply”. 

22.  It was recognised by the Task Group that the Model Arrangements should attempt 

to lay down comprehensive criteria by reference to which the MO will be required 

to exercise judgement.  In addition, there may be circumstances where the MO will 

have a conflict of interest or when the allegations are particularly serious or are of 

a particularly sensitive nature in which case provision will have to be made for the 

MO to refer the complaint for investigation to the Standards Committee via a 

working party who could given guidance to the MO via a recommendation. 

23.  The arrangements also offer the opportunity for the MO to seek to resolve a 

complaint informally, before taking a decision on whether the complaint merits 

formal investigation.  The necessary delegations to the MO in order for this 

streamlined approach to take place are set out within the procedures. (Appendix 

4). 

24.  There is no requirement to put in place any appeals mechanism against decisions.  

Any decision would be open to judicial review by the High Court if it was potentially 

unreasonable, or if it were taken improperly, or if it sought to impose a sanction 

which the authority had no power to impose.  In addition, complaint can be made 

to the Ombudsman where there is thought to be procedural impropriety. 

25. The intention is for the MO to gain experience of the operation of the new Code of 

Conduct and the new procedures over the coming year and, if necessary, make 

recommendations for change to the Standards Committee and report further to 

Council as may be considered necessary as set out at recommendation (j) to this 

report. 

The Register of Members’ Interests 

26.   In this report Members are particularly referred to the fact that The Localism Act 

abolishes the concept of personal and personal and prejudicial interests.  Instead, 

Regulations define “Disclosable Pecuniary Interests” (DPI’s).  The MO is required 

to maintain a register of interests, which must be available for inspection and 

available on the Council’s website.  The MO is also responsible for maintaining the 

register for Parish/Town Councils which also have to be open for inspection at the 

District Council offices and on the District Council’s website.  Where possible the 

MO will provide a link from the District Council website to the Parish/Town Council 

website to save the repetition of information. 

27.   The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 sets 

out in some detail a description of what amounts to DPI’s.  However, the Localism 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 33



 

Act 2011 specifies that a relevant authority must also secure that its Register 

includes the provision of interests other than pecuniary interests called non 

pecuniary interests (NPI’s).  The NPI’s are not defined by legislation and are those 

interests that the authority considers to be appropriate to disclose.   

There is some similarity between DPI’s and the old prejudicial interest definition.  

However, there are some important differences, the most significant of which is 

that where a Member has a DPI it is a criminal offence to: 

• Fail to register the interest; 

• Fail to disclose it at a meeting (unless it has already been registered); 

• Participate or vote on any matter in which a member has a DPI unless they have 

obtained a dispensation from the Council; 

• Take any action on a matter in which a member has a DPI, in their capacity as a 

member of the Executive (other than to refer it to another member of the 

Executive). 

28.   Standing Orders can provide for the exclusion of a Member from any meeting 

while any discussion or vote takes place on the matter as set out in 

recommendation (g) to this report and as suggested by section 31(10) of the 

Localism Act 2011.  The reasoning behind this is that under the new rules many 

DPI’s will not need to be disclosed at meetings and this could be confusing for 

members of the public who will then need to read the Register of Members’ 

Interests to ascertain whether a member has or has not a DPI.  The requirement to 

withdraw from the meeting will make it transparent to those attending the meeting 

that a DPI exists in relation to the Member who has withdrawn. 

Unlike ‘prejudicial’ interests under the old Code, a Member with a DPI has no 

ability to make representations, give evidence or answer questions prior to leaving 

the meeting. 

The definition of a DPI is in some senses broader than the existing ‘prejudicial’ 

interest.  In particular, the requirement to register a DPI applies not only to the 

interests of the Member, but also those of their spouse/civil partner (or a person 

with whom they are living as husband/wife or as if they were civil partners) where 

the Member is aware that the other person has the interest. 

On a practical level, the consequence of the recent publication of the DPI 

Regulations is as follows: 

• Members will need to register all those interests which fall within the definition of 

a DPI as soon as possible.  The MO sent out a new Declaration of Interest Form 

prior to this report so that Members would have the capability of complying with 

the requirements of the Regulations by the implementation date of the 1st July 

2012. 

• The Localism Act at section 28(2) states that as well as the Register disclosing 

pecuniary interests (DPI’s),  the Register has to disclose interests other than 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 34



 

pecuniary interests which this authority call non disclosable interests (NPI’s).  For 

the NPI’s we have defined these as being as follows:- 

An interest which relates to or is likely to affect:  

 

(i) any body of which the member is in a position of general control or 

management and to which he/she is appointed or nominated by the Council;  

 

(ii) any body—  

(a) exercising functions of a public nature;  

(b) directed to charitable purposes; or  

(c) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion 

or policy (including any political party or trade union)  

 

of which the member of the Council is a member or in a position of general control 

or management;  

 

(iii) any gifts or hospitality worth more than an estimated value of £25 or more 

which the member has received by virtue of his or her office.  

 

 

These used to be personal interests and so equate to NPIs.  Members are referred 

to the fact that we already have a Protocol on Gifts and Hospitality set out within 

our Constitution at Appendix K together with a notification form which can be 

completed by Members if and when necessary to be attached to the NPI part of 

the Member’s Register. 

• If you attend any meeting of Council, Cabinet, Committee or Sub-Committee after 

1st July 2012 and prior to registering your DPI’s you will need to disclose to the 

meeting the existence of those interests where they relate to a matter under 

consideration.   

• Any interests disclosed at a meeting will also need to be disclosed to the MO 

within 28 days thereafter. 

• The Act effectively re-enacts the existing Code of Conduct provisions on Sensitive 

Interests.  So where a Member is concerned that disclosure of the details of an 

interest, either a DPI or an NPI at a meeting or on the Register of Members’ 

Interests would lead to the Member or a person connected with him/her being 

subject to violence or intimidation, he/she may request the MO to agree that the 

interest is a “sensitive interest”.  If the MO agrees, the Member then merely has to 

disclose the existence of an interest, rather than the details of it, at a meeting, 

and the MO can exclude the detail of the interest from the published version of the 

Register of Members’ Interests. 

• Council is asked to agree the new Register of Interests Form as set out at 

Appendix 6, recommendation (f) to this report. 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 35



 

Dispensations 

29.   The provisions on dispensations are significantly changed by the Localism Act.  In 

future, a dispensation will be able to be granted only if, after having had regard to 

all relevant circumstances, the authority considers:- 

• that so many Members of the decision-making body have DPI’s in a matter that it 

would “impede the transaction of the business”.  In practice this means that the 

decision-making body would be inquorate as a result (Ground under  s.33(2) (a) of 

the Localism Act), 

• that, without the dispensation, the representation of different political groups on 

the body transacting any particular business would be so upset as to alter the 

likely outcome of any vote relating to the business (Ground under s.33(2)(b) of the 

Localism Act), 

• that granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the authority’s 

area (Ground under s.33(2)(c) of the Localism Act), 

• that without a dispensation, no Member of the Cabinet would be able to 

participate on the matter to be transacted by Cabinet.  In practice this means that 

Cabinet would be inquorate (Ground under s.33(2)(d) of the Localism Act), 

• that the authority considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation 

(Ground under s.33(2)(e) of the Localism Act). 

30.   Under the new regime the power to grant dispensations can be delegated to a 

Standards Committee, or a Sub-Committee, or to the MO.  Grounds under 

s.33(2)(a)and(d) are quite objective, so it is recommended to delegate 

dispensations on these grounds to the MO thus enabling many dispensations to 

be granted “at the door of the meeting”.  Grounds under s.33(2)(b),(c)and (e) are 

more subjective and so it is recommended that the discretion to grant 

dispensations on these grounds is delegated to the Standards Committee. These 

recommendations are set out in Appendix 7, recommendation (h) to this report. 

31.  Any dispensation granted must specify the period for which it has effect, and the 

period specified may not exceed four years. 

32.  Under the new legislation Parish/Town Councils now have the responsibility for 

granting their own dispensations. 

 

Key Implications 

Financial  

33.  It is too early to assess the overall financial implications of the introduction of the 

new standards regime on the Council.  On the one hand it can be anticipated that 

the new registration of interest requirements will create additional administrative 

work for the MO and supporting officers, particularly in its initial stages.  In 

addition, following late amendments to the bill through the parliamentary process 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 36



 

responsibility for policing Parish/Town Councils was given to District Councils in 

relation to Member complaints and also in relation to registration of Member 

Interests.  However, other changes to the Code and a streamlined procedure for 

the assessment of allegations in their initial stages should reduce the need for 

meetings of the Standards Committee and any Sub-Committees. 

Community Impact and Outcomes  

34  As the legislation sets out clearly that an authority must promote and maintain 

high standards of conduct by Members and Co-opted Members of the authority, 

the community should not be aware of any impact or outcomes as it is anticipated 

that a seamless transfer to the new system will take place.    

Legal, Human Rights etc.  

35.   The proposals contained within the report comply with the provisions of the 

Localism Act 2011  and The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) 

Regulations 2012.   

Resource (non-financial) 

36.   As the Code of Conduct and the detailed procedures are changed there will be a 

need for training at the District Council level.  The Council may also consider it 

appropriate if training at the Parish/Town Council level takes place although this is 

not a requirement of the Localism Act.  

37.   There are increased registration requirements for the District Council under the 

new arrangements.   

Value For Money and Asset Management 

38.   The new streamlined procedures should produce value for money.  In addition, a 

smaller Standards Committee should produce savings in relation to the claiming of 

allowances and expenses. 

Equality Impacts  

39.  It is suggested that there are no specific equality implications arising from these 

proposals.  These proposals do not have any particular implications regarding one 

“protected group” over another.  The Explanatory Note to The Relevant Authorities 

(Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 states “A full impact 

assessment has not been produced for these Regulations as no impact on the 

private or voluntary sectors is foreseen.” 

Sustainability Checklist 

40.   These proposals are considered to have a neutral impact on sustainability. 

Conclusions 

41.   Under the provisions of the Localism Act 2011 the existing Standards regime 

ceased to operate from the 30th June 2012.  The transitional arrangements are 

very limited and do not allow for the old arrangements to continue.  The Act puts in 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 37



 

place from the 1st July 2012 a system requiring Members to notify the MO of a 

new form of interests DPI’s and NPI’s and requires the MO to maintain a public 

register of those interests.  Additionally, the Council must, with effect from the 1st 

July 2012 adopt a new Code of Conduct and put in place arrangements for 

investigating allegations of breaches and for making decisions in respect of those 

allegations. 

42.  As a result of the late implementation of the Regulations supporting the Localism 

Act Members will appreciate that there is no time for consideration of alternatives 

and that one of the Codes illustrated within Appendix  2 needs to be adopted at 

this meeting along with the arrangements presented for adoption. 

43.  As indicated by this report at recommendation (j) the Standards Committee will 

keep the Code and Arrangements under review and report further to the Council 

as is considered necessary.  

Risk Assessment Statement  

44.  The Council needs to ensure that appropriate arrangements are now in place to 

ensure compliance with the legislation.  Failure to comply with the requirements of the 

Localism Act 2011 could create a challenge to the Council’s Governance Arrangements. 

 

Appendices Appendix 1 – The Task Group’s Comments on the 

proposals. (to follow) 

Appendix 2 – Draft Codes of Conduct. 

Appendix 3 – Standards Committee and Terms of 

Reference and Delegations. 

Appendix 4 – Revised Procedures for dealing with 

Misconduct Complaints including Delegations to the 

MO. 

Appendix 5 – Procedures for making a 

recommendation for the Appointment of an 

Independent Person. 

Appendix 6 – The New Form of Members Register of 

Interests. 

Appendix 7 – The Granting of Dispensations. 

Background Papers: a)  The Localism Act 2011 

b) The Localism Act 2011 (Commencement 

No.6 and Transitional, Savings and Transitory 

Provisions) Order 2012  

c) The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 38



 

Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 

d) Notes of the Task Group  

e) Precedents and Information produced by 

Bevan Brittan 

f) Precedents produced by the Association of 

Kent Secretaries 

g) Model draft Codes as set out within the body 

of the report 

h) The Council’s Code of Conduct existing 

arrangements for handling allegations of 

Member misconduct as set out within the 

Council’s Constitution 

i) Existing Codes and Procedures appropriate to 

the existing Standards Arrangements as set 

out within the Council’s Constitution 

Contact Officer(s): Christine Nuttall – ext. 7245 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 39



Page 40

This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 
 
Standards Task Group 

 

Notes of the meeting held at 6 pm, 28 June 2012  

 

Present: District Cllrs Mrs Bracken, Dickins, Mrs Morris, Mrs Purves and 

Underwood; Parish Cllr T Austin; Christine Nuttall (Monitoring Officer), Vanessa 

Etheridge and Doug Williamson (Democratic Services) 

Apologies: Mr A Smith and Parish Cllr D Taylor. 

 

1. Notes of the previous meeting 

These had not been previously circulated but were tabled and noted. 

 

2. Monitoring Officer’s Draft Report – ‘The Localism Act 2011 – The New 

Standards Regime’ 

 

The draft report had been circulated to all members of the Group prior to the 

meeting.  The MO advised that the Chairman’s emailed comments had been 

incorporated and the recommendation had been strengthened to state that the 

Group favoured the DCLG Code.  After discussion the Group agreed that they 

wanted this strengthened further by removing the ‘option’ element and 

strengthening the recommendation so that it was made very clear to MLG and 

Council that the Group’s advised choice (after extensive work carried out on the 

subject and gained expertise) was the DCLG Code, with the alternatives attached 

as appendices for information in order to show what else had been considered.  

Officers to consider appropriate wording.   

 

With reference to paragraph 8 of the draft report, the Group confirmed that they 

had ruled out the need to explicitly draw reference to bullying as previously 

discussed and agreed that the other provisions covered this area.  The MO 

advised that paragraph 8 merely pointed out, as per legal advice, that the Bob 

Neill Code (DCLG Code) did not make provision for a lack of respect, bullying and 

disrepute.  An email was read out to the Group from Mr A Smith who had not been 

able to attend the meeting but had asked for his thoughts to be passed on which 

included concern that bullying was not being specifically included.  The Group 

further discussed this issue and agreed that whilst the issue was not specifically 

covered they were implied and the provisions within the code could arguably be 

construed to cover the issues.  Paragraph 8 be amended to reflect that the 

provisions are not ‘explicitly’ covered. 

 

The Group discussed the need for constituting the Group within the Standards 

Committee Terms of Reference.  It was agreed that this was not necessary as a 

Group could be reconstituted at the first meeting of the Standards Committee.   

 

Looking at the amended draft proposed code, the Group were concerned that 

they had not yet had the chance to look in depth at the relevant codes and 

protocols this wording referred to.  It was agreed that this was something that 

would need looking at in more detail by the Group when reconstituted under the 

new Standards Committee.  It was therefore agreed to amend the first highlighted 

amendment to ‘..have due regard to local codes and protocols in effect from time 

to time…’  to cover this. 

 

(Cllrs Dickins and Mrs Purves left to attend Development Control Committee at 6.53 pm) 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 41



2 

Looking at the Assessment Criteria, the MO thanked the Chairman for her 

suggestions which had been included and welcomed additional feedback from 

other members.  However if there were a lot of changes made, the report may not 

make the agenda print deadline.  After discussion it was agreed that the wording 

itself was fine but needed setting out more logically.  It was agreed that the 

present wording be used but reformatted under the sub categories suggested by 

the Chairman of: Sufficiency of Complaint; Nature of Allegation; Evidence; 

Suitability for Investigation; Defences; Prospects of Success; and Extenuating 

Circumstances.   Overall the Group were happy with the test but wished to see it 

divided better from the assessment criteria.  It was also agreed that it should be 

made very clear that the person being complained about would receive a copy of 

the complaint and all supporting documentation, and that this should be 

highlighted in the report as a key alteration.  With reference to the purdah period, 

it was agreed that this should be stated in the procedure (Appendix 4) as well.  It 

was further agreed that the Hearing Panel’s considerations mirror the 

assessment criteria. 

 

The Group were happy with the Complaint Form, and acknowledged that this 

could be monitored.  With reference to Appendix 4 page it was agreed that there 

should be no ambiguity that the MO could be instructed to do training and 

therefore this should be removed.  The MO explained the reasoning behind the 

three Leaders appointing the independent member.  She explained that it was a 

Council rather than executive appointment, and that the MO should have no role 

in the appointment.  It was agreed that this could be monitored.  MO to flag this 

up with Cllr Fleming.  It was agreed that this should be an annual appointment 

(municipal year). MO to check that this period was stated in the paperwork. 

 

There was some discussion on the requirement to leave the room after declaring 

a pecuniary interest.  In response to questions the MO advised that an email had 

been sent to all Town and Parish Councils on 20 June 2012 with the new Register 

of Interests form template attached.  The MO reported that some of the new 

forms had been submitted.   

 

 

3. Next Steps 
• MO to work on redrafting the report and associated documents.   

• A meeting of the new Standards Committee to be scheduled for immediately 

 after Full Council on 24 July 2012 to reconstitute a Task Group, with the 

 next meeting after that being left in the Calendar as 24 January 2012. 

• Paper copies of the new interests forms to be placed in Members’ pigeon 

 holes, to ensure that all Councillors had received one. 

 

 

4. Record of Thanks 
The Group wished to record their thanks to Officers for all their hard work. 

 

 

 

The meeting finished at 8.05pm.  

Agenda Item 6a

Page 42



APPENDIX 2a 

Draft DCLG Code 

Sevenoaks District Council 

Members’ Code of Conduct 

 

(Additions/Amendments to DCLG Code are shown in red) 

 

You are a member or co-opted member of the Sevenoaks District Council and hence you 

shall have regard to the following principles – selflessness, integrity, objectivity, 

accountability, openness, honesty and leadership. 

 

Accordingly, when acting in your capacity as a member or co-opted member -  

 

1. You must act solely in the public interest and should never improperly confer an 

advantage or disadvantage on any person or act to gain financial or other material 

benefits for yourself, your family, a friend or close associate. 

 

2. You must not place yourself under a financial or other obligation to outside 

individuals or organisations that might seek to influence you in the performance 

of your official duties. 

 

3. When carrying out your public duties you must make all choices, such as making 

public appointments, awarding contracts or recommending individuals for 

rewards or benefits, on merit. 

 

4. You are accountable for your decisions to the public and you must co-operate fully 

with whatever scrutiny is appropriate to your office. 

 

5. You must be as open as possible about your decisions and actions and the 

decisions and actions of your authority and should be prepared to give reasons for 

those decisions and actions. 

 

6. You must declare any private interests, both pecuniary and non-pecuniary, that 

relate to your public duties and must take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in 

a way that protects the public interest, including registering and declaring 

interests in a manner conforming with the procedures set out in the box below. 

 

7. You must, when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of your 

authority, ensure that such resources are not used improperly for political 

purposes (including party political purposes) and you must have regard to any 

applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity made under the Local Government Act 

1986. 

 

8. You must promote and support high standards of conduct  when serving in your 

public post, in particular as characterised by the above requirements, by 

leadership and example. 
 

You must always comply with relevant laws and have due regard to local codes and 

protocols in effect from time to time including Appendix W to the Council’s Constitution 

“Guidance on the Disclosure of Confidential Information by Members”. 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 43



 

 

 

 

 

Registering and declaring pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests 

 

You must, within 28 days of taking office as a member or co-opted member, notify the 

monitoring officer of any disclosable pecuniary interest as defined by regulations made 

by the Secretary of State and set out in Schedule A appended to this Code, where the 

pecuniary interest is yours, your spouse’s or civil partner’s, or is the pecuniary interest of 

somebody with whom you are living with as a husband or wife, or as if you were civil 

partners. 

 

In addition, you must, within 28 days of taking office as a member or co-opted member, 

notify the monitoring officer of any disclosable pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest which 

the Council has decided should be included in the register and set out in Schedule B 

appended to this Code. 

 

If an interest has not been entered onto the authority’s register, then the member must 

disclose the interest to any meeting of the authority at which they are present, where 

they have a disclosable interest in any matter being considered and where the matter is 

not a ‘sensitive interest’.1 

 

Following any disclosure of an interest not on the authority’s register or the subject of 

pending notification, you must notify the monitoring officer of the interest within 28 days 

beginning with the date of disclosure. 

 

Unless a dispensation has been granted, you may not participate in any discussion of, 

vote on, or discharge any function related to any matter in which you have a pecuniary 

interest as defined by regulations made by the Secretary of State (DPI) and set out in 

Schedule A.  Additionally, you must observe the restrictions your authority places on your 

involvement in matters where you have a pecuniary or non pecuniary interest as defined 

by your authority. you must withdraw from the meeting room, including the public gallery, 

during the whole consideration of any item of business in which you have a pecuniary 

interest as defined by regulations made by the Secretary of State (DPI) as set out in 

Schedule A. 

 

 
1 A ‘sensitive interest’ is described in the Localism Act 2011 as a member or co-opted member of an 

authority having an interest, and the nature of the interest being such that the member or co-opted 

member, and the authority’s monitoring officer, consider that disclosure of the details of the interest could 

lead to the member or co-opted member, or a person connected with the member or co-opted member, 

being subject to violence or intimidation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                            
 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 44



SCHEDULE A 

 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, as prescribed by The Relevant Authorities (Disclosable 

Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 (SI 2012 No 1464) are as follows: 

The descriptions on Disclosable Pecuniary Interests are subject to the following definitions: 

“the Act” means the Localism Act 2011 

“body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in which the relevant 

person is a partner or a body corporate of which the relevant person is a director, or in the 

securities of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest 

“director” includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and provident 

society 

 “land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not carry 
with it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land or to 

receive income 

“M” means a member of the relevant authority 

“member” includes a co-opted member  

“relevant authority” means the authority of which M is a member 

“relevant period” means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which M gives a 

notification for the purposes of section 30(1) or section 31(7), as the case may be, of the Act 

“relevant person” means M or any other person referred to in section 30(3)(b) of the Act (the 

Member’s spouse, civil partner, or somebody with whom they are living as a husband or wife, or 

as if they were civil partners). 

“securities” means  shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective 

investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and 

other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building society 

 

Interest Description 

Employment, office, 

trade, profession or 

vacation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 

or gain. 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from 

the relevant authority) made or provided within the relevant period in 

respect of any expenses incurred by M in carrying out duties as a 

member, or towards the election expenses of M. 

This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within 

the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 

1992. 

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a body in 

which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and the relevant 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 45



authority: 

(a)  under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 

executed; and 

(b)  which has not been fully discharged. 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the relevant 

authority. 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the 

relevant authority for a month or longer. 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to M’s knowledge): 

(a)  the landlord is the relevant authority; and 

(b)  the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial 

interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where: 

(a)  that body (to M’s knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 

area of the relevant authority; and 

(b)  either 

(i)  the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 

hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or  

(ii)  if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 

nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 

person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 

issued share capital of that class. 

NOTE: 

In accordance with section 34 of the Localism Act 2011, it is a criminal offence if, without 

reasonable excuse, you: 

(a) fail to notify the Monitoring Officer of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest before the end of 
28 days of becoming, or being re-elected or re-appointed, a Member or Co-opted Member 

of the Authority; 

(b) fail to notify the Monitoring Officer of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest before the end of 
28 days of becoming aware of it, where you are acting alone in the course of discharging 

a function of the Authority (including making a decision in relation to the matter) and the 

interest is not already registered or is not the subject of a pending notification to the 

Monitoring Officer; 

(c) fail to disclose a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest at a meeting, where such interest has not 
already been registered or notified to the Monitoring Officer; 

(d) fail to notify the Monitoring Officer of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest before the end of 
28 days of disclosing it at a meeting, where such interest has not already been registered 

or notified to the Monitoring Officer; 

(e) take part in discussions or votes at meetings that relate to the Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest, unless a dispensation has been granted 

(f) knowingly or recklessly provide false or misleading information in any of the above 
disclosures or notifications. 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 46



 

SCHEDULE B 

 

 

 
  
An interest which relates to or is likely to affect:  

 

(i) any body of which the member is in a position of general control or management and 

to which he/she is appointed or nominated by the Council;  

 

(ii) any body—  

(a) exercising functions of a public nature;  

(b) directed to charitable purposes; or  

(c) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or 

policy (including any political party or trade union)  

 

of which the member of the Council is a member or in a position of general control or 

management;  

 

(iii) any gifts or hospitality worth more than an estimated value of £25 or more which the 

member has received by virtue of his or her office.  

 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 47



Page 48

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Appendix 2b 
 LGA Template Code of Conduct 

 
As a member or co-opted member of [X authority] I have a responsibility to represent the 

community and work constructively with our staff and partner organisations to secure 

better social, economic and environmental outcomes for all.  

 

In accordance with the Localism Act provisions, when acting in this capacity I am 

committed to behaving in a manner that is consistent with the following principles to 

achieve best value for our residents and maintain public confidence in this authority.  

 
SELFLESSNESS: Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public 

interest.  They should not do so in order to gain financial or other material benefits for 

themselves, their family, or their friends.  

 
INTEGRITY: Holders of public office should not place themselves under any financial or 

other obligation to outside individuals or organisations that might seek to influence 

them in the performance of their official duties.  

 
OBJECTIVITY: In carrying out public business, including making public appointments, 

awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and benefits, holders of 

public office should make choices on merit. 

 
ACCOUNTABILITY: Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and 

actions to the public and must submit themselves to whatever scrutiny is appropriate 

to their office.  

 
OPENNESS: Holders of public office should be as open as possible about all the 

decisions and actions that they take.  They should give reasons for their decisions and 

restrict information only when the wider public interest clearly demands. 

 
HONESTY: Holders of public office have a duty to declare any private interests relating 

to their public duties and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that 

protects the public interest. 

 
LEADERSHIP: Holders of public office should promote and support these principles by 

leadership and example. 

 

The Act further provides for registration and disclosure of interests and in [X authority] 

this will be done as follows: [to be completed by individual authorities] 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 49



 
As a Member of [X authority], my conduct will in particular address the statutory 

principles of the code of conduct by:  

 

• Championing the needs of residents – the whole community and in a special way my 

constituents, including those who did not vote for me - and putting their interests 

first. 

 

• Dealing with representations or enquiries from residents, members of our 

communities and visitors fairly, appropriately and impartially. 

 

• Not allowing other pressures, including the financial interests of myself or others 

connected to me, to deter me from pursuing constituents' casework, the interests of 

the [county][borough][Authority's area] or the good governance of the authority in a 

proper manner. 

 

• Exercising independent judgement and not compromising my position by placing 

myself under obligations to outside individuals or organisations who might seek to 

influence the way I perform my duties as a member/co-opted member of this authority. 

 

• Listening to the interests of all parties, including relevant advice from statutory and 

other professional officers, taking all relevant information into consideration, 

remaining objective and making decisions on merit. 

 

• Being accountable for my decisions and co-operating when scrutinised internally and 

externally, including by local residents. 

 

• Contributing to making this authority’s decision-making processes as open and 

transparent as possible to enable residents to understand the reasoning behind those 

decisions and to be informed when holding me and other members to account but 

restricting access to information when the wider public interest or the law requires it 

 

• Behaving in accordance with all our legal obligations, alongside any requirements 

contained within this authority’s policies, protocols and procedures, including on the 

use of the Authority’s resources. 

 

• Valuing my colleagues and staff and engaging with them in an appropriate manner 

and one that underpins the mutual respect between us that is essential to good 

local government. 
  

• Always treating people with respect, including the organisations and public I engage 

with and those I work alongside. 

 

• Providing leadership through behaving in accordance with these principles when 

championing the interests of the community with other organisations as well as 

within this authority. 

 

 
 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 50



Kent Model Code of Conduct FINAL  1

Appendix 2c 

[Name of Authority] 

 

Kent Code of Conduct for Members 

 

Preamble 

(A) The Code of Conduct that follows is adopted under section 27(2) of the Localism 
Act 2011.  

(B) The Code is based on the Seven Principles of Public Life under section 28(1) of 
the Localism Act 2011, which are set out in Annex 1.  

(C) This Preamble and Annex 1 do not form part of the Code, but you should have 
regard to them as they will help you to comply with the Code. 

(D) If you need guidance on any matter under the Code, you should seek it from the 
Monitoring Officer or your own legal adviser – but it is entirely your responsibility to 
comply with the provisions of this Code. 

(E) In accordance with section 34 of the Localism Act 2011, where you have a 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest it is a criminal offence if, without reasonable excuse, 
you: 

(a) Fail to notify the Authority’s Monitoring Officer of the interest before the end of 
28 days beginning with the day on which you became a member. 

(b) Fail to disclose the interest at Meetings where the interest is not entered in the 
Authority’s register. 

(c) Fail to notify the Authority’s Monitoring Officer of the interest before the end of 
28 days beginning with the date of disclosure at a meeting, if the interest is not 
entered in the Authority’s register and is not the subject of a pending 
notification. 

(d) Take part in discussion or votes, or further discussions or votes, at Meetings on 
matters in which you have the interest which are being considered at the 
meeting. 

(e) Fail to notify the Authority’s Monitoring Officer of the interest before the end of 
28 days beginning with the date when you become aware that you have such 
an interest in a matter to be dealt with, or being dealt with, by you acting alone 
in the course of discharging a function of the Authority. 

(f) Take any step in relation to a matter being dealt with by you acting alone in the 
course of discharging a function of the Authority, except a step for the purpose 
of enabling the matter to be dealt with otherwise than by you. 

(g) Knowingly or recklessly provide false or misleading information in any of the 
above disclosures or notifications. 

(F) Any written allegation received by the Authority that you have failed to comply with 
the Code will be dealt with under the arrangements adopted by the Authority for 
such purposes. If it is found that you have failed to comply with the Code, the 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 51



Kent Model Code of Conduct FINAL  2

Authority may have regard to this failure in deciding whether to take action and, if 
so, what action to take in relation to you. 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 52



Kent Model Code of Conduct FINAL  3

THE CODE 

1. Interpretation 

In this Code: 

“Associated Person” means (either in the singular or in the plural): 

(a) a family member or any other person with whom you have a close association, 
including your spouse, civil partner, or somebody with whom you are living as a 
husband or wife, or as if you are civil partners; or 

(b) any person or body who employs or has appointed such persons, any firm in 
which they are a partner, or any company of which they are directors; or 

(c) any person or body in whom such persons have a beneficial interest in a class 
of securities exceeding the nominal value of £25,000; or 

(d) any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and 
to which you are appointed or nominated by the Authority; or 

(e) any body in respect of which you are in a position of general control or 
management: 

(i) exercising functions of a public nature; or 
(ii) directed to charitable purposes; or 
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or 

policy (including any political party or trade union). 

“Authority” means [name of Authority]. 

“Authority Function” means any one or more of the following interests that relate to 
the functions of the Authority: 

(a) housing - where you are a tenant of the Authority provided that those functions 
do not relate particularly to your tenancy or lease; or 

(b) school meals or school transport and travelling expenses - where you are a 
parent or guardian of a child in full time education, or are a parent governor of a 
school, unless it relates particularly to the school which your child attends; 

(c) statutory sick pay under Part XI of the Social Security Contributions and 
Benefits Act 1992 - where you are in receipt of, or are entitled to the receipt of, 
such pay; 

(d) an allowance, payment or indemnity given to members of the Authority; 
(e) any ceremonial honour given to members of the Authority;  
(f) setting council tax or a precept under the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

“Code” means this Code of Conduct. 

“Co-opted Member” means a person who is not an elected member of the Authority 
but who is a member of: 

(a) any committee or sub-committee of the Authority, or 
(b) and represents the Authority on, any joint committee or joint sub-committee of 

the Authority; and 
(c) who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be decided at any Meeting. 

“Disclosable Pecuniary Interest” means those interests of a description specified in 
regulations made by the Secretary of State (as amended from time to time) as set out 
in Annex 2 and where either it is: 

(a) your interest or 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 53



Kent Model Code of Conduct FINAL  4

(b) an interest of your spouse or civil partner, a person with whom you are living as 
husband and wife, or a person with whom you are living as if you were civil 
partners and provided you are aware that the other person has the interest. 

“Interests” means Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and Other Significant Interests.  

"Meeting" means any meeting of: 

(a) the Authority; 
(b) the executive of the Authority; 
(c) any of the Authority's or its executive's committees, sub-committees, joint 

committees and/or joint sub-committees. 

"Member" means a person who is an elected member of the Authority and includes a 
Co-opted Member.  

“Other Significant Interest” means an interest (other than a Disclosable Pecuniary 
Interest or an interest in an Authority Function) which: 

(a) affects the financial position of yourself and/or an Associated Person; or 
(b) relates to the determination of your application (whether made by you alone or 

jointly or on your behalf) for any approval, consent, licence, permission or 
registration or that of an Associated Person;  

and where, in either case, a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts 
would reasonably regard the interest as being so significant that it is likely to prejudice 
your judgment of the public interest. 

“Register of Members’ Interests” means the Authority's register of Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests established and maintained by the Monitoring Officer under section 
29 of the Localism Act 2011. 

"Sensitive Interest" means information, the details of which, if disclosed, could lead to 
you or a person connected with you being subject to violence or intimidation. 

Scope 

2.  You must comply with this Code whenever you act in your capacity as a Member or 
Co-opted Member of the Authority. 

General obligations 

3. (1) You must, when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of the 
Authority: 

(a) act in accordance with the Authority’s reasonable requirements; and 
(b) ensure that such resources are not used improperly for political purposes 

(including party political purposes). 

(2) You must not: 

(a) bully any person; 
(b) intimidate or attempt to intimidate any person who is or is likely to be a 

complainant, a witness, or involved in the administration of any investigation 
or proceedings, in relation to an allegation that a Member (including yourself) 
has failed to comply with this Code; 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 54



Kent Model Code of Conduct FINAL  5

(c) do anything that compromises, or is likely to compromise, the impartiality or 
integrity of those who work for, or on behalf of, the Authority; 

(d) disclose information given to you in confidence by anyone, or information 
acquired by you which you believe, or ought reasonably to be aware, is of a 
confidential nature, except where: 

(i) you have the written consent of a person authorised to give it; or 
(ii) you are required by law to do so; or 
(iii) the disclosure is made to a third party for the purpose of obtaining 

professional advice provided that the third party agrees not to disclose the 
information to any other person; or 

(iv) the disclosure is: 

• reasonable and in the public interest; and 
• made in good faith and in compliance with the reasonable requirements 
of the Authority; 

(e) prevent another person from gaining access to information to which that 
person is entitled by law; 

(f) conduct yourself in a manner which could reasonably be regarded as bringing 
your office or the Authority into disrepute; 

(g) use or attempt to use your position as a Member improperly to confer on or 
secure for yourself or any other person, an advantage or disadvantage.  

Registering Disclosable Pecuniary Interests  

4. (1) You must, before the end of 28 days beginning with the day you become a 
Member or Co-opted Member of the Authority, or before the end of 28 days 
beginning with the day on which this Code takes effect (whichever is the later), 
notify the Monitoring Officer of any Disclosable Pecuniary Interest.  

(2) In addition, you must, before the end of 28 days beginning with the day you 
become aware of any new Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or change to any 
interest already registered, register details of that new interest or change, by 
providing written notification to the Monitoring Officer. 

(3) Where you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be dealt with, 
or being dealt with, by you acting alone in the course of discharging a function of 
the Authority (including making a decision in relation to the matter), then if the 
interest is not registered in the Register of Members’ Interests and is not the 
subject of a pending notification, you must notify the Monitoring Officer before the 
end of 28 days beginning with the day you become aware of the existence of the 
interest. 

Declaring Interests  

5. (1) Whether or not a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest has been entered onto the 
Register of Members’ Interests or is the subject of a pending notification, you 
must comply with the disclosure procedures set out below. 

(2) Where you are present at a Meeting and have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest 
or Other Significant Interest in any matter to be considered, or being considered, 
at the Meeting, you must: 

(a) disclose the Interest; and 
(b) explain the nature of that Interest at the commencement of that consideration 

or when the Interest becomes apparent (subject to paragraph 6, below); and 
unless you have been granted a dispensation or are acting under para 5(4): 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 55



Kent Model Code of Conduct FINAL  6

(c) not participate in any discussion of, or vote taken on, the matter at the 
Meeting; and 

(d) withdraw from the Meeting room in accordance with the Authority’s Procedure 
Rules whenever it becomes apparent that the business is being considered; 
and 

(e) not seek improperly to influence a decision about that business. 

(3) Where you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or Other Significant Interest in 
any business of the Authority where you are acting alone in the course of 
discharging a function of the Authority (including making an executive decision), 
you must: 

(a) notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest and its nature as soon as it 
becomes apparent; and 

(b) not take any steps, or any further steps, in relation to the matter except for the 
purpose of enabling the matter to be dealt with otherwise than by you; and 

(c) not seek improperly to influence a decision about the matter. 

(4) Where you have an Other Significant Interest in any business of the Authority, 
you may attend a Meeting but only for the purpose of making representations, 
answering questions or giving evidence relating to the business, provided that 
the public are also allowed to attend the Meeting for the same purpose. Having 
made your representations, given evidence or answered questions you must: 

(a) not participate in any discussion of, or vote taken on, the matter at the 
Meeting; and 

(b) withdraw from the Meeting room in accordance with the Authority’s Procedure 
Rules. 

Sensitive Interests 

6. (1) Where you consider that the information relating to any of your Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests is a Sensitive Interest, and the Monitoring Officer agrees, the 
Monitoring Officer will not include details of the Sensitive Interest on any copies 
of the Register of Members’ Interests which are made available for inspection or 
any published version of the Register, but may include a statement that you have 
an interest, the details of which are withheld under this paragraph.  

(2) You must, before the end of 28 days beginning with the day you become aware 
of any change of circumstances which means that information excluded under 
paragraph 6(1) is no longer a Sensitive Interest, notify the Monitoring Officer 
asking that the information be included in the Register of Members’ Interests. 

(3) The rules relating to disclosure of Interests in paragraphs 5(2) and (3) will apply, 
save that you will not be required to disclose the nature of the Sensitive Interest, 
but merely the fact that you hold an interest in the matter under discussion. 

Gifts and Hospitality 

7. (1)  You must, before the end of 28 days beginning with the day of 
receipt/acceptance, notify the Monitoring Officer of any gift, benefit or hospitality 
with an estimated value of £100 or more, or a series of gifts, benefits and 
hospitality from the same or an associated source, with an estimated cumulative 
value of £100 or more, which are received and accepted by you (in any one 
calendar year) in the conduct of the business of the Authority, the business of the 
office to which you have been elected or appointed or when you are acting as 
representative of the Authority.  You must also register the source of the gift, 
benefit or hospitality. 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 56



Kent Model Code of Conduct FINAL  7

(2) Where any gift, benefit or hospitality you have received or accepted relates to 
any matter to be considered, or being considered at a Meeting, you must 
disclose at the commencement of the Meeting or when the interest becomes 
apparent, the existence and nature of the gift, benefit or hospitality, the person or 
body who gave it to you and how the business under consideration relates to that 
person or body.  You may participate in the discussion of the matter and in any 
vote taken on the matter, unless you have an Other Significant Interest, in which 
case the procedure in paragraph 5 above will apply. 

(3) You must continue to disclose the existence and nature of the gift, benefit or 
hospitality at a relevant Meeting, for 3 years from the date you first registered the 
gift, benefit or hospitality. 

(4) The duty to notify the Monitoring Officer does not apply where the gift, benefit or 
hospitality comes within any description approved by the Authority for this 
purpose. 

Dispensations  

8.(1) The [Standards] Committee, or any sub-committee of the [Standards] 
Committee, or the Monitoring Officer (where authorised) may, on a written 
request made to the Monitoring Officer (as appointed Proper Officer for the 
receipt of applications for dispensation) by a Member with an Interest, grant a 
dispensation relieving the Member from either or both of the restrictions on 
participating in discussions and in voting (referred to in paragraph 5 above). 

(2)  A dispensation may be granted only if, after having had regard to all relevant 
circumstances, the [Standards] Committee, its sub-committee, or the Monitoring 
Officer (where authorised) considers that: 

(a) without the dispensation the number of persons prohibited from 
participating in any particular business would be so great a proportion of 
the body transacting the business as to impede the transaction of the 
business; or 

(b) without the dispensation, the representation of different political groups 
on the body transacting any particular business would be so upset as to 
alter the likely outcome of any vote relating to the business; or 

(c) granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the 
Authority's area; or 

(d) without the dispensation each member of the Authority's executive would 
be prohibited from participating in any particular business to be 
transacted by the Authority's executive; or 

(e) it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation. 

(3) A dispensation must specify the period for which it has effect, and the period 
specified may not exceed four years. 

(4) Paragraph 5 above does not apply in relation to anything done for the purpose 
of deciding whether to grant a dispensation under this paragraph 8. 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 57



Kent Model Code of Conduct FINAL  8

ANNEX 1 

THE SEVEN PRINCIPLES OF PUBLIC LIFE 

In accordance with the Localism Act 2011, and in order to help maintain public 
confidence in this Authority, you are committed to behaving in a manner that is 
consistent with the following principles. However, it should be noted that these 
Principles do not create statutory obligations for Members and do not form part of the 
Code. It follows from this that the Authority cannot accept allegations that they have 
been breached.  

SELFLESSNESS: You should act solely in terms of the public interest and never 
improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person or act to gain financial 
or other material benefits for yourself, your family, a friend or close associate.  

INTEGRITY: You should exercise independent judgment and not compromise your 
position by placing yourself under obligations to outside individuals or organisations 
who might seek to influence you in the performance of your official duties. You should 
behave in accordance with all legal obligations, alongside any requirements contained 
within this Authority’s policies, protocols and procedures, including on the use of the 
Authority’s resources. You should value your colleagues and staff and engage with 
them in an appropriate manner and one that underpins the mutual respect that is 
essential to good local government. You should treat people with respect, including the 
organisations and public you engage with and those you work alongside. 

OBJECTIVITY: In carrying out public business, including making public appointments, 
awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and benefits, you should 
make choices on merit. You should deal with representations or enquiries from 
residents, members of the communities and visitors fairly, appropriately and impartially. 
You should champion the needs of the whole community and especially your 
constituents, including those who did not vote for you. 

ACCOUNTABILITY: You are accountable to the public for your decisions and actions 
and should fully co-operate with whatever scrutiny is appropriate to your office. 

OPENNESS: You should be as open and as transparent as possible about all the 
decisions and actions that you take to enable residents to understand the reasoning 
behind those decisions and to be informed when holding you and other Members to 
account. You should give reasons for your decisions and restrict information only when 
the wider public interest or the law clearly demands it. You should listen to the interests 
of all parties, including relevant advice from statutory and other professional officers, 
taking all relevant information into consideration, remaining objective and making 
decisions on merit.  

HONESTY: You have a duty to declare interests relating to your public duties and to 
take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that protects the public interest. You 
should not allow other pressures, including the financial interests of yourself or others 
connected to you, to deter you from pursuing constituents' casework, the interests of 
the Authority's area or the good governance of the Authority in a proper manner.  

LEADERSHIP: Through leadership and example you should promote and support high 
standards of conduct when serving in your public post. You should provide leadership 
through behaving in accordance with these principles when championing the interests 
of the community with other organisations as well as within this Authority. 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 58



Kent Model Code of Conduct FINAL  9

ANNEX 2 

 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, as prescribed by regulations, are as follows: 

The descriptions on Disclosable Pecuniary Interests are subject to the following 
definitions: 

“the Act” means the Localism Act 2011 

“body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in 
which the relevant person is a partner or a body corporate of which the relevant person 
is a director, or in the securities of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest 

“director” includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and 
provident society 

“land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does 
not carry with it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy 
the land or to receive income 

“M” means a member of the relevant authority 

“member” includes a co-opted member  

“relevant authority” means the authority of which M is a member 

“relevant period” means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which M 
gives a notification for the purposes of section 30(1), or section 31(7), as the case may 
be, of the Act 

“relevant person” means M or any other person referred to in section 30(3)(b) of the 
Act (the Member’s spouse, civil partner, or somebody with whom they are living as a 
husband or wife, or as if they were civil partners). 

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a 
building society 

 

Interest Description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vacation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on 
for profit or gain. 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other 
than from the relevant authority) made or provided within the 
relevant period in respect of any expenses incurred by M in 
carrying out duties as a member, or towards the election 
expenses of M. 

This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour 
Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 59



Kent Model Code of Conduct FINAL  10

body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and 
the relevant authority: 

(a)  under which goods or services are to be provided or works 
are to be executed; and 

(b)  which has not been fully discharged. 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority. 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to M’s knowledge): 

(a)  the landlord is the relevant authority; and 

(b)  the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where: 

(a)  that body (to M’s knowledge) has a place of business or 
land in the area of the relevant authority; and 

(b)  either 

(i)  the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or  

(ii)  if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, 
the total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which 
the relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

 

 

 
 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 60



Legal Briefing 
L09-12

18 June 2012 

 

Page 1 of 8 
 

National Association of Local Councils 

Tel: 020 7637 1865 h Fax: 020 7436 7451 h e-mail: nalc@nalc.gov.uk h website: www.nalc.gov.uk 

 

 

NALC’s template code of conduct for parish councils 
(final version) 

 
Introduction 

 
This Briefing updates L08-12 and it should be read in conjunction with Legal Topic Note 
(LTN) 80, last updated in June 2012. NALC’s template code of conduct has been 
finalised and is attached.  
 
NALC’s template code of conduct incorporates a member’s new mandatory obligations in 
the Localism Act 2011 (‘the 2011 Act’) concerning ’disclosable pecuniary interests’ which 
come into force on 1 July 2012.  Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined in the 
Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 (SI 2012/1464). 
They are set out in Legal Briefing L10-12. 
 
 
Important information (explained in detail in LTN 80 and Legal Briefing L10- 12) 
 
1. Transitional arrangements (confirmed in The Localism Act 2011 (Commencement 

Order No.6 and Transitional, Savings and Transitional Provisions Order 2012) SI 
2012/1463 (‘the 2012 Regulations’), brought into force on 7 June 2012, confirm :-  

 

 a parish council must adopt a new code of conduct to take effect on or after 1 
July 2012.  

 

 the district/ unitary authority’s Monitoring Officer may prepare a register of interests 
for members of parish councils in the principal authority’s area to take effect on or 
after 1 July 2012.   

 
2. The 2012 Regulations also confirm that on 1 July, a member of a parish council is at 

risk of prosecution for committing criminal offences in s.34 of the 2011 Act if:- 
 

 he/she participates or votes on a matter being considered at a meeting in which 
he/she has a ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ (s.31(4) of the 2011 Act) or 

 

 written notification of such disclosable pecuniary interest has not already been 
given to the Monitoring Officer, and the member does not disclose the disclosable 
pecuniary interest to the meeting and does not provide written notification of the 
interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of the meeting (31(2) and (3) of the 
2011 Act) or 

 

 he/she provides false or misleading information about the above (s.34(2) of the 
2011 Act).  

Agenda Item 6a

Page 61



Legal Briefing 
L09-12

18 June 2012 

 

Page 2 of 8 
 

National Association of Local Councils 

Tel: 020 7637 1865 h Fax: 020 7436 7451 h e-mail: nalc@nalc.gov.uk h website: www.nalc.gov.uk 

 

 
Next steps 
 
NALC advises parish councils to adopt a new code of conduct as soon as possible. 
 
A member’s mandatory obligations relating to prescribed disclosable pecuniary interests 
are incorporated in the NALC template code of conduct. If a parish council adopts the 
NALC template, its members and co-opted members are also required to register 
disclosable pecuniary interests within 28 days of adoption of the code. 
 
NALC recommends that a parish council adopts a new code of conduct (which may or 
may not be based on the NALC template code of conduct) in June to take effect on 1 July 
2012.  This timetable, although relatively short, would assist a parish council and its 
members to satisfy their new obligations in the 2011 Act with relative ease. 
 
If a parish council adopts a new code of conduct to take effect after 1 July 2012, it is 
NALC’s view that the parish council’s existing code of conduct based on the Local 
Authorities (Model Code of Conduct) Order 2007 SI 2007/1159, would continue to have 
effect. Accordingly, its members would remain subject to the requirements of their 
existing code (which includes obligations for the registration and disclosure of personal 
and prejudicial interests) until the parish council adopted a new code of conduct. 
Nevertheless, if a council has not adopted a new code by 1 July 2012, members of the 
parish council are still subject to the mandatory obligations in the 2011 Act, summarised 
above, in relation to disclosable pecuniary interests from 1 July 2012 . 
 

 
Useful reminders  
 
The function of adopting, revising or replacing a code of conduct must be discharged by 
full council (s.28(13) of the 2011 Act).  A parish council must publicise its adoption (and in 
future any revision or replacement) of a code of conduct in such manner as it considers is 
likely to bring the adoption, revision or replacement of the code of conduct to the attention 
of persons who live in its area (s. 28(12)).  
 
Whilst members of a parish council may provide written notification of interests (including 
disclosable pecuniary interests) to the local Monitoring Officer, most Monitoring Officers 
are likely to prepare a standard register of interests form for members of parish councils 
to complete. Members of parish councils should liaise directly with the local Monitoring 
Officer about providing written notifications about their interests. 
 

 
This briefing was issued by Meera Tharmarajah, Solicitor and Head of Legal 

Services 
 

 NALC 2012 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 62



Legal Briefing 
L09-12 

18 June 2012 

 

Page 3 of 8 
 

National Association of Local Councils 

Tel: 020 7637 1865 h Fax: 020 7436 7451 h e-mail: nalc@nalc.gov.uk h website: www.nalc.gov.uk 

 

FINAL 

NALC template code of conduct for parish councils 

 

Introduction 

 

Pursuant to section 27 of the Localism Act 2011, X [Parish/Town/Village/ 

Community/Neighbourhood] Council (‘the Council’) has adopted this Code of Conduct to 

promote and maintain high standards of behaviour by its members and co-opted 

members whenever they conduct the business of the Council, including the business of 

the office to which they were elected or appointed, or when they claim to act or give the 

impression of acting as a representative of the Council.  

 

This Code of Conduct is based on the principles of selflessness, integrity, objectivity, 

accountability, openness, honesty, and leadership. 

 

Definitions 

 

For the purposes of this Code, a ‘co-opted member’ is a person who is not a member of 

the Council but who is either a member of any committee or sub-committee of the 

Council, or a member of, and represents the Council on any joint committee or joint sub-

committee of the Council, and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to be 

decided at any meeting of that committee or sub-committee.  

 

For the purposes of this Code, a ‘meeting’ is a meeting of the Council, any of its 

committees, sub-committees, joint committees or joint sub-committees.  

 

For the purposes of this Code, and unless otherwise expressed, a reference to a member 

of the Council includes a co-opted member of the Council. 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 63



Legal Briefing 
L09-12 

18 June 2012 

 

Page 4 of 8 
 

National Association of Local Councils 

Tel: 020 7637 1865 h Fax: 020 7436 7451 h e-mail: nalc@nalc.gov.uk h website: www.nalc.gov.uk 

 

Member obligations 

 

When a member of the Council acts, claims to act or gives the impression of acting as a 

representative of the Council, he/she has the following obligations. 

 

1. He/she shall behave in such a way that a reasonable person would regard as 

respectful. 

 

2. He/she shall not act in a way which a reasonable person would regard as bullying or 

intimidatory.  

 

3. He/she shall not seek to improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any 

person. 

 

4. He/she shall use the resources of the Council in accordance with its requirements.  

 

5. He/she shall not disclose information which is confidential or where disclosure is 

prohibited by law. 

 

Registration of interests 

 

6. Within 28 days of this Code being adopted by the Council, or the member’s election or 

the co-opted member’s appointment (where that is later), he/she shall register with the 

Monitoring Officer the interests which fall within the categories set out in Appendices A 

and B.  

 

7. Upon the re-election of a member or the re-appointment of a co-opted member, 

he/she shall within 28 days re-register with the Monitoring Officer any interests in 

Appendices A and B.  

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 64



Legal Briefing 
L09-12 

18 June 2012 

 

Page 5 of 8 
 

National Association of Local Councils 

Tel: 020 7637 1865 h Fax: 020 7436 7451 h e-mail: nalc@nalc.gov.uk h website: www.nalc.gov.uk 

 

8. A member shall register with the Monitoring Officer any change to interests or new 

interests in Appendices A and B within 28 days of becoming aware of it. 

 

9. A member need only declare the existence but not the details of any interest which the 

Monitoring Officer agrees is a ‘sensitive interest’.  A sensitive interest is one which, if 

disclosed on a public register, could lead the member or a person connected with the 

member to be subject to violence or intimidation. 

 

Declaration of interests at meetings 

 

9. Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to an interest in Appendix A the 

member shall not participate in a discussion or vote on the matter. He/she only has 

to declare what his/her interest is if it is not already entered in the member’s register 

of interests or if he/she has not notified the Monitoring Officer of it. 

 

10. Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to an interest in Appendix A which 

is a sensitive interest, the member shall not participate in a discussion or vote on the 

matter. If it is a sensitive interest which has not already been disclosed to the 

Monitoring Officer, the member shall disclose he/she has an interest but not the 

nature of it.  

 

11. Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to an interest in Appendix B, the 

member shall not vote on the matter.  He/she may speak on the matter only if 

members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting.  

 

12. A member only has to declare his/her interest in Appendix B if it is not already 

entered in his/her register of interests or he/she has not notified the Monitoring 

Officer of it or if he/she speaks on the matter. If he/she holds an interest in Appendix 

B which is a sensitive interest not already disclosed to the Monitoring Officer, he/she 

shall declare the interest but not the nature of the interest. 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 65



Legal Briefing 
L09-12 

18 June 2012 

 

Page 6 of 8 
 

National Association of Local Councils 

Tel: 020 7637 1865 h Fax: 020 7436 7451 h e-mail: nalc@nalc.gov.uk h website: www.nalc.gov.uk 

 

13. Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to a financial interest of a friend, 

relative or close associate (other than an interest in Appendix A), the member shall 

disclose the nature of the interest and not vote on the matter. He/she may speak on 

the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting.  If 

it is a ‘sensitive interest’ the member shall declare the interest but not the nature of 

the interest. 

 

Dispensations 

 

14. On a written request made to the Council’s proper officer, the Council may grant a 

member a dispensation to participate in a discussion and vote on a matter at a 

meeting even if he/she has an interest in Appendices A and B if the Council believes 

that the number of members otherwise prohibited from taking part in the meeting 

would impede the transaction of the business; or it is in the interests of the 

inhabitants in the Council’s area to allow the member to take part or it is otherwise 

appropriate to grant a dispensation. 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 66



Legal Briefing 
L09-12 

18 June 2012 

 

Page 7 of 8 
 

National Association of Local Councils 

Tel: 020 7637 1865 h Fax: 020 7436 7451 h e-mail: nalc@nalc.gov.uk h website: www.nalc.gov.uk 

 

Appendix A  

Interests defined by regulations made under section 30(3) of the Localism Act 2011 and 

described in the table below. 

 

Subject Description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Council) 
made to the member during the 12 month period ending on the latest date referred to in 
paragraph 6 above for expenses incurred by him/her in carrying out his/her duties as a 
member, or towards his/her election expenses. 

 This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning of 
the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 

Contracts Any contract made between the member or between his/her spouse or civil partner or the 
person with whom the member is living as if they were spouses/civil partners (or a body 
in which such a person is a partner in a firm, a director of an incorporated body or holds 
the beneficial interest in securities*) and the Council — 

 (a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and 

 (b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council. 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the relevant 
authority for a month or longer. 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the member’s knowledge)— 

 (a) the landlord is the Council; and 

 (b) the tenant is a body in which the member, or his/her spouse or civil partner/ the 
person with whom the member is living as if they were spouses/civil partners has a 
beneficial interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where— 

 (a) that body (to the member’s knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of 
the Council; and 

 (b) either— 

 (i) the total nominal value of the securities* exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that body; or 

 (ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of 
the shares of any one class in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest 
exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

*‘Securities’ means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective investment scheme 

within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than 

money deposited with a building society. 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 67



Legal Briefing 
L09-12

18 June 2012 

 

Page 8 of 8 
 

National Association of Local Councils 

Tel: 020 7637 1865 h Fax: 020 7436 7451 h e-mail: nalc@nalc.gov.uk h website: www.nalc.gov.uk 

 

Appendix B  

An interest which relates to or is likely to affect: 

 

(i) any body of which the member is in a position of general control or 

management and to which he/she is appointed or nominated by the Council; 

 

(ii) any body— 

(a) exercising functions of a public nature; 

(b) directed to charitable purposes; or 

(c) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion 

or policy (including any political party or trade union)  

of which the member of the Council is a member or in a position of general 

control or management; 

 

(iii) any gifts or hospitality worth more than an estimated value of £50 which the 

member has received by virtue of his or her office. 

 

 

 NALC 2012 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 68



APPENDIX 3 

PART 3 –STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

1. Establishment 

1.1 The Council will establish a Standards Committee. 

2. Composition 

2.1 Standards Committees have to comply with the political balance rules under the 

Local Government Act 1972. 

3. Membership 

3.1 The Standards Committee will be composed of: 

• Seven Members other than the Leader of the Council and no more than 

one Member selected from a particular Parish Boundary. 

• Only one Member out of the above seven Members to be an Executive 

Member without being a Chair of the Committee as Standards is a Council 

function as opposed to an Executive function (s.27(8), Part 1, Chapter 7 of 

the Localism Act 2011. 

• Up to two co-opted Members of a parish or town council (a parish/town 

council member) 

4. Voting 

4.1 All Sevenoaks District Council members of the Committee will be entitled to vote 

at meetings of the Committee. 

4.2      Any Co-opted Parish or Town Council representatives would not have voting rights. 

5.  Quorum 

5.1 The quorum of the Standards Committee will be three voting members. 

6. Number of meetings 

6.1 At least one meeting will be held each year.  

7. Role and Function (Terms of Reference) 

7.1 To discharge the functions as set out in Part 1, Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 

2011 including: 

(a) To promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Members and Co-

opted Members of the District Council and to make recommendations to 

Council on improving standards. 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 69



(b). To advise and assist Parish/Town Councils and Parish/Town Councillors to 

maintain high standards of conduct and to make recommendations to 

Parish/Town Councils on improving standards. 

 

(c) To advise the District Council on the adoption of or revisions to its Code of 

Conduct. 

 

(d) To advise, train or arrange to train Members, Co-opted Members of the 

District Council on matters relating to the Code of Conduct. 

 

(e) To assist the Members and Co-opted Members of the District Council to 

observe their respective Codes of Conduct. 

 

(f) To monitor and assess the operation and effectiveness of the District 

Council Code of Conduct and to review and manage the Arrangements for 

dealing with Code of Conduct Complaints. 

 

(g) To advise on local ethical governance protocols and procedures. 

 

(h) To maintain oversight of the District Council’s arrangements for dealing 

with Code of Conduct complaints. 

 

(i) To act as an advisory body in respect of any ethical governance matter. 

 

(j) To monitor and review the procedures for the Register of Members’ 

Interests including reviewing interests other than Disclosable Pecuniary 

Interests (DPI’s) called Non Pecuniary Interests (NPI’s). 

 

(k) To receive reports from the Monitoring Officer on the number and nature of 

complaints received and action taken as a result in consultation with the 

Independent Person. 

 

(l) To receive the Monitoring Officer’s annual report which includes a summary 

of the District Council’s ethical governance arrangements. 

 

(m) To appoint a Sub-Committee being a Standards Assessment Working Party 

to consider complaints of an extremely serious nature or other similar 

exceptional circumstance that may exist as set out within the procedures 

entitled “Arrangements for dealing with Code of Conduct Complaints under 

the Localism Act 2011”. 

 

(n) To appoint a Sub-Committee being a Standards Hearing Sub Committee 

following an investigation and finding that a breach of the Code of Conduct 

has occurred and no informal resolution can be found in accordance with 

“Arrangements for Dealing with Code of Conduct Complaints under the 

Localism Act 2011”. 

  

(o) Delegated authority to grant dispensations pursuant to S33(2) of the 

Localism Act 2011 only if, after having had regard to all relevant 

circumstances, it is considered that: 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 70



� without the dispensation the representation of different political 

groups on the body transacting any particular business would be so 

upset as to alter the likely outcome of any vote relating to the 

business (s.33(2)(b) of Part 1, Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011. 

 

� granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the 

authority’s area (s.33(2)(c) of Part 1, Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 

2011. 

 

� It is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation (s.33(2)(e) of Part 

1, Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 2011.   

 

 8. Standards Assessment Working Party (Terms of Reference) 

8.1 It is recognised that complaints may be received which are of an extremely 

serious nature or other similar exceptional circumstances exist as set out within 

the procedures entitled “Arrangements for Dealing with Code of Conduct 

Complaints under the Localism Act 2011”.  In such a situation the Monitoring 

Officer can set up a Working Party comprising three members of the Standards 

Committee. 

8.2 The Working Party will examine thoroughly the contents of the complaint and 

after consultation with the Independent Person make recommendations to the 

Monitoring Officer on whether an investigation should take place. 

8.3     The Working Party will produce a written summary of its consideration of the 

complaint to include the main points considered, its conclusion on the complaint 

and the reasons for that conclusion. 

9. Standards Hearings Sub Committee (Terms of Reference) 

9.1     A Sub Committee comprising three voting Members of the Standards Committee 

having a quorum of three established to conduct Hearings into allegations 

referred to it by the Monitoring Officer that a Member or Co-opted Member (the 

Subject Member) has failed to comply with the relevant Code of Conduct 

appertaining to that Subject Member. 

9.2       To hold a hearing and make a determination in relation to a complaint referred to 

it by the Monitoring Officer alleging a breach of the Code of Conduct appertaining 

to the Subject Member. 

9.3       Where the Sub Committee determines that a Subject Member has failed to 

comply with the Subject Member’s Code of Conduct to determine what action to 

take in respect thereof including the power to make recommendations to the 

Subject Member’s Council and power to instruct the Monitoring Officer to 

publicise its decision on the District Council’s web site and/or newspaper 

circulating in the locality. 

9.4       To give notice in writing of any of its determinations including the reasons for such 

determination. 

10. Standards Sub Committee for Granting Dispensations 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 71



10.1 The Sub Committee can be summoned by the Monitoring Officer to grant 

dispensations in accordance with its delegated powers referred to above at 

paragraph 7.1 (n). 

10.2 The Sub Committee will comprise three voting Members of the Standards 

Committee having a quorum of three. 

10.4  A written record of the Sub-Committee decision will be made and given to the 

Monitoring Officer.  The written record will specify the reasons for the Sub-

Committee’s decision and if a dispensation is granted the written record will 

evidence the name of the Member or Co-opted Member receiving the 

dispensation and the period for which it has effect. 

11. Codes and Protocols 

11.1 High standards lie at the root of the Council’s activities and the work of the 

Standards Committee is supported by policies and protocols including: 

Members' Code of Conduct 

Arrangements for Dealing with Code of Conduct Complaints under the Localism Act 2011 

Procedure for Making a Recommendation for the Appointment of an Independent Person 

Protocol on Gifts and Hospitality 

Members' Register of Interest Form 

Powers to Grant Dispensations 

Guidance of Disclosure of Confidential Information by Members 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 72



1 

 

 
 

APPENDIX 4 

 

Arrangements for dealing with Code of Conduct 

Complaints under the Localism Act 2011 
 

1 Delegations under these arrangements 

 

1.1 The Monitoring Officer is appointed as the Proper Officer to receive 

complaints of failure to comply with the Code of Conduct. 

1.2 The Monitoring Officer, in consultation with the Independent Person, 

to determine whether a complaint merits formal investigation and to 

arrange such investigation. The Monitoring Officer will seek resolution 

of complaints without formal investigation wherever practicable, and 

is given discretion to refer decisions on investigation to the Standards 

Assessment Working Party in accordance with the criteria set out in 

Part 1 for them to take the decision. The Monitoring Officer will report 

regularly to the Standards Committee on the discharge of this 

function. 

1.3 Where an investigation finds no evidence of failure to comply with the 

Code of Conduct, the Monitoring Officer is instructed to close the 

matter, providing a copy of the report and findings of the investigation 

to the complainant and to the member concerned (the Subject 

Member), and to the Independent Person, and reporting the findings 

to the Standards Committee for information 

1.4 Where the investigation finds evidence of a failure to comply with the 

Code of Conduct, the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the 

Independent Person is authorised to seek local resolution to the 

satisfaction of the complainant in appropriate cases, with a summary 

report for information to the Standards Committee. Where such local 

resolution is not appropriate or not possible, the Monitoring Officer 

will report the investigation findings to a Standards Hearings Sub 

Committee for local hearing. 

 

Sanctions 

 

1.5 The Council delegates to Hearings Panels such of its powers as can 

be delegated to take decisions in respect of a member who is found 

on hearing to have failed to comply with the Code of Conduct, such 

actions to include- 

 

Sanctions for Sevenoaks District Council Members: 

 

• Reporting its findings to Council for information and publishing 

findings on the District Council’s website; 

• Recommending to the Member’s Group Leader (or in the case 

of un-grouped Members, recommend to Council or to 

Committees) that he/she be removed from any  or all 

Committees or Sub-Committees of the Council.  It may not be 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 73



2 

 

possible for the Group Leader to carry out the 

recommendation if the Group is very small. 

• Recommending to the Leader of the Council that the member 

be removed from the Cabinet, or removed from particular 

Portfolio responsibilities; 

• Instruct the Monitoring Officer to arrange training for the 

Member and/or conciliation if appropriate; 

• Recommend to the District Council that the member be 

removed, from all outside appointments to which he/she has 

been appointed or nominated by the authority. 

 

Sanctions for Town and Parish Council Members: 

 

 

• Reporting its findings to the Town/Parish Council, for 

information and publish findings on the District Council’s 

website; 

• Recommending to the Town/Parish Council that he/she be 

removed from any  or all Committees or Sub-Committees of 

the Council; 

• Recommend that the Town/Parish Council arrange training for 

the member and/or conciliation if appropriate all at the 

Town/Parish Council’s own expense; 

• Recommending to the Town/Parish Council that the member 

be removed, from all outside appointments to which he/she 

has been appointed or nominated by the authority. 

 

The Election Period 

 

No action will be taken in relation to any complaint within six weeks prior to 

an election. 

 

2 Context 

 

These “Arrangements” set out how anyone may make a complaint that an 

elected or Co-opted Member of Sevenoaks District Council or of a 

town/parish council within its area has failed to comply with the authority’s 

Code of Conduct, and sets out how Sevenoaks District Council will deal with 

allegations of a failure to comply with the authority’s Code of Conduct. 

 

Under Section 28(6) and (7) of the Localism Act 2011, the Council must 

have in place “arrangements” under which allegations that a Member or Co-

opted Member of the authority or of a town/parish council within the 

authority’s area, or of a Committee or Sub-Committee of the authority, has 

failed to comply with that authority’s Code of Conduct can be investigated 

and decisions made on such allegations.  

 

Such arrangements must provide for the authority to appoint at least one 

Independent Person, whose views must be sought by the authority before it 

takes a decision on an allegation which it has decided shall be investigated, 

and whose views can be sought by the authority at any other stage, or by a 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 74



3 

 

Member or Co-opted Member of a town/parish council against whom an 

allegation as been made. 

 

 

 

3 The Code of Conduct 

 

The Council has adopted a Code of Conduct for Members and Co-opted 

Members, which is set out within the Council’s Constitution and available for 

inspection on the authority’s website and on request from Reception at the 

District Council Offices. 

 

Each town/parish council is also required to adopt a Code of Conduct. If 

anyone wishes to inspect a Town/Parish Council’s Code of Conduct, they 

should inspect any website operated by the town/parish council or request 

the town/parish clerk to allow inspection of  the town/parish council’s Code 

of Conduct.   

 
4 Making a complaint 

 

If anyone wishes to make a complaint, please write or email to – 

 

“The Monitoring Officer 

Council Offices, Argyle Road, 

Sevenoaks 

TN13 1HG” 

 

Or – 

 

members.conduct@sevenoaks.gov.uk 

 

The Monitoring Officer is a senior officer of the authority who has statutory 

responsibility for maintaining the Register of Members’ Interests and who is 

responsible for administering the system in respect of complaints of Member 

or Co-opted Member misconduct. 

 

In order to ensure that we have all the information which we need to be able 

to process a complaint, a complainant will need to complete and send us the 

Complaint Form, set out at Part 4 to these arrangements, which can be 

downloaded from the Sevenoaks District Council’s website and is available 

on request from Reception at the District Council Offices. 

 

The complainant will need to provide us with details of their name and a 

contact address or email address, so that we can acknowledge receipt of the 

complaint. The authority does not normally investigate anonymous 

complaints, unless there is a clear public interest in doing so. 

 

The Monitoring Officer will acknowledge receipt of the complaint promptly 

after receiving it,.  The Monitoring Officer will send the Subject Member a 

copy of the complaint and all supporting evidence in order that the Subject 

Member can reply to the complaint.   The Monitoring Officer will notify the 

complainant and Subject Member of any decision taken upon it. 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 75



4 

 

The Monitoring Officer will validate the complaint by subjecting it to the Initial 

Intake test and Assessment test set out in Part 1 to these arrangements. If 

the complaint fails the Initial Intake test it will not be considered further and 

the complainant and the Subject Member will be informed of this. If the 

complaint fails the subsequent Assessment test it will not be considered 

further and the complainant and the Subject Member will be informed of 

this.  . 

 

If the complaint appears to the Monitoring Officer not to be a substantive 

allegation of misconduct under the Code of Conduct, the Monitoring Officer 

will so inform the complainant but may ensure where appropriate that the 

matter is dealt with under a more relevant procedure, eg: if it is a complaint 

about a service or an officer or a statement of policy disagreement. 

 

If the complaint appears to the Monitoring Officer to be an allegation that 

could constitute a criminal offence, the Monitoring Officer will advise the 

complainant  to refer the complaint to the police in the first instance. 

(Section 34 of the Localism Act 2011). 

 

Where the complaint does appear to be an allegation of misconduct under 

the code, the Monitoring Officer (as well as acknowledging the complaint) 

will notify the Subject Member of receipt of the complaint and give the 

Subject Member a right to respond to the complaint. The Subject Member 

will normally be given up to 30 working days to comment on the complaint 

and provide any evidence of their own.   

 

As part of this process the Monitoring Officer may try to reach an informal 

resolution of your complaint, with the complainant and the Subject Member 

concerned. 

 

5 Will the complaint be investigated? 

 

The Monitoring Officer will review every complaint passing the Initial Intake 

test and the Assessment test and, after consultation with an Independent 

Person, take a decision as to whether it merits formal investigation. This 

review will be carried out in conjunction with the Assessment decision 

factors set out inPart 1 of these arrangements and take into account the 

statements and evidence of both the complainant and the Subject Member 

in any response given. This decision will normally be taken within 40 working 

days of receipt of full information in relation to the complaint. Where the 

Monitoring Officer has taken a decision, they will inform the complainant and 

the Subject Member of the decision and the reasons for that decision.   

 

The Monitoring Officer may refer certain cases to the Standards Assessment 

Working Party in accordance with the Criteria entitled “Criteria for referral to 

the Standards Assessment Working Party” set out within Part 1 for advice 

and guidance and to make recommendation as to the decision to be taken. 

 

Where the Monitoring Officer requires additional information in order to 

come to a decision, the Standards Assessment Working Party may require 

the Monitoring Officer to go back to the complainant for such information, 

and will instruct the Monitoring Officer to request information from the 

Subject Member.  

Agenda Item 6a

Page 76



5 

 

In appropriate cases, the Monitoring Officer may seek to resolve the 

complaint informally, without the need for a formal investigation. Such 

informal resolution may involve the Subject Member accepting that his/her 

conduct was unacceptable and offering an apology, or other remedial action 

by the authority. Where the Subject Member makes a reasonable offer of 

local resolution, the Monitoring Officer will take account of this in deciding 

whether the complaint merits formal investigation. 

 

6 How is the investigation conducted? 

 

The Council has adopted a procedure for the investigation of misconduct 

complaints, which is attached as Part 2 to these arrangements. 

 

The process is designed to be proportionate to the nature and seriousness 

of the case.  This may involve little more than an exchange of letters or 

written representations in some cases.   

 

If the Monitoring Officer decides that a complaint merits formal investigation, 

an Investigating Officer may be appointed by the Monitoring Officer, who may 

be another senior officer of the authority, an officer of another authority or 

an external investigator. The Investigating Officer will decide whether they 

need to meet or speak to the complainant to understand the nature of the 

complaint and enable the complainant to explain their understanding of 

events and suggest what documents the Investigating Officer needs to see, 

and who the Investigating Officer needs to interview. 

 

The Investigating Officer would normally write to the Subject Member  and 

provide them with a copy of the complaint, and ask the Subject Member to 

provide further explanation of events, and to identify what further documents 

are needed in addition to those contained in any initial “right of reply” 

response and who they need to interview. 

 

At the end of the investigation, the Investigating Officer will produce a draft 

report and will send copies of that draft report, in confidence, to the 

complainant and to the Subject Member concerned, to give  both an 

opportunity to identify any matter in that draft report which are disagreed 

with or which it is considered requires more consideration. 

 

Having received and taken account of any comments which are made on the 

draft report, the Investigating Officer will send the final report to the 

Monitoring Officer. 

 

7 What happens if the Investigating Officer concludes that there is no 

evidence of a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct? 

 

The Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Independent Person will 

review the Investigating Officer’s report and, if they are satisfied that the 

Investigating Officer’s report is sufficient, the Monitoring Officer will write to 

the complainant and to the Subject Member concerned and to the 

Town/Parish Council, where the complaint relates to a Town/Parish 

Councillor, notifying that the Monitoring Officer is satisfied that no further 

action is required, and give the complainant and the Subject Member a copy 

of the Investigating Officer’s final report. If the Monitoring Officer is not 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 77



6 

 

satisfied that the investigation has been conducted properly, he/she may 

ask the Investigating Officer to reconsider their report. 

 

 

8 What happens if the Investigating Officer concludes that there is evidence 

of a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct? 

 

The Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating Officer’s report and will 

then either send the matter for local hearing before the Hearings Panel or, 

after consulting the Independent Person, seek local resolution. 

 

8.1 Local Resolution 

 

The Monitoring Officer may consider that the matter can reasonably 

be resolved without the need for a hearing. In such a case, the 

Monitoring Officer will consult with the Independent Person and with 

the complainant and seek to agree what is considered to be a fair 

resolution which also helps to ensure higher standards of conduct for 

the future. Such resolution may include the Subject Member 

accepting that their conduct was unacceptable and offering an 

apology, and/or other remedial action by the authority. If the Subject 

Member complies with the suggested resolution, the Monitoring 

Officer will report the matter to the Standards Committee and the 

Town/Parish Council for information, but will take no further action.   

 

8.2 Local Hearing 

 

If the Monitoring Officer considers that local resolution is not 

appropriate, then the Monitoring Officer will report the Investigating 

Officer’s report to the Standards Hearings Sub Committee which will 

conduct a local hearing before deciding whether the Subject Member 

has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct and, if so, whether to 

take any action in respect of the Subject Member. 

 

The Council has agreed a procedure for local hearings, which is 

attached as Part 3 to these arrangements. 

 

Essentially, the Monitoring Officer will conduct a “pre-hearing 

process”, requiring the Subject Member to give their response to the 

Investigating Officer’s report, in order to identify what is likely to be 

agreed and what is likely to be in contention at the hearing, and the 

Chair of the Standards Hearings Sub Committee may issue directions 

as to the manner in which the hearing will be conducted. At the 

hearing, the Investigating Officer will present their report, call such 

witnesses as they consider necessary and make representations to 

substantiate their conclusion that the Subject Member has failed to 

comply with the Code of Conduct. For this purpose, the Investigating 

Officer may ask the complainant to attend and give evidence to the 

Hearings Panel. The Subject Member will then have an opportunity to 

give his/her evidence, to call witnesses and to make representations 

to the Standards Hearings Sub Committee as to why they consider 

that they did not fail to comply with the Code of Conduct.  

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 78



7 

 

If the Standards Hearings Sub Committee , with the benefit of any 

advice from the Independent Person, concludes that the Subject 

Member did not fail to comply with the Code of Conduct the 

Standards Hearing Sub Committee can dismiss the complaint. If the 

Standards Hearings Sub Committee concludes that the Subject 

Member did fail to comply with the Code of Conduct, the Chair will 

inform the Subject Member of this finding and the Standards 

Hearings Sub Committee will then consider what action, if any, the 

Standards Hearings Sub Committee should take as a result of the 

Subject Member’s failure to comply with the Code of Conduct. In 

doing this, the Standards Hearings Sub Committee will give the 

Subject Member an opportunity to make representations to the 

Standards Hearings Sub Committee and will consult the Independent 

Person, but will then decide what action, if any, to take in respect of 

the matter. 

 

9 What action can the Standards Hearings Sub Committee take where a 

Subject Member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct? 

 

 

9.1 The Council has delegated to the Standards Hearings Sub Committee 

such of its powers to take action in respect of individual members as 

may be necessary to promote and maintain high standards of 

conduct. Accordingly the Standards Hearings Sub Committee may 

impose the sanctions as set out in paragraph 1.5 above. 

 

The Standards Hearings Sub Committee has no power to suspend or 

disqualify the Subject Member or to withdraw allowances or expenses. 

 

Any decision of the District Council on sanctions in relation to a Town/Parish 

Council can only in effect be a recommendation to the Parish Council, who 

must then itself decide whether to accept the recommendation.  In the 

absence of express powers, a district could not, for example, remove a 

parish councillor from a committee.  The district could only make a finding of 

breach/no breach and then recommend a course of action to the parish.   

 

10 What happens at the end of the hearing? 

 

At the end of the hearing, the Chair will state the decision of the Standards 

Hearings Sub Committee as to whether the Subject Member failed to comply 

with the Code of Conduct and as to any actions which the Standards 

Hearings Sub Committee resolves to take.  Prior to reaching and announcing 

its decision in public, the Standards Hearings Sub Committee may retire to a 

separate room to deliberate in private.  It cannot retire with either the 

Monitoring Officer or the Independent Person. The Monitoring Officer may be 

called by the Standards Hearings Sub Committee if they require technical or 

legal guidance but the nature of this must be disclosed in public. 

 

As soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, the Monitoring Officer shall 

prepare a formal decision notice in consultation with the Chair of the 

Standards Hearings Sub Committee, and send a copy to the complainant, to 

the Subject Member and to the Town/Parish Council, and make that 

decision notice available for public inspection. 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 79



8 

 

 

11 Who are the Standards Hearings Sub Committee? 

 

The Standards Hearings Sub Committee derives from the Council’s 

Standards Committee and will consist of three Members drawn from the 

membership of the Standards Committee in accordance with the rules on 

political balance, if required.  

 

The Independent Person is invited to attend all meetings of the Standards 

Hearings Sub Committee and their views are sought and taken into 

consideration before the Standards Hearings Sub Committee takes any 

decision on whether the Subject Member’s conduct constitutes a failure to 

comply with the Code of conduct and as to any action to be taken following a 

finding of failure to comply with the Code of Conduct.  The Independent 

Person otherwise takes no part in the discussions or deliberations of the 

Standards Hearings Sub Committee. 

 

12 Who is the Independent Person? 

 

The Independent Person is a person who has applied for the post following 

advertisement of a vacancy for the post, and is appointed by a positive vote 

from a majority of all the Members of Council. 

 

A person cannot be “independent” if they – 

 

12.1 Are, or have been within the past 5 years, a member, co-opted 

member or officer of the authority; 

 

12.2 Are or have been within the past 5 years, a member, co-opted 

member or officer of a town/parish council within the authority’s 

area, or 

 

12.3 Are a relative, or close friend, of a person within paragraph 12.1 or 

12.2 above. For this purpose, “relative” means – 

 

12.3.1 Spouse or civil partner; 

 

12.3.2 Living with the other person as husband and wife or as if 

they were civil partners; 

 

12.3.3 Grandparent of the other person; 

 

12.3.4 A lineal descendent of a grandparent of the other person; 

 

12.3.5 A parent, sibling or child of a person within paragraphs 

12.3.1 or 12.3.2; 

 

12.3.6 A spouse or civil partner of a person within paragraphs 

12.3.3, 12.3.4 or 11.3.5; or 

 

12.3.7 Living with a person within paragraphs 12.3.3, 12.3.4 or 

12.3.5 as husband and wife or as if they were civil 

partners. 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 80



9 

 

 

13 Revision of these arrangements 

 

The Council may by resolution agree to amend these arrangements, and has 

delegated to the Chair of the Standards Hearings Sub Committee the right to 

depart from these arrangements where they consider that it is expedient to 

do so in order to secure the effective and fair consideration of any matter. 

 

14 Appeals 

 

There is no right of appeal for you as complainant or for the Subject Member 

against a decision of the Monitoring Officer or of the Standards Hearings Sub 

Committee. 

 

If the complainant feels that the authority has failed procedurally to deal with 

the complaint properly, a complaint may be made to the Local Government 

Ombudsman.  

 

 

Part One  Initial test and Assessment Criteria 

 

Part Two  Procedure for Investigations 

 

Part Three     Procedure for Standards Hearings Sub Committee 

 

Part Four                Complaint Form 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 81



Page 82

This page is intentionally left blank



PART 1 to Appendix 4 

Criteria for Assessment of Complaints against Members relating to the Code of Conduct 

 

All the criteria used for the assessment of complaints against Members in respect of the Code of 

Conduct apply to all relevant codes not just those of Sevenoaks District Council. 

 

Initial Intake test 

Before assessment of a complaint begins, the complaint has to meet the following tests: 

 Tick 

box 

It is a complaint against one or more named Members of Sevenoaks District 

Council or one or more named Members of one of the Parish/Town Councils 

within the Sevenoaks District Council area. 

 

 

The Subject Member was a Member at the time of the alleged conduct. 

 
 

The behaviour took place within the last 90 days. 

 
 

The complainant has given their name and address. 

 
 

The complaint is a substantive allegation under the Code rather than  a 

service, officer or a statement of policy disagreement,  
 

 

The complaint is not an allegation that could constitute a criminal offence 

(Section 34 of the Localism Act 2011) 

 

The complaint is not being dealt with by the police, ombudsman or another 

complaint process (in this case the complaint will not be processed until after 

the other process has been completed). 

 

 

The complaint is not being made within 6 weeks prior to an election (no action 

will be taken in relation to any complaint within this period). 

 

 

The complaint is not the same or substantially similar to a complaint that has 

already been assessed even if this was prior to 1st July 2012. 

 

 

 

If the complaint fails one or more of these tests it cannot be considered for Assessment and the 

complainant will be informed that no further action will be taken in respect of the complaint.  The 

Subject Member concerned will also be told of the complaint and that it had failed the Initial 

Intake test. The Monitoring Officer may advise the complainant that the complaint needs to be 

referred elsewhere, if appropriate. 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 83



 

Assessment test 

The Subject Member concerned will be informed of the complaint by being sent a copy of the 

complaint together with all supporting documentation and given the opportunity to respond. 

The allegations will then be considered by the Monitoring Officer, together with the appointed 

Independent Person.  A complaint will be considered in relation to the following criteria:- 

Sufficiency of Complaint  

• Does the complaint state sufficient and detailed information as regards the allegation and 

alleged misconduct to sustain a breach of the Code of Conduct 

• Does the complaint and related documents include sufficient independent evidence 

supporting the claim and establishing the facts on which it is based such as witness 

statements and documentary evidence to show a reasonable prospect of establishing a 

breach of the Code of Conduct   

• Can it be shown that the Subject Member was acting in a public capacity 

• Can it be shown that the behaviour falls within the relevant Code of Conduct 

 

Evidence 

 

• Is the evidence sufficiently reliable i.e. is it first hand evidence or hearsay evidence 

• What weight can be given to the evidence 

• Is the evidence relevant to the alleged breach 

• Could any further evidence be revealed by an investigation 

 

Suitability for Investigation 

 

• Is it sufficiently serious 

• Would an investigation serve any useful purpose 

• Have the circumstances changed 

• Is it serious enough to warrant a sanction 

• Is the conduct seriously and unreasonably disrupting the business of the authority 

• How long ago did the alleged conduct occur 

• Is an investigation likely to prove on the balance of probability that a breach took place 

• Is it likely that an investigation will prove only a technical or inadvertent breach 

• Has the same or a substantially similar complaint already been the subject of an 

investigation 

• Is the complaint really about dissatisfaction with a Council decision 

• Is the complaint about the administrative practices of the Council rather than a 

Member’s behaviour 

 

Extenuating Circumstances 

 

• Has the issue been publicised in the local press 

• Is the complaint malicious 

• Is the complaint minor 

• Is the complaint tit for tat  

• Is the case politically motivated 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 84



Possible Defences 

 

• Was the breach made in all innocence i.e. without knowledge 

• Are there strong mitigating circumstances  

• Was there provocation   

 

In order to facilitate the making of a decision the following definitions are given:- 

 

• Lack of respect means derogatory comments that are aimed at a person or their 

personal qualities.  However Members should be able to express disagreement 

publically with each other and have the freedom to disagree with the views and 

opinions of others. 

• Bullying or intimidation means offensive, intimidating, malicious or insulting 

behaviour, an abuse or misuse of power through means that undermine, humiliate, 

denigrate, or injure the recipient (Advisory, Conciliation and Arbitration Service (Acas)).  

Such conduct is unlikely to be considered as bullying when it is an isolated incident of 

a minor nature or when the behaviour by both the complainant and the Subject 

Member contributed equally to the breakdown in relations. 

The Monitoring Officer will evaluate and weigh up the above criteria in reaching a decision.  The 

Monitoring Officer will make one of the following decisions:- 

• No further action 

• Attempt informal resolution 

• Recommend formal investigation 

The complainant, the Subject Member concerned and the relevant Town/Parish Clerk (if 

applicable) will be informed of the outcome. 

There may be certain complaints where the Monitoring Officer feels the need to make a referral 

to the Standards Assessment Working Party.  Such referrals will take place according to the 

criteria set out below. 

 

 

 

Criteria for referral to the Standards Assessment Working Party 

 

• It is of an extremely sensitive nature or other similarly exceptional circumstances exist which 

justify departure from the arrangements and the Monitoring Officer and Independent Person 

must set those reasons out so they can be scrutinised. 

• It involves the Leadership of the Council or the Opposition 

• It involves the Chairman of the Council 

• Complaints are from the Chief Executive, Chief Financial Officer or the Monitoring Officer 

• There is a significant conflict of interest on the basis that the Monitoring Officer has 

previously advised the Member on the matter. 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 85



Page 86

This page is intentionally left blank



Part 2 to Appendix 4 

PROCEDURE FOR INVESTIGATING THE COMPLAINT 

 

1. Preliminaries 

1.1 The Investigating Officer will be appointed by the Monitoring Officer and will be aware 
of their obligations under the Data Protection Act 1998, the Human Rights Act 1998 

and other relevant legislation. 

1.2 The Investigating Officer is responsible for gathering all the facts, documents and, 
where applicable, for interviewing witnesses with knowledge of the facts, and they 

should remain objective, impartial and unbiased at all times.   

1.3 The Subject Member and the Complainant will be advised that the investigation is for 
fact finding purposes only.  

1.4 Witnesses will be identified at the investigation stage and their evidence supported by 
signed and dated witness statements and/or notes of interview with the Investigating 

Officer.  The Investigating Officer cannot compel the attendance of witnesses or their 

co-operation.   

1.5 The Investigating Officer will not make recommendations on sanctions. 

1.6 Within 10 working days of being appointed, the Investigating Officer will notify the 
Subject Member and the Complainant of their appointment and:  

(a) detail the procedure to be followed in respect of the investigation and the relevant 
timescales for responses and concluding the investigation; 

(b) detail the sections of the Code of Conduct that appear to be relevant to the 
complaint; 

(c) request contact details of any potential witnesses; 

(d) require that confidentiality is maintained and that the complaint not be disclosed to 
any third party, unless disclosure is to a representative, witness, immediate family 

members or otherwise as may be required by law or regulation - the fact that an 

investigation is being conducted does not need to remain confidential. 

1.7 It may be necessary for the Investigating Officer to agree with the Subject Member 

which documents will be submitted in evidence. This will generally include documents 

that will be relied on, or in support of, the Subject Member’s case and which are 

relevant to the complaint.   

1.8 The Investigating Officer may terminate their investigation at any point, where they are 

satisfied that they have sufficient information to enable them to report to the 

Monitoring Officer. 

2. The draft report  

2.1 On the conclusion of their investigation and/or when the Investigating Officer is 

satisfied that they have sufficient information or has obtained as much information as 

is likely to be reasonably capable of being obtained, the Investigating Officer will issue 

a draft report (clearly labelled DRAFT) to the Monitoring Officer for review.   

2.2 Following review of the draft report by the Monitoring Officer, the draft report will be 

sent in confidence to the Subject Member and the Complainant (not witnesses) for 

comment.  The draft report will be marked ‘confidential’ and will detail: 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 87



(a) the relevant provisions of the law and the relevant paragraphs of the Code 

of Conduct; 

(b) a summary of the complaint; 

(c) the Subject Member’s response to the complaint; 

(d) relevant information, explanations, etc, which the Investigation Officer has 

obtained in the course of the investigation; 

(e) a list of any documents relevant to the matter; 

(f) a list of those persons/organisations who have been interviewed; 

(g) a statement of the Investigating Officer’s draft findings of fact and reasons; 

(h) the Investigating Officer’s conclusion as to whether the Subject Member has 

or has not failed to comply with the Authority’s Code of Conduct; 

(i) that the Investigating Officer will present a final report once they have 

considered any comments received on the draft. 

2.3  Once the Investigating Officer has determined that the responses received from the 

Subject Member and/or the Complainant add nothing of substance to the 

investigation, they will finalise the draft report and make their final conclusions and 

recommendations to the Monitoring Officer.  The report will be clearly labelled FINAL.  

3. Consideration of Investigating Officer’s final report   

3.1 The Monitoring Officer will review the Investigating Officer’s final report and any 

comments submitted by the Parties, in consultation with the Independent Person. 

3.2 Where, on the basis of the Investigating Officer’s report, the Monitoring Officer, having 

consulted with the Independent Person, concludes that there is no evidence of a 

failure to comply with the Code of Conduct; they will inform the Parties in writing that 

no further action is considered necessary. There is no right of appeal against the 

Monitoring Officer’s decision. 

3.3 Where, on the basis of the Investigating Officer’s report, the Monitoring Officer, having 

consulted with the Independent Person, concludes that there is evidence of a failure to 

comply with the Code of Conduct, they will either seek informal resolution or refer the 

matter for consideration by the Standards Hearing Sub Committee in accordance with 

the relevant procedure detailed in Part 3. 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 88



PART 3 to Appendix 4 

STANDARDS HEARINGS SUB COMMITTEE PROCEDURE 

The complainant and the Subject Member can request that the hearing takes place by 

way of written submissions rather than a formal hearing undertaken by the Standards 

Hearings Sub Committee.  This can only take place with the agreement of both the 

complainant and Subject Member. 

1. Rules of procedure 

1.1 The Standards Hearings Sub Committee consists of three voting elected Members 

drawn from the Standards Committee.   

1.2 The quorum for a meeting of the Standards Hearings Sub Committee is three 

elected Members. 

1.3    The Independent Person’s view must be sought and taken into consideration before 

the Standards Hearings Sub Committee takes any decision on whether the Subject 

Member’s conduct constitutes a failure to comply with the Code of Conduct and as 

to any sanction to be taken following a finding of failure to comply with the Code of 

Conduct. The Independent Person must be present throughout the hearing (but not 

during the deliberations of the Standards Hearings Sub Committee] in private) or 

may submit their views on the complaint to the Standards Hearings Sub Committee 

in writing.   

1.4 The legal requirements for publishing agendas, minutes and calling meetings, will 

apply to the Standards Hearings Sub Committee.  The hearing will be held in public 

no earlier than 14 working days after the Monitoring Officer has copied the 

Investigating Officer’s final report to the complainant and the Subject Member. 

Schedule 12A Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) will be applied where it is 

necessary to exclude the public and press from meetings of the Standards Hearings 

Sub Committee because it is likely that confidential or exempt information will be 

disclosed.   

1.5 All matters/issues before the Standards Hearings Sub Committee will be decided 

by a simple majority of votes cast.   

1.6 Where the Subject Member fails to attend the Standards Hearings Sub Committee 

and where the Standards Hearings Sub Committee is not satisfied with their 

explanation for their absence from the hearing, the Standards Hearings Sub 

Committee may in the first instance, have regard to any written representations 

submitted by the Subject Member and may resolve to proceed with the hearing in 

the Subject Member’s absence and make a determination.  If the Standards 

Hearings Sub Committee is satisfied with the Subject Member’s reasons for not 

attending the hearing they may adjourn the hearing to another date or, may resolve 

in exceptional circumstances, to proceed with the hearing on the basis that it is in 

the public interest to hear the allegations expeditiously.  

2. Right to be accompanied by a representative  

The Subject Member may choose to be accompanied and/or represented at the 

Standards Hearings Sub Committee by a fellow councillor, friend or colleague or 

legal counsel.   

Agenda Item 6a

Page 89



3. The conduct of the Standards Hearings Sub Committee  

3.1 Subject to paragraph 3.2 below, the order of business will be as follows: 

(a) appointment of a chairman 

(b) apologies for absence; 

(c) declarations of interests; 

(d) in the absence of the Subject Member, consideration as to whether to adjourn 

or to proceed with the hearing (refer to paragraph 1.6 above); 

(e) introduction by the Chairman, of members of the Standards Hearings Sub 

Committee, the Independent Person, the Monitoring Officer, Investigating 

Officer, complainant and the Subject Member and their representative; 

(f) to receive representations from the Monitoring Officer and/or Subject Member 

as to whether any part of the hearing should be held in private and/or whether 

any documents (or parts thereof) should be withheld from the public/press; 

(g) to determine whether the public/press are to be excluded from any part of the 

meeting and/or whether any documents (or parts thereof) should be withheld 

from the public/press. 

3.2 The Chairman may exercise their discretion and amend the order of business, 

where they consider that it is expedient to do so in order to secure the effective and 

fair consideration of any matter. 

3.3 The Standards Hearings Sub Committee may adjourn the hearing at any time. 

3.4 Presentation of the complaint 

(a) The Investigating Officer presents their report including any documentary 

evidence or other material and calls any complainant witnesses; 

(b) The Standards Hearings Sub Committee may question the Investigating Officer 

upon the content of his/her report and any complainant witnesses. 

3.5 Presentation of the Subject Member’s case 

(a) The Subject Member or their representative presents their case and calls their 

witnesses; 

(b) The Standards Hearings Sub Committee may question the Subject Member and 

any witnesses called by the Subject Member. 

3.6       Views/Submissions of the Independent Person 

The Chairman will invite the Independent Person to express their view on whether 

they consider that on the facts presented to the Standards Hearings Sub 

Committee, there has been a breach of the Code of Conduct or no breach as the 

case may be. 

3.7 Deliberations of the Standards Hearings Sub Committee 

3.7.1(a) The Standards Hearings Sub Committee will adjourn the hearing and deliberate 

in private (assisted on matters of law by a legal advisor) to consider whether on 

the facts found, the Subject Member has failed to comply with the Code of 

Conduct. 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 90



(b) The Standards Hearings Sub Committee will consider the views expressed by 

the Independent Person prior to reaching a decision(s), including any views of 

the Independent Person on sanction(s) to be applied [and/or recommendations 

to the District or Town/Parish Council or Monitoring Officer.  

(c) The Standards Hearing Sub Committee when making its decision will consider 

the criteria set out in Part 1 – Assessment test. 

(d) Where the complaint has a number of aspects, the Standards Hearings Sub 

Committee may reach a finding, apply a sanction and/or make a 

recommendation on each aspect separately.  

(e) The Standards Hearings Sub Committee will make its decision on the balance of 

probability, based on the evidence before it during the hearing. 

(f) The Standards Hearings Sub Committee may at any time come out of private 

session and reconvene the hearing in public, in order to seek additional 

evidence from the Investigating Officer, the Subject Member or the witnesses.  

If further information to assist the Standards Hearing Sub Committee cannot be 

presented, then the Standards Hearing Sub Committee may adjourn the hearing 

and issue directions as to the additional evidence required and by whom.  

(g)   If evidence presented to the Standards Hearings Sub Committee highlights other 

potential breaches of the District or Town/Parish Council’s Code of Conduct, 

then the Chairman will outline the Standards Hearing Sub Committee’s 

concerns and recommend that the matter be referred to the Monitoring Officer 

as a ‘new complaint’.   

3.7.2 (a) Having deliberated on its decision and/or recommendation(s) and the 

application of any sanction(s), the Standards Hearings Sub Committee will 

reconvene the hearing in public and the Chairman will announce that on the 

facts presented to the Standards Hearing Sub Committee, the Standards 

Hearing Sub Committee considers that there has been a breach of the Code of 

Conduct, or no breach, as the case may be.  The Chairman will announce the 

sanction(s) the Sub Committee is minded to apply and/or any 

recommendation(s) to the District or Town/Parish Council and/or Monitoring 

Officer. 

(b) The Chairman will invite the Independent Person, the Subject Member and the 

Monitoring Officer to make their representations as to whether any sanction(s) 

should be taken and what form any sanction(s) should take.  The Independent 

Person will be invited to express their view on any recommendation(s) to the 

District or Town/Parish Council or Monitoring Officer.  

Having heard the representations/views, the Standards Hearings Sub 

Committee will adjourn and deliberate in private. 

3.7.3 (a) Having deliberated on its decision and/or recommendation(s) and the 

application of any sanction(s), and having taken into account the Independent 

Person’s views, the Standards Hearings Sub Committee will reconvene the 

hearing in public and the Chairman will announce: 

(i) the Sub Committee’s decision that the Subject Member has failed to comply 

with the Code of Conduct; or, that the Subject Member has not failed to 

comply with the Code of Conduct and the principal reasons for the decision; 

(ii) the sanction(s) to be applied; 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 91



(iii) whether any recommendations will be made to the District or Town/Parish 

Council;  

(iv) that the Sub Committee’s full decision and reasons will be issued by the 

Monitoring Officer, in writing, within 10 working days following the close of 

the hearing; 

(v) that the decision will be published on the District Council’s website; and 

(vi) that there is no right of appeal against the Sub Committee’s decision(s) 

and/or recommendation(s). 

3.7.4 The Standards Hearings Sub Committee’s decision and/or recommendations 

will be published in accordance with paragraph 5 of this Part 3. 

4. Range of possible sanctions  

4.1 Subject to paragraph 4.4 below, where the Standards Hearings Sub Committee 

determines that the Subject Member has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct, 

any one or more of the sanctions set out in paragraph 1.5 of the document entitled 

“Arrangements for dealing with Code of Conduct Complaints under the Localism Act 

2011”. 

4.2 The Standards Hearings Sub Committee has no power to suspend or disqualify the 

Subject Member or to withdraw basic or special responsibility allowances. 

4.3 The Standards Hearings Sub Committee may specify that any sanction take effect 

immediately or take effect at a later date and that the sanction be time limited. 

4.4 When deciding whether to apply one or more sanctions referred to in paragraph 4.1 

above, the Standards Hearings Sub Committee will ensure that the application of 

any sanction is reasonable and proportionate to the Subject Member’s behaviour 

and that any sanction does not unduly restrict the Subject Member’s ability to 

perform the functions of a councillor.  The Standards Hearings Sub Committee will 

consider the following questions along with any other relevant circumstances or 

other factors specific to the local environment and/or the Conventions 

‘proportionality’ requirements:  

(a) What was the Subject Member’s intention and did they know that they were 

failing to follow the District or Town/Parish Council’s Code of Conduct? 

(b) Did the Subject Member receive advice from officers before the incident and 

was that advice acted on in good faith? 

(c) Has there been a breach of trust? 

(d) Has there been financial impropriety, e.g. improper expense claims or 

procedural irregularities? 

(e) What was the result/impact of failing to follow the District or Town/Parish 

Council’s Code of Conduct? 

(f) How serious was the incident? 

(g) Does the Subject Member accept that they were at fault? 

(h) Did the Subject Member apologise to the relevant persons? 

(i) Has the Subject Member previously been reprimanded or warned for similar 

relevant misconduct? 

(j) Has there been a relevant previous breach of the District or Town/Parish 
Council’s Code of Conduct? 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 92



(k) Is there likely to be a repetition of the incident? 

(l) Was it a deliberate  breach of the code or was it inadvertent (i.e. the Member 

thought that he/she was acting in a private capacity)?  If capacity is an issue the 

Standards Hearings Sub Committee will need to give reasons for its decision 

that the Subject Member was or was not acting publicly.   

5. Publication and notification of the Standards Hearings Sub Committee’s decision(s) 

and/or recommendation(s) 

5.1 Within 10 working days of the Standards Hearings Sub Committee’s announcement 

of its decision and/or recommendations, the Monitoring Officer will publish the name 

of the Subject Member and a summary of the Standards Hearings Sub Committee’s 

decision and/or recommendations and reasons for the decision and/or 

recommendations on the District Council’s website. 

5.2 Within 10 working days of the announcement of the Standards Hearings Sub 

Committee’s decision, the Monitoring Officer will provide a full written decision and 

the reasons for the decision including any recommendations in the format of the 

decision notice template annexed to this Part 3 to: 

(a) the Subject Member; 

(b) the Complainant; 

(c) the Clerk to the Town/Parish Council; 

5.3 The Monitoring Officer will report the Standards Hearings Sub Committee’s decision 

and/or recommendations to the next ordinary meeting of the Standards Committee 

for information. 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 93



TEMPLATE - DECISION NOTICE (of Standards Hearings Sub Committee) 

 

Complaint No: xxxx 

On [insert date], the Standards Hearings Sub Committee of The Sevenoaks District Council 

considered a report of an investigation into the alleged conduct of Councillor [insert name 

of councillor], a member of [insert authority name].  A general summary of the complaint is 

set out below.  

Complaint summary 

[Summarise complaint in numbered paragraphs as set out in the Investigating Officer’s 

report to the Standards Hearings Sub Committee] 

Consultation with Independent Person 

[Summarise the Independent Person’s views in numbered paragraphs] 

Findings  

After considering the submissions of the parties to the hearing and the views of the 

Independent Person, the Standards Hearings Sub Committee reached the following 

decision(s): 

[Summarise the finding of facts and the Standards Hearings Sub Committee’s decision 

against each finding of fact in numbered paragraphs as set out in the Investigating Officer’s 

report to the Standards Hearings Sub Committee, but substitute the Investigating Officer for 

the Standards Hearings Sub Committee.  Please note that the Standards Hearings Sub 

Committee’s findings may differ from that of the Investigating Officer] 

The Standards Hearings Sub Committee also made the following recommendation(s) 

[Detail recommendations] 

Sanctions applied 

The breach of the [insert authority name] Code of Conduct warrants a [detail sanctions 

applied]. 

Appeal 

There is no right of appeal against the Standards Hearings Sub Committee’s decision. 

Notification of decision 

This decision notice is sent to the: 

• Councillor [name of councillor] 

• Complainant 

• Clerk to the xxxx Parish/Town Council; 

Additional help 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 94



If you need additional support in relation to this decision notice or future contact with the 

District Council, please let us know as soon as possible.  If you have difficulty reading this 

notice, we can make reasonable adjustments to assist you, in line with the requirements of 

the Equality Act 2010. We can also help if English is not your first language.  Please refer to 

the attached Community Interpreting Service leaflet or contact our Customer Services on 

01732 227000 or email information@sevenoaks.gov.uk.  We welcome calls via Typetalk  

 

Signed:        Date   

 

Print name: 

 

Chairman of the Standards Hearings Sub Committee Sevenoaks District Council, 

Argyle Road, 

Sevenoaks, 

TN13 1HG 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 95



Page 96

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

PART 4 to Appendix 4 

COMPLAINT FORM 
 

1. Your Details - Please provide us with your name and contact details 

 

Title:       

First name:       

Last name:       

Address:       

 

 

 

Daytime telephone:       

Evening telephone:       

Mobile telephone:       

Email address:       

 

Your address and contact details will not usually be released unless necessary or 

to deal with your complaint.  

 

However, we will tell the following people that you have made this complaint: 

 

• The member(s) you are complaining about (Subject Member) 

• The parish or town clerk (if applicable) 

 

and the Monitoring Officer will be aware of your complaint. 

 

We will tell them your name and give them a summary of your complaint. We will 

give them full details of your complaint and  the Subject Member(s) concerned will 

be given the right of reply to your complaint, before Initial Assessment.  

 

2. Please tell us  which complainant type best describes you: 

 Member of the public 

 An elected or co-opted member of an authority 

 An independent member of the Standards Committee 

 Member of Parliament 

 Other Council Officer or authority employee  

 Other (     ) 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 97



 

3. Please provide us with the name of the member(s) you believe have breached the 

Code of Conduct and the name of their authority: 

 

Title First name Last name Council or authority name 

                        

                        

                        

                        

 

4. Making your complaint 

Please explain in this section (or on separate sheets) what the Subject Member 

has done that you believe breaches the relevant Code of Conduct of the District 

Council or the particular Town/Parish Council. If you are complaining about more 

than one member you should clearly explain what each individual person has 

done that you believe breaches the Code of Conduct. 

 

Please provide us with the details of your complaint setting out the specific Code 

provisions you believe have been breached and how the conduct breaches the Code. 

You must submit with the complaint supporting witness statements and evidence. If 

these are not provided the Council may not investigate on your behalf.   

Continue on a separate sheet if there is not enough space on this form. 

 

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
It is important that you provide all the information you wish to have taken into 

account when it is decided whether to take any action on your complaint.  

For example: 

Have you been specific, wherever possible, about exactly what you 

are alleging the member said or did.  

YES/NO 

Have you provided the dates of the alleged incidents wherever 

possible. If you cannot provide exact dates it is important to give a 

general timeframe 

YES/NO 

Have you confirmed whether there are any witnesses to the 

alleged conduct and provided their names and contact details if 

possible. 

YES/NO 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 98



Have you provided all relevant background information and 

evidence 

YES/NO 

Did the behaviour take place within the last 90 days. YES/NO 

Have you sent the complaint to the police, ombudsman or another 

complaint process 

YES/NO 

PLEASE 

PROVIDE 

DETAILS IF YES 

 

Name of Witness(es) Address of Witness(es) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. Initial Tests 
 

Before assessment of a complaint begins, the complaint has to meet the tests set 

out in Part 1 entitled “Criteria for Assessment of Complaints against Members in 

respect of the Code of Conduct” 

 

If the complaint fails one or more of the Initial Intake tests set out in Part 1 entitled 

“Criteria for Assessment of Complaints against Members in respect of the Code of 

Conduct” it cannot be considered for Assessment and the complainant will be 

informed that no further action will be taken in respect of the complaint. The 

member(s) concerned will also be told of the complaint and that it had failed Initial 

Intake. 

 

Furthermore, if you identify witnesses yet fail to provide witness statements or claim 

that there is supporting evidence but fail to supply it the complaint may not meet the 

Initial Intake tests for acceptance or satisfy Assessment tests when the merits are 

considered. 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 99



If you have any queries please direct these to the Monitoring Officer, on 01732 

227180 

6. Additional Help 
 

Complaints must be submitted in writing. This includes fax and electronic 

submissions. However, in line with the requirements of the Disability 

Discrimination Act 2000, we can make reasonable adjustments to assist you if 

you have a disability that prevents you from making your complaint in writing.  

 

We can also help if English is not your first language.  

 

If you need any support in completing this form, please let us know as soon as 

possible. 

 

Help will be given in assisting a complainant who has a disability that prevents them from 

making a complaint in writing.  Please contact the Monitoring Officer on 01732 227245 

if you need such assistance. 

 

This publication is available in large print.  For a copy telephone 01732 227162.  If you 

need help understanding the publication we can arrange for an interpreter to help you.  

Please call on 01732 227180 stating your language and telephone number. 

……………………………………………………………….. 

To return the completed form: 

e-mail to: members.conduct@sevenoaks.gov.uk (please save a copy for your 

records) 

Fax: 01732 740693 

Paper copy to: The Monitoring Officer 

   C/o  The Standards Committee, Sevenoaks District Council 

   Argyle Road, Sevenoaks, Kent  TN13 1HG 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 100



Page 1 of Appendix V 

 

Appendix 5 

Procedure for making a recommendation for the 

Appointment of an Independent Person  

 

The Council will appoint at least one person to fulfil the role of the Independent Person 

under Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011. 

A panel consisting of the leaders of the political groups of the Council shall set the 

remuneration and expenses for the Independent Person and any reserve and shall 

interview candidates and make a recommendation to Council for appointment. 

The Monitoring Officer shall publicly advertise for candidates for the Independent Person 

and a possible reserve, using the attached Job Description and Person Specification. 

The panel will meet to interview candidates. 

After the interviews have taken place, and the interviewees have left, the panel will then 

make a decision on who is the preferred applicant(s) to be recommended to Council. 

Appointment at Council shall be by a majority of all members of the Council (at least 28 

members in favour), not just of those attending or voting. 

The Standards Committee shall review the remuneration and expenses for the 

Independent Person and any reserve on an annual basis. 

After the initial appointment, the appointment of an Independent Person will take place 

at Annual Council in May each year. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 101



 

 

JOB DESCRIPTION FORM 

 

Post Details 

 

Post Title: Independent Person for the Sevenoaks District Council 

 

Post Holder: Vacant (new position) 

 

Reports To: Monitoring Officer and Members 

 

 

 

Job Purpose The postholder will be the Council’s Independent Person for the purposes of s28 of the 

Localism Act 2011 and will assist the Council and its Members to deal with any allegation 

that a Member has breached the Code of Conduct of the Council, or of the relevant 

Town/Parish Council. 

 

 

 

 

Principal Accountabilities 1. To give views to the Council before it takes its decision on any allegation that it has 

investigated that a Member has breached the Code of Conduct of the Council, or of the 

relevant Town/Parish Council. 

2. To give views to the Council on any allegation that a Member has breached the 

Code of Conduct, in other circumstances at its request.  

3. To give views to any Member of the Council, or of any Town/Parish Council within 

the Council’s area who is the subject of an allegation that he or she has breached the 

Code of Conduct, at the request of that Member.  

 

 

 

 

Job Context: The postholder’s duties are likely to be very occasional.  He or she will be working 

essentially on a voluntary basis, but will be paid an annual retainer and reimbursed for 

travel expenses whenever required to carry out any duties. 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 102



 

After the initial appointment, any subsequent appointment will take place at Annual 

Council in May each year. 

 

To apply for the post applicants must live or work within the vicinity of the area served 

by the Council. The applicant must not be as follows:- 

1.  a member, co-opted member or officer of the authority; 

2. A member, co-opted member or officer of a parish council of which the 

authority is the principal authority, or  

3. A relative or close friend, of a person within (1) and (2) above. 

The persons set out in (1), (2), (3) above may not be appointed if at any time during 

the five years ending with the appointment the person was:- 

1. a member, co-opted member or officer of the authority; 

2. A member, co-opted member or officer of a parish council of which the 

authority is the principal authority. 

Notwithstanding these legislative requirements as set out in The Localism Act 2011, 

the transitional arrangements under The Localism Act 2011 (Commencement No. 6 

and Transitional, Savings and Transitory Provisions) Order 2012 do allow that a 

person  may be appointed if that person is:- 

1. not a member or co-opted member of the Standards Committee of the 

relevant authority on 1st July 2012: but 

2. has held such a post at any time during the five years ending on 30th June 

2012. 

This only applies in relation to appointments made before 1st July 2013. 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by:  

 

Date:  

Approved by:  

 

Date:  

Post Holder:  

 

Date:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 103



 

 

  

PERSON SPECIFICATION FORM  

 

Post Title: Independent Person for the Sevenoaks District Council 

 

Post Holder: Vacant (new position) 

 

Reports To: Monitoring Officer and Members 

 

 

 

Knowledge Include specific knowledge that is important for the post holder to have in 

order to perform the role e.g. financial processes, systems, environmental 

issues. 

Essential 

 

Desirable 

1. Good understanding of the ethical standards required of people 

holding public office and the impact of ethical issues within a local 

authority context. 

 

 

1. An understanding of the workings of 

the Sevenoaks District Council, its aims 

and objectives and the operations of the 

Town/Parish Councils within its area.. 

 

 

 

Skills The post holder will require a certain  level of these skills in order for the 

purpose of this role to be achieved e.g. communication skills, specific systems 

skills, negotiation skills etc. 

Essential 

 

Desirable 

 

1. A calm, rational approach to problem solving which considers 

detailed evidence to reach a balanced judgement.  

 

2. Good interpersonal skills, demonstrated through a considered, 

measured and consultative approach when dealing with potentially 

difficult or complex issues. 

 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 104



 

 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 105



 

Qualifications Academic or professional qualifications that would be important to the 

performance of this role. 

Essential 

 

Desirable 

1. High degree of personal integrity. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Experience Include any past experience the post holder could have that would help them 

perform this role e.g. working within the community, organisation of events, 

voluntary work etc. 

Essential 

 

Desirable 

 

1. Experience in dealing with difficult issues which need 

constructive and sensitive solutions. 

 

2. Experience of dealing with issues of ethical conduct in 

employment or public service. 

 

 

 

 

1. Experience of working in or with local 

authority bodies. 

2. Experience of partnership working, 

where politically or ethically sensitive 

issues have to be considered. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepared by:  

 

Date:  

Approved by:  

 

Date:  

Post Holder:  

 

Date:  

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 106



Page 1 of 10  

APPENDIX 6 

Notification of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 

[Sevenoaks District Council] 

 
 
To the Monitoring Officer: 

 

Surname:    

Forename(s) in full):   

Address:  

I am completing this form because on [                    ] 

• I was elected as a member of the Sevenoaks District           ] Council* 

� I was co-opted as a member of a committee or sub-committee of the [                ] Council* 

� the Council adopted a new code of conduct* 

� there was a change in my interests and this form supersedes and replaces the form 

registered by you on [                ]* 

*Delete as appropriate 

 
IMPORTANT NOTES 

 

(1) The requirement to notify the Monitoring Officer of a disclosable pecuniary interest 

applies not only to your own interests but also those of your husband/wife/civil partner, 

or a person with whom you are living as husband/wife or as if you are civil partners, 

where you are aware that the other person has the interest. 

 

The term ‘relevant person’ therefore means you and any other person referred to above. 

 

(2) Details of your notified interests will appear in the Members’ Register of Interests and 

will be published on the [Sevenoaks District Council]’s website, and open to public 

inspection. 

 

(3) If you consider that the disclosure of the details of any of your interests could lead to 

you, or a person connected with you, being subject to violent or intimidation, and you 

would like to withhold these details from the register of interests, please provide this 

information to the Monitoring Officer and explain your concerns regarding the disclosure 

of the sensitive information, including why it is likely to create such a risk.  If the 

Monitoring Officer agrees, the information will not be included in copies of the register 

made available for inspection, or any published version of the register. 

 

Further explanatory notes are included at the end of this notification. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 107



Page 2 of 10  

Part A: Employment  

1.  Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain 

 

 

You 

 

 

Husband/wife/civil partner or a person with 

whom you are living as husband/wife or as if 

you are civil partners 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Part B: Sponsorship 

Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the [Sevenoaks District 

Council]) made or provided within the relevant period* in respect of any expenses incurred by you 

in carrying out duties as a member, or towards the election expenses of yourself. This includes 

any payment or financial benefit from a trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and 

Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992 

 

*‘relevant period’ means the period of 12 months ending with the day on which you give a 

notification for the purposes of section 30(1) or section 31(7), as the case may be, of the 

Localism Act 2011 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 108



Page 3 of 10  

Part C: Contracts 

Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a body in which the relevant person 

has a beneficial interest*) and [Sevenoaks District Council]— 

(a)  under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and 

(b)  which has not been fully discharged 

*“body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in which the relevant 

person is a partner or a body corporate of which the relevant person is a director, or in the 

securities of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest; 

“director” includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and provident 

society; 

 

 

You 

 

 

Husband/wife/civil partner or a person with 

whom you are living as husband/wife or as if 

you are civil partners 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Part D: Land 

Any beneficial interest in land* which is within the area of the [Sevenoaks District Council] 

*“land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not carry 

with it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land or to 

receive income 

 
 

You 

 

 

Husband/wife/civil partner or a person with 

whom you are living as husband/wife or as if 

you are civil partners 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Part E: Licences 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 109



Page 4 of 10  

Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land* in the area of the relevant authority for a 

month or longer 

*“land” excludes an easement, servitude, interest or right in or over land which does not carry 

with it a right for the relevant person (alone or jointly with another) to occupy the land or to 

receive income 

 

 

You 

 

 

Husband/wife/civil partner or a person with 

whom you are living as husband/wife or as if 

you are civil partners 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Part F: Corporate Tenancies 

Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)— 

(a)  the landlord is [Sevenoaks District Council]; and 

(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest 

*“body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest” means a firm in which the relevant 

person is a partner or a body corporate of which the relevant person is a director, or in the 

securities of which the relevant person has a beneficial interest 

“director” includes a member of the committee of management of an industrial and provident 

society 

 

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective 

investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other 

securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building society 

 

 

You 

 

 

Husband/ wife/civil partner or a person with 

whom you are living as husband/wife or as if 

you are civil partners 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Part G: Securities 

Any beneficial interest in securities* of a body where— 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 110



Page 5 of 10  

 

(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
[Sevenoaks District Council]; and 

 

(b) either— 
 

(i)  the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 (face value) or one hundredth 

(1/100th ) of the total issued share capital of that body; or  

 

(ii)  if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal value of the 

shares of any one class in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds one 

hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class 

 

*“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a collective 

investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 and other 

securities of any description, other than money deposited with a building society 

 

 

You 

 

 

Husband/ wife/civil partner or a person with 

whom you are living as husband/wife or as if 

you are civil partners 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Part H: Declarations 

IMPORTANT 

It is a criminal offence to fail to notify the monitoring officer of any disclosable pecuniary 

interests (DPIs). This requirement arises in each of the following circumstances: 

(a) before the end of 28 days beginning with the day on which you become a member or co-

opted member of the authority (s30(1) Localism Act 2011));  

(b) where the DPI is not entered in the authority’s register and is not the subject of a 

pending notification, but is disclosed at a meeting of the authority (or any committee, 

sub-committee, joint committee or joint sub-committee) as required by s31(2) of the 

Localism Act, within 28 days beginning with the date of the disclosure (s31(3) Localism 

Act 2011));  

(c) where the DPI is not entered in the authority’s register and is not the subject of a 

pending notification, within 28 days beginning with the date when you become aware 

that you have a DPI in any matter to be dealt with, or being dealt with, by you acting 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 111



Page 6 of 10  

alone in the course of discharging a function of the authority (s31(7) Localism Act 

2011)). 

It is also a criminal offence to knowingly provide information that is false or misleading (or being 

reckless as to whether the information is true and not misleading) 

In addition to the above, the [name of Authority] has adopted a Code of Conduct for Members 

which requires you to notify the Monitoring Officer of any disclosable DPIs before the end of 28 

days beginning with the day on which the Code takes effect.  Failure to comply with this 

requirement would not of itself be a criminal offence but could render you liable to action being 

taken against you under the Code. 

 

 

To the best of my knowledge, the information given in this form is complete and correct.   

 

Signed:  

Date:    

 
This form is to be returned direct to the Monitoring Officer  

 

This declaration has been registered by me: 

 

 

Monitoring Officer Date:                                          

 

 

You may use this space as a continuation sheet or, if necessary, attach another sheet of 

paper: 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 112



Page 7 of 10  

EXPLANATORY NOTES:  

 
1. Employment - detail:  

 

(a) the nature of every employment, business, office, trade, profession or vocation that you or your 

husband/wife/civil partner or a person with whom you are living as husband/wife or as if you are civil 

partners have, with a short description of the job concerned 

(b) the name and address of the employer  

(c) if you or your husband/wife/civil partner or a person with whom you are living as husband/wife or as if 

you are civil partners, are employed by a company, the name and address of the company paying your 

or their wages or salary, not that of the ultimate holding company 

(d) the name and address of any company for which you or your husband/wife/civil partner or a person 

with whom you are living as husband/wife or as if you are civil partners, are a paid director 

(e) the name and address of any firm in which you or your husband/wife/civil partner or a person with 

whom you are living as husband/wife or as if you are civil partners have, are a partner. 

(f) where you or your husband/wife/civil partner or a person with whom you are living as husband/wife or 

as if you are civil partners hold an office, the name of the person or body which appointed you or your 

husband/wife/civil partner or a person with whom you are living as husband/wife or as if you are civil 

partners. 

 

If you consider that the disclosure of the details of any of your interests could lead to you, or a person 

connected with you, being subject to violent or intimidation (e.g. certain scientific research or the Special 

Forces), and you would like to withhold these details from the register of interests, please provide this 

information to the Monitoring Officer and explain your concerns regarding the disclosure of the sensitive 

information, including why it is likely to create such a risk.  If the Monitoring Officer agrees, the information 

will not be included in copies of the register made available for inspection, or any published version of the 

register. 

 

2. Sponsorship - Name any person or body (other than the Council) who has made a payment to you in 

respect of your election or any expenses you have incurred in carrying out your duties as a Member. 

3. Contracts with Sevenoaks District Council - Describe the subject matter and the length of all contracts 

(goods, services or works) which are not fully discharged: 

(a) between you or your husband/wife/civil partner or a person with whom you are living as husband/wife 

or as if you are civil partners, and the Council; 

(b) between you and a firm in which you are a partner, or a company of which you are a paid director or a 

corporate body in which you have shares of a value described in para. 7 below; 

(c) between your husband/wife/civil partner or a person with whom you are living as husband/wife or as if 

you are civil partners and a firm in which they are a partner, or a company of which they are a paid 

director or a corporate body in which they have shares of a value described in para. 7 below. 

 

4. Land - The address or a brief description of the property (e.g. houses, land and buildings) in the area of 

Sevenoaks District Council, which you or your husband/wife/civil partner or a person with whom you are 

living as husband/wife or as if you are civil partners, own, lease or rent (other than leases or tenancies with 

the Council). 

 

5. Licences - The address or a brief description of the property (e.g. houses, land and buildings) in the 

area of Sevenoaks District Council, which you or your husband/wife/civil partner or a person with whom you 

are living as husband/wife or as if you are civil partners, occupy under licence (alone or jointly with others), 

for a month or longer. 

6. Corporate tenancies - The address or a brief description of the property where: 

 

(a) you, or a firm in which you are a partner, a company of which you are a paid director or a person or a 

corporate body in which you have shares of a value described in para. 7 below, are lessees or tenants of 

the Council; 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 113



Page 8 of 10  

 

(b) your husband/wife/civil partner or a person with whom you are living as husband/wife or as if you are 

civil partners or a firm in which they are a partner, or a company of which they are a paid director or a 

corporate body in which they have shares of a value described in para. 7 below, are lessees or tenants of 

the Council. 

7. Securities - Name the company or other body which to your knowledge has a place of business or land 

in the area of Sevenoaks District Council in which you or your husband/wife/civil partner or a person with 

whom you are living as husband/wife or as if you are civil partners have a shareholding of more than 

£25,000 (face value) or have a stake of more than 1/100th of the total issued share capital (whichever is 

the lower). 

 
 

Notification of Non Pecuniary Interests 

(NPIs) 

 
 

IMPORTANT NOTES 

 

(1) The requirement to notify the Monitoring Officer of a non pecuniary interest (NPI) applies 
only to your own interests. 

 

(2) Details of your notified interests will appear in the Members’ Register of Interests and will 
be published on the [Sevenoaks District Council]’s website, and open to public inspection. 

 

(3) If you consider that the disclosure of the details of any of your interests could lead to you, 
or a person connected with you, being subject to violent or intimidation, and you would 

like to withhold these details from the register of interests, please provide this information 

to the Monitoring Officer and explain your concerns regarding the disclosure of the 

sensitive information, including why it is likely to create such a risk.  If the Monitoring 

Officer agrees, the information will not be included in copies of the register made 

available for inspection, or any published version of the register. 

 

Further explanatory notes are included at the end of this notification. 

1. Any Body of which you are a Member or in a position of general control or 
management and to which you are appointed or nominated by your authority: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2. Bodies which exercise functions of a public nature of which you are a member or 
in a position of general control or management: 

 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 114



Page 9 of 10  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3. Bodies which are directed to charitable purposes of which you are a member or 
in a position of general control or management: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Bodies whose principle purpose include the influence of public opinion or policy 
of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management 

(including any political party or trade union): 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5. The interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality 
with an estimated value of £25 or more: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Explanatory Notes: 

 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 115



Page 10 of 10  

1. Name the outside body and position you are appointed to e.g. Member, Trustee, 

Director, observer etc. and name the Authority which appointed you e.g. Sevenoaks 

District Council. 

2. Name the body and say what position you hold e.g. Councillor on “Middleton” Parish 

Council, Governor of the ABC School etc. 

3. Name the body and say what position you hold e.g. Trustee of ABC Charity,  Member 

of ABC Charity, Member of the Grand Charity. 

4. Name the Body and say what position you hold e.g. Secretary or Member of the ABC 

for Action Group, ,or Member of the ABC Trade Union. 

5. List all gifts or hospitality worth £25 or more that you receive in connection of your 

official duties as a Member and the source/donor of the gift or hospitality. 

The Protocol entitled Gifts and Hospitality is set out as an Appendix to the 

Constitution.  This Protocol sets out at the end a notification form that can be used 

to list your gifts and hospitality.  Once complete you can send this to the 

Monitoring Officer who will attach it to this part of your Register. 

 

 
To the best of my knowledge, the information given in this form is complete and correct.   

 

 

Name (in full): 

 

Signed: 

 

 

 

Date: 

 

   

 
 
This form is to be returned direct to the Monitoring Officer  

 

This declaration has been registered by me: 

 

 

Monitoring Officer Date:                                          

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 116



Appendix 7 

The Granting of Dispensations 

 
1. Dispensations may be granted in the following circumstances: 

 

1.1 That so many members of the decision making body have DPIs or NPIs in 

a matter that it would “impede the transaction of the business”. In 

practice this means that the decision making body would be inquorate as 

a result. 

In such cases the power to grant any dispensation rests with the 

Monitoring Officer (s.33(2)(a) of the Localism Act 2011) 

 

1.2 That, without the dispensation, the representation of different political 

groups on the body transacting the business would be so upset as to alter 

the likely outcome of any vote relating to the business. 

In such cases the power to grant any dispensation rests with the 

Standards Sub-Committee for Granting Dispensations (s.33(2)(b) of the 

Localism Act 2011) 

1.3 That granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the 

authority’s area 

In such cases the power to grant any dispensation rests with the 

Standards Sub-Committee for Granting Dispensations (s.33(2)(c) of the 

Localism Act 2011) 

 

1.4 That without a dispensation, no Member of the Cabinet would be able to 

participate on the matter to be transacted by Cabinet. In practice this 

means that Cabinet would be inquorate. 

In such cases the power to grant any dispensation rests with the 

Monitoring Officer. (s.33(2)(d) of the Localism Act 2011) 

 

1.5 That the authority considers that it is otherwise appropriate to grant a 

dispensation 

In such cases the power to grant any dispensation rests with the 

Standards Sub-Committee for Granting Dispensations (s.33(2)(e) of the 

Localism Act 2011) 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 117



2 Any grant of a dispensation will specify how long it lasts for, up to a maximum of 4 

years 

3 Following any decision by the Monitoring Officer under 1.1 or 1.4 above, there will be 

a right of appeal to the Standards Sub-Committee for Granting Dispensations. 

4 The Monitoring Officer will keep a register of all dispensation requests, recording the 

decision, the member any dispensation is given to, when it starts and when it ends. 

 

Agenda Item 6a

Page 118



 
Item 6b – Amendment to the Constitution 

 
Modern Local Government Group’s Recommendation to Council 

 

At its meeting on 11 July 2012, Modern Local Government Group considered the 

matter as follows: 

 

Amendments to the Constitution  

 

The Group considered a report outlining two amendments to the Council’s 

Constitution: one relating to the number of meetings of the Select Committees 

and one relating to the delegated powers of the Community and Planning 

Director. 

 

Part 1, paragraph 2.4 of the Council’s constitution requires that except for 

changes required by statute, changes to the Constitution will only be approved by 

the full Council after consideration of the proposal by the Modern Local 

Government Group. The amendments to the Constitution outlined in Appendix A 

to the report would bring the number of meetings referred to in the Constitution in 

line with the new working practice of the Leader of the Council Chairman and 

Vice-Chairman of the Select Committees at the Annual Council meeting. 

 

The amendment outlined in Appendix B to the report related to specific 

circumstances where planning permission had been refused under delegated 

powers, an appeal lodged and new information being received that led Officers to 

conclude that refusal of permission could not be substantiated at appeal.  Under 

these circumstances the matter would be referred back to Members to enable the 

original delegated refusal to be reviewed. 

 

Resolved: that full Council be recommended to agree the amendments 

outlined in the report. 

 

 

Agenda Item 6b

Page 119



Page 120

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

AMENDMENTS TO THE DISTRICT COUNCIL’S CONSTITUTION 

Modern Local Government Group – 11 July 2012 

Report of the: Deputy Chief Executive & Director of Corporate Resources 

Status: 

Also considered by: 

For Decision 

Council – 24 July 2012 

Key Decision: No 

Executive Summary:  This report outlines two amendments to the Council’s Constitution 
one relating to the number of meetings and one relating to the delegated powers of the 

Community and Planning Director, 

This report supports the Key Aim of Effective Management of Council Resources 

Portfolio Holder Cllr. Mrs. Bracken 

Head of Service Head of Legal and Democratic Services, Christine Nuttall 

Recommendation to Modern Local Government Group and Council :  It be RESOLVED 
that:  

MLG agrees and recommends to Council that the amendments outlined in the report 

be agreed. 

Reason for recommendation: To ensure that the Council’s constitution reflects current 
practice and that delegated authority in relation to planning matters can be reviewed in 

the light of changed circumstances. 

Introduction 

(1) The Constitution sets out how the Council operates and how decisions are made. It 

sets out the procedures which are followed to ensure that these decisions are efficient, 

transparent and that those who make the decisions are accountable to local people. 

 

(2) Some of these procedures are required by law, while others are a matter for the 

Council to choose. The purpose of the Constitution is to: 

 

• ensure that those responsible for decision making are clearly identifiable to 

local people and that they explain the reasons for decisions; 

 

•  support the active involvement of local people in local authority decision 

making; 

 

• help Members represent local people more effectively; 

Agenda Item 6b

Page 121



 

 

 

• enable decisions to be taken efficiently and effectively; and 

 

• hold decision makers to public account. 

 

(3) Part 1, paragraph 2.4 of the Council’s constitutions states that except for changes 

required by statute, changes to the constitution will only be approved by the full Council 

after consideration of the proposal by the Modern Local Government Group. 

(4) At the beginning of the 2011/12 municipal year the Leader of the Council 

nominated the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the three Select Committees.  This was a 

departure from the previous practice whereby brief meetings of the Committees would be 

held immediately after the Annual Council Meeting with five further meeting being held 

throughout the year.  Accordingly, Part 5, paragraph 5 of the Council’s Constitution states 

that ‘there shall be at least six ordinary meetings of each Select Committee in each year’.  

However, as there is now no requirement to have the “business meetings” immediately 

following the Annual Council Meeting in order to elect the Chairman and Vice-Chairman, 

the constitution needs to be updated to reflect that there is no longer a requirement to 

have at least six meetings.    

(5) The amendments to the Constitution outlined in Appendix A will bring the 

constitution into line with the new working practice whilst also providing an element of 

flexibility. 

 (6) Appendix B contains an addition to the Constitution with regards to delegated 

powers to the Community and Planning Director.  The amendment relates to the specific 

circumstance where planning permission has been refused under delegated powers, an 

appeal has been lodged and new information has been received that leads Officers to 

conclude that refusal of permission can no longer be substantiated at appeal.  Under 

these circumstances the matter will be referred back to Members to enable the original 

delegated refusal to be reviewed.   

(7) The need for the proposed amendment arose following a change in circumstances 

during a recent appeal process and which led the Planning Officer to conclude that the 

original reason for refusal could no longer be sustained at the appeal.    

(8) The revision under consideration has been drafted in consultation with Members and 

Officers and is intended to strengthen the democratic process for Development Control 

matters to enable the original delegated refusal to be reviewed. 

Key Implications 

Financial  

(9) The need to review the delegated authority may result in the need for an 

extraordinary Development Control meeting.  This would have a cost implication. 

Community Impact and Outcomes  

(10) A review of the delegated planning decision could have an impact upon the parties 

involved. 

 

Agenda Item 6b

Page 122



 

 

Legal, Human Rights etc. 

(11) Section 37 of the Local Government Act 2000 requires the Council to keep its 

Constitution under review. 

Equality 

(12) There are no specific equality implications arising from these proposals.  These 

proposals do not have any particular implications regarding one “protected group” over 

another. 

Conclusions 

(13) Members are recommended to approve the minor amendments to the 

Constitution which will support the democratic process. 

Appendices: Appendix A: Minor amendment to Part 5 of the 

Constitution 

Appendix B: Changes to delegation to the Community 

and Planning Services Director 

 

Background Papers: Sevenoaks District Council Constitution 

Contact Officer(s): Philippa Gibbs Ext 7247 

 

Dr Pav Ramewal 

Deputy Chief Executive & Director of Corporate Resources 

 

Agenda Item 6b

Page 123



Page 124

This page is intentionally left blank



  Appendix A 

PART 5 - OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY FUNCTION 

5. Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules 

Meetings of the Select Committees 

5.5 There shall be a maximum of five ordinary meetings of each Select Committee in 

each year. In addition, other meetings may be called from time to time as and 

when appropriate. A meeting of a Select Committee may be called by the 

Chairman of the relevant Select Committee, by a quarter of the members of the 

relevant Committee or by the Chief Executive (in consultation with the relevant 

Chairman or Vice-Chairman, if available) if he considers it necessary or 

appropriate. 

Agenda Item 6b

Page 125



Page 126

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B 

Changes to Delegated Powers 

13. Delegations to the Community and Planning Services Director 

Development Services 

(a) 

(4) Where permission has been refused under delegated powers, an 
appeal has been lodged and new information has been received 
that leads Officers to conclude that refusal of permission can no 
longer be substantiated at appeal, the matter will be referred back 
to Members to enable the original delegated refusal to be 
reviewed. 

If sufficient time is available, local Members will be asked to agree 
to a decision no longer to oppose the scheme following the 
procedure for delegated decisions and if the local Members do 
not agree the matter will be referred to the Development Control 
Committee including, if necessary, an emergency meeting. 

If the appeal timetable does not allow for the above process to be 
completed in time, the review of the delegated decision will be 
referred to a Panel of three Members of the Committee for 
decision, after consultation with the local Members. 

The Chief Executive will call a meeting of one of the Panels 
whenever there is business to be transacted. 

A Panel will contain three Members of the Development Control 
Committee. Either the Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the 
Development Control Committee will be one of the Members of 
the panel and other Members of the Panel will be selected 
sequentially in alphabetical order. Local Members should not 
normally be part of the Panel but will have the right to address the 
Panel for a maximum of 3 minutes. 

Any Member of the Development Control Committee may act as a 
substitute on a Panel. Democratic Services must be notified by 
the Members concerned of any substitutions at least one working 
hour prior to a Panel meeting. 

The Chairman or Vice-Chairman of the Development Control 
Committee, whichever is present, will be the Chairman of the 
Panel. 

The quorum for a Panel meeting shall be three Members. 

The procedure will not apply to the review of individual reasons 
for refusal where the decision to refuse permission does not 
change. 

Agenda Item 6b

Page 127



Page 128

This page is intentionally left blank



 

LOCALISATION OF SUPPORT FOR COUNCIL TAX 

COUNCIL  – 24 JULY 2012  

Report of the: Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Corporate Resources 

Status: Decision 

Also considered by: Cabinet - 12 July 2012 

Services Select Committee – 19 June 2012 

Key Decision: Yes  

Executive Summary: The Local Government Finance Bill has introduced one of the 

biggest fundamental changes that will require all council tax billing authorities to devise a 

local Council Tax Support Scheme to replace the current national Council Tax Benefit 

Scheme to commence on 1 April 2013. 

This reports sets out the options for a local scheme and proposes a scheme that has 

been recommended by the Kent Forum. 

This report supports the Key Aim of Effective Management of Council Resources 

Portfolio Holder Cllr. Ramsay 

Head of Service Group Manager Financial Services – Adrian Rowbotham 

Recommend to Council that: 

(a) Members approve that the Council consult with its community on the proposal to 

reduce the council tax support payable to working age claimants by a standard 

percentage amount that delivers a local support for council tax scheme within the 

funding provided by Government; and 

 

(b) Members approve the principles of broad-based consultation and delegate 

authority to the Leader of the Council and the Portfolio Holder for Value for Money 

to approve the information and questions provided to the community within the 

consultation questionnaire. 

 

Reason for recommendation: to agree a scheme to be used to calculate Council Tax 

Support for three years from 1 April 2013.  

 

Agenda Item 6c

Page 129



 

Introduction 

1 The current national scheme for council tax benefit will cease on 31 March 2013 

and be replaced by local schemes from 1 April 2013. 

2 Currently district councils, as billing authorities, make a “payment” of council tax 

benefit to eligible claimants and generally recover the full amount as grant from 

Government. The “payment” is by way of a charge to benefits and a credit to the 

council tax account. No cash is involved. 

3 With new local schemes, if a claimant is eligible for any support it will be deducted 

as a “discount” from the council tax bill, rather than as a “payment”, in the same 

way as other discounts e.g. single person discount. This has the effect of reducing 

the council tax base and thus affects all tiers of authorities, including parish 

councils. 

4 Government grant to contribute towards council tax “discounts” given to claimants  

will, in future, be paid direct to both districts and upper tier authorities, but not 

parish councils. Grant will be a fixed amount and for 2013/14 (at least) it will be 

lower than the current level by about 10% although there is uncertainty as to how 

the 10% reduction will be calculated. Thus from 1 April 2013 all the financial risk 

of new local schemes of support for council tax rests with local authorities. 

Nationally expenditure on council tax benefit has roughly doubled in the last ten 

years so this is a significant financial risk in that such demographic growth will be 

born by councils in the future and in the case of Sevenoaks there is an increased 

element of risk in that it has the highest proportion of elderly in Kent who will 

remain a protected group. 

5 One effect of these changes will be that some claimants who have not previously 

had to pay any council tax may be required to pay a proportion under a new 

scheme. 

6 The fundamental questions to consider in developing local schemes are: 

• Which vulnerable groups (other than pensioners) should receive council tax 

support. 

• How much extra it is reasonable to ask existing beneficiaries to pay towards 

their council tax bill. 

7 Sevenoaks District Council, as the billing authority, is the lead authority and is 

responsible for developing and approving a scheme. 

8 A consultation process will take place to ensure that the views of the affected 

parties are taken into account before the new scheme is finalised. 

Government Announcements 

9 The Government included within the Spending Review 2010 a policy commitment 

to localise support for council tax by 2013/14, reducing expenditure by 10%. The 

Welfare Reform Bill, published on 17 February 2011, contained provisions for the 

abolition of council tax benefit, paving the way for new localised schemes. 

Agenda Item 6c

Page 130



 

10 On 2 August 2011, the Department for Communities and Local Government (CLG) 

published its consultation paper “Localising support for Council Tax in England”. 

This consultation paper considered how local schemes for council tax benefit 

could be established in England. In December 2011, the Government put before 

parliament the Local Government Finance Bill 2011 and published its response to 

views expressed in the consultation on its proposals for the localisation of support 

for council tax. 

11 In May 2012 the Government issued a Statement of Intent which sets out policy 

statements of intent for the regulations to be provided under the Local 

Government Finance Bill. The statements are intended to inform discussion of the 

Bill in Parliament and provide further detail to help billing authorities in their 

preparation of local schemes. 

12 The Government has stated that it has two underlying principles behind the 

localisation of council tax benefits in England: 

• Localised schemes should provide support for the most vulnerable, including 

vulnerable pensioners; 

• Localised schemes should assist with lifting the poorest off benefits and 

supporting them into work. 

13 The Government’s ambition to put this legislation into effect is included in the 

Local Government Finance Bill which is expected to receive Royal assent in July 

2012. 

Constraints when Devising a Local Scheme 

14 The timescale for implementation is extremely tight and it is almost impossible to 

devise a new scheme from scratch by 1 April 2013. Lead authorities have to 

devise a scheme, consult on it, put all administrative processes in place, procure 

and test software enhancements and notify claimants. All of this has to be done 

without detailed knowledge of the legislative requirements and without knowing 

how much grant will be received. 

15 The risk of producing a poor scheme with unintended consequences for claimants 

for 2013/14 is high. 

16 Benefit and council tax administration are complex processes and authorities rely 

on specialist software. The benefits database includes core information that 

calculates entitlement for both housing benefit and council tax benefit. This 

means that if the data requirements for the local scheme of support for council tax 

are different from the data requirements for housing benefit, then data may need 

to be input twice, incurring additional cost. 

17 There are only a few suppliers of this specialist software so it would be impossible 

for them to provide the resources to construct unique systems for potentially over 

300 local schemes within the required timescale. The suppliers have informed 

Government of this issue. 

Agenda Item 6c

Page 131



 

18 It is not yet clear what functionality will be available, or if all suppliers will offer the 

same functionality. The risk of system failure is the biggest single risk to 

successful implementation. 

Options Considered 

19 An operational group of officers at this Council has been considering the possible 

options whilst taking into account the stream of information provided by the 

Government during this year. There has also been a Kent-wide group consisting of 

lead authorities and precepting authorities looking at alternative options. The 

Leader, Chief Executive and Director of Corporate Resources have all been heavily 

involved in negotiating a Kent-wide deal that minimises the risk to this council and 

limits the impact on affected groups.  

Option 1 – A scheme which delivers reductions in cost to fully mitigate estimated grant 

loss 

20 It is not possible to devise a completely new scheme by 1 April 2013 and suppliers 

have indicated that only limited changes to the current software will be possible. 

21 The simplest solution under this option is to calculate entitlement under existing 

rules, estimate the amount likely to be payable to pensioners and then apply a 

“standard percentage reduction” to all other claimants (mainly working poor). 

22 The higher the percentage of pensioners as a proportion of all claimants then the 

higher the percentage reduction that is required from all other cases. Based on 

expenditure in 2011/12, the Kent average is 18.65% with Sevenoaks being the 

highest at 20.8% due to it having the highest percentage of pensioners. Demand 

for council tax benefit is currently rising so the actual percentages could be 

significantly higher. 

23 The main advantages of this option are that it is relatively simple to implement, it 

minimises the risks of error and reduces financial risk for all tiers of authority. 

Financial risks would be shared based between each authority based on their 

share of the total council tax . 

24 The main disadvantages are that it is an arbitrary reduction on all non-pensioner 

claimants and makes no allowance for individual circumstances or other changes 

affecting the income of claimants. It would lead to an increase in complaints and 

appeals. It is likely that authorities will be faced with collecting small amounts of 

council tax from many new households. 

25 A further refinement of this option could be protection for other vulnerable groups 

e.g. households with children, or those with disability premium. This would require 

the remaining groups to bear a greater reduction in council tax benefit.  

Option 2 – A scheme which maintains current levels of eligibility where the grant loss is 

absorbed by authorities 

26 This is the easiest option to implement but has significant financial implications. 

Each claimant would receive the same level of “discount” that they currently 

Agenda Item 6c

Page 132



 

receive as a “benefit”, therefore the 10% grant loss would have to funded by the 

local authorities. 

27 This is expected to be the default scheme the Government will impose if lead 

authorities do not agree a local scheme. 

28 This option would cost this council in excess of £200,000 per annum and if all 

Kent lead authorities chose this option, the cost to Kent County Council would be 

in the region of £10m. 

29 Absorbing the cost of this option is likely to have an impact on other council tax 

payers through increased council tax or lead to reductions elsewhere in the 

budget. 

30 The main advantages of this option are that it would be easy to implement; there 

would be no additional ongoing administration costs and no increase in customer 

complaints and it would give authorities time to consider a longer term scheme. 

31 The main disadvantage is the increased cost to be absorbed. 

Option 3 – A scheme which delivers reductions in cost that partially mitigates estimated 

grant loss, or full reductions phased 

32 It is possible to have a variation that is someway between the extremes of the first 

two options. 

33 The simplest option would be a standard reduction, as in the first option above, 

but at a lower standard percentage. It is not clear at this stage what other 

variations the software will allow. 

34 The main advantage of Option 3 over Option 1 is that it would reduce the impact 

on households. 

35 The main disadvantages are that there will potentially be an increase in costs of 

collecting more small council tax amounts and the reduction in costs will not offset 

the reduction in grant. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 6c

Page 133



 

 

 

 

 

 

Other ways to bridge any funding gap 

36 As part of the wider localism reforms the Government is proposing to give 

authorities discretion to vary some of the statutory exemptions from council tax. 

Details of the exemptions that could be localised, and the amount of council tax 

exemption granted in 2011/12 are set out in the following table. 

 

Total Amount 

in 2011/12 

 

£000 

Sevenoaks DC 

Proportion 

(12%) 

£000 

Class A - Vacant dwellings 

where major repair works or 

structural alterations are 

required, under way or recently 

completed (up to 12 months) 174 21 

Class C - A vacant dwelling, i.e. 

empty and substantially 

unfurnished (up to 6 months) 866 104 

Class L - An unoccupied 

dwelling which has been taken 

into possession by a mortgage 

lender 25 3 

Discount on Second Homes 43 5 

Discount on Long Term 

Empties 0 0 

TOTAL 1,108 133 

37 The only category likely to have any significant effect on the amount of council tax 

raised is Class C where exemption of up to six months is granted for vacant 

properties. 

Proposed Scheme 

38 Members of the Kent Forum have agreed to recommend a scheme that is shown 

in Appendix A. 

39 This scheme will be consistent across Kent with the three major precepting 

authorities (Kent County Council, Kent Police Authority and Kent & Medway Fire & 

Rescue Authority) agreeing to fund the scheme for three years. 

Agenda Item 6c

Page 134



 

40 This scheme is based on Option 1 above with an adjustment to the Class C 

discount, most likely by reducing the discount from six months to three months. 

41 This approach has significant advantages including only requiring one scheme for 

consulting across Kent, one scheme for equality assessment, opportunities to 

standardise forms and processes, no confusion for claimants moving between 

authorities. Also, lead authorities should not be adversely affected financially for 

three years as the precepting authorities have agreed to fund additional collection 

costs and any increased costs above this council’s grant level. 

42 The disadvantage of common criteria is that it limits local flexibility. 

43 Each authority may want to revise their schemes after the initial three years so 

that they better suit local circumstances 

44 From October 2013 housing benefits will be closed to new claimants, who will 

move to Universal Credit. Over the following four years all existing housing benefit 

claimants will move to Universal Credit. This will have a major impact on 

claimants, systems and staffing due to the changing role of local authorities. A 

separate report is being presented to this committee by the In-depth Scrutiny 

Group looking at the effects of Universal Credit. 

Key Implications 

Financial 

By adopting the proposed scheme, the financial impact for the first three years will be 

borne by the three major precepting authorities instead of this council. If a different 

option is chosen, the financial impact for this council could be significant. 

Community Impact and Outcomes 

A consultation will be undertaken on the content of the proposed scheme with the public 

and other affected parties.  

Legal, Human Rights etc. 

The final scheme approved by the council must meet the requirements to be provided 

under the Local Government Finance Bill. 

Resource (non-financial) 

The proposed scheme should not result in additional staffing requirements. If a different 

option is chosen, there may be additional staffing requirements due to the changes 

required and the duplication of benefits and council tax data. 

Equality Impacts 

An Equalities Impact Assessment will be carried out for the proposed scheme in 

conjunction with all Kent authorities. 

Conclusions 

Agenda Item 6c

Page 135



 

Localisation of council tax benefit is seen by many as one of the biggest changes to local 

government since the community charge. In an economic climate that shows no real 

signs of recovery, the cost of benefits will continue to increase and the impact on district 

councils both financially and from a social wellbeing perspective is likely to be significant 

and unsustainable. 

By adopting the proposed scheme, the three major precepting authorities will bear the 

additional costs for the first three years instead of this council. 

It therefore seems sensible for this council to accept the proposal as set out in Appendix 

A as it provides an element of stability during what are likely to be difficult times. 

Risk Assessment Statement 

Failure to agree a local scheme would result in the forced adoption of the Government’s 

default scheme which would result in a significant cost to this council. 

 

Appendices Appendix A – Proposed agreement between districts and major precepting 

authorities on Local Schemes of Support for Council Tax. 

Background 

Papers: 

Department for Communities and Local Government – Localising Council Tax 

Support documents:  

http://www.communities.gov.uk/localgovernment/localgovernmentfinance/co

unciltax/counciltaxsupport/  

Contact 

Officer(s): 

Adrian Rowbotham Ext. 7153 

 

Dr. Pav Ramewal 

Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Corporate Resources 

 

Agenda Item 6c

Page 136



  Appendix A 

PROPOSED AGREEMENT BETWEEN DISTRICTS AND MAJOR 

PRECEPTING AUTHORITIES ON  LOCAL SCHEMES OF SUPPORT FOR 

COUNCIL TAX 

 

 

If a District 
  

1. Accepts Option 1 with a standard deduction of 18.5% on all non pensioner 
claimants, or produces an alternative local scheme that achieves the 
equivalent of a 10% saving in expenditure on discounts to claimants, 

 
and 

  

2. Agrees to reduce the exemption on Class C empty properties from 6 
months to 3 months (or its equivalent). 
  

  

THEN 

  

Major Precepting Authorities will agree: 
  

1.   If a district incurs a cost on new council tax discounts from the local 
scheme that is higher than the grant receivable from government, then 
major precepting authorities (jointly) will reimburse the district the 
difference. 

  

2. Major Precepting Authorities (jointly) will pay £125,000 to each district 
each year as a contribution to the increased administrative, collection and 
recovery costs of the new scheme. 

 
3. Major Precepting Authorities (jointly) will reimburse each district 

reasonable increased administrative costs necessarily incurred if the case 
load on the local scheme (during the period of this agreement) exceeds 
the case load of the council tax benefit scheme (as at 31 March 2013) by 
more than 15%.  

  

  

FURTHER 

  

1. This agreement to operate for three years 

  

2. A review is undertaken between April and June 2015.. 
  

 
 
This agreement will limit the cost to districts of discounts granted under a local 
scheme to the value of the grant received from government. Districts will also 
receive a contribution from major preceptors to offset estimated additional 
administrative and recovery costs. The agreement gives major preceptors 
some certainty and increased income for the change to class C empty 
exemptions. 

Agenda Item 6c

Page 137



Page 138

This page is intentionally left blank



 

COMMUNITY RIGHT TO CHALLENGE 

Council – 24 JULY 2012 

Report of the: Director of Corporate Resources and Deputy Chief Executive 

Status: For Decision 

Also considered by: Cabinet – 12 July 2012 

Executive Summary:  This report sets out the duty placed on local authorities in the 

Localism Act 2011 to administer the Community Right to Challenge.  The Community 

Right to Challenge allows relevant bodies to express and interest in running Council 

services and places a duty on a local authority to consider those expressions of interest 

and where they are accepted run a full tender process for the future delivery of that 

service. 

The report proposes that Members adopt a Policy that aligns the management of the 

Community Right to Challenge within existing budget setting processes and ensures the 

Council places a priority on the cost to the District and the quality of service delivered 

when drawing up any tender document that is required as a result of an expression of 

interest under the Community Right to Challenge. 

This report supports the Key Aim of the Corporate Plan ‘ Effective Management of 

Council Resources’ 

Portfolio Holder Cllr. Mrs Davison 

Recommendation to Cabinet:   

(a) To recommend to Council the approval of the Sevenoaks District Council 

Community Right to Challenge Policy; and 

(b) To recommend to Council that authority be delegated to the Portfolio Holder for 

Planning and Improvement to agree any final adjustments to the Community 

Right to Challenge Policy that may result from the finalisation of Government 

policy and statutory guidance. 

Recommendation to Council:  

(a) To approve the Sevenoaks District Council Community Right to Challenge 

Policy; and 

(b) To delegate authority to the Portfolio Holder for Planning and Improvement to 

agree any final adjustments to the Community Right to Challenge Policy that 

may result from the finalisation of Government policy and statutory guidance. 

  

Agenda Item 6d

Page 139



 

Reason for recommendation: The Council has a duty under the Localism Act 2011 to 

accept and consider expressions of interest to run its services under the Community 

Right to Challenge.  By adopting a policy the Council would have a consistent and 

transparent approach to when it will accept expressions of interest and how each 

expression of interest will be treated.  Failure to adopt a policy will mean the Council must 

accept and consider expressions of interest for its services at any time of year. 

Introduction 

1 Chapter 5, Section 2 of the Localism Act 2011 provides the legislative framework 

for the Community Right to Challenge (CRtC).  The CRtC allows for relevant bodies 

to express an interest in running a local authority service.  Local authorities must 

consider that expression of interest and if acceptable under the legislation must 

run a full procurement process for the future running of that service. 

2 The Government published Regulations at the end of April that were due to be 

approved by Parliament in June 2012, with the CRtC enacted on 27 June 2012.  

Subsequent to enactment the Government published the final statutory guidance 

that local authorities require to ensure the processes they adopt in managing 

expressions of interest under the CRtC are in accordance with legislation. 

3 This report provides Members with a summary of the legislation and guidance that 

the Council is required to follow in determining its approach to the CRtC and 

provides a draft policy for Members consideration and approval at Appendix A to 

this report. 

Legislative Framework  

4 The Localism Act, associated Regulations and Statutory Guidance set out the rules 

that the Council must follow in considering its approach to the management of the 

CRtC.  This includes: 

• Specifying the ’relevant bodies’ that may submit an expression of interest; 

• Defining ‘relevant services’ and stating the services which are excluded from 

the CRtC; 

• Specifying the information required in an expression of interest; and 

• Specifying the grounds whereby an expression of interest may be rejected. 

5 Each of these regulations is explained in more detail in the following sections of 

this report.  It is the consideration of these regulations and the Council’s own 

values and priorities in relation to the way it provides its services for the benefit of 

the community that is reflected in the draft policy for the management of the CRtC, 

which is set out for Members consideration and approval at Appendix A to this 

report. 

  

Agenda Item 6d

Page 140



 

Relevant Bodies 

6 Relevant bodies are those groups of people that are eligible to submit an 

expression of interest to deliver relevant services on behalf of local authorities. 

The Localism Act lists the following as relevant bodies: 

a) A voluntary or community body; 

b) A body of persons or a trust which is established for charitable purposes 

only; 

c) A parish council; 

d) Two or more employees of the local authority; or 

e) Any other person or body specified by the Secretary of State by regulations. 

7 Under the current legislation it is not possible for district councils to bid to run the 

services of any other local authority. 

8 In statutory guidance the Government does provide further clarification on what 

constitutes each of the relevant bodies.  Importantly it clarifies that a voluntary or 

community body is not a public or local authority and that their activities must be 

carried out for the benefit of the community and not for profit.  The Government 

also expects that they must be incorporated with limited liability.  The guidance 

also clarifies that town councils are included under the definition of parish 

councils. 

9 An area that has drawn scrutiny on a national basis is the ability of relevant bodies 

to work in partnership, particularly with the private sector in drawing up an 

expression of interest.  The Government’s statutory guidance clarifies that this is 

permitted and acceptable under the legislation, stating that: 

‘Whilst only relevant bodies are eligible to submit an expression of interest, they 

may do so in partnership with other relevant bodies and/or non relevant bodies.’ 

10 At the time of reporting the Secretary of State has not specified any other person 

or body in regulations that may make use of the CRtC. 

Relevant Services 

11 A relevant service is defined as a service provided by or on behalf of a relevant 

authority in the exercise of its functions.  In order to help clarify this the 

Government provide the following example: 

Planning 

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 gives powers to local planning 

authorities to grant or refuse planning permission where a planning application is 

made to the authority.  The right does not allow for the function of determining 

planning applications to be provided by a third party.  Therefore the function of 

taking the planning decision is excluded from the CRtC. 

The delivery of planning services, for example the processing of a planning 

application (not the decision), may be carried out by the local authority itself, or by 

Agenda Item 6d

Page 141



 

a third party on behalf of the authority.  Therefore this service would be included in 

the CRtC. 

 

12 The statutory guidance also sets out that relevant local authority services that may 

already be delegated to a town or parish council for example, or are already 

carried out in partnership with another local authority remain subject to the CRtC. 

13 The Government only excludes a very limited number of services from the CRtC.  

These relate to services predominantly delivered by County or Unitary authorities 

in conjunction with the National Health Service.  Therefore unless there is a 

legislative requirement for the Council to deliver a function which specifically 

cannot be carried out by a third party all Sevenoaks District Council services are 

potentially open to the CRtC. 

Expressions of Interest 

14 Legislation and associated guidance allows for local authorities to specify periods 

when expressions of interest may be submitted in relation to a particular service.  

If this approach is adopted, the details of the timescales must be published.  This 

may be useful to assist with existing procurement arrangements or ensuring 

expressions of interest may be considered in due time for consideration in the 

Council’s budgetary planning.  If time periods are not specified for relevant 

services an expression of interest may be submitted at any time. 

15 The Council has a duty to accept and consider an expression of interest from a 

relevant body which is in writing and provides the information that legislation sets 

out is required in an expression of interest.  The Council is able to request 

additional information from that required in legislation but cannot make inclusion 

of such information a requirement for the expression of interest to be considered 

or use it as a basis for rejecting the expression of interest.  Provision of such 

information therefore becomes optional. 

16 The Government sets out in regulations that the following information must be 

provided in an expression of interest: 

1. An expression of interest must include the following information and, where the 

relevant body proposes to deliver the relevant service as part of a consortium or to 

use a sub-contractor for delivery of any part of the relevant service, the 

information and evidence referred to in paragraphs 2 and 3 must be given in 

respect of each member of the consortium and each sub-contractor as 

appropriate. 

2. Information about the financial resources of the relevant body submitting the 

expression of interest. 

3. Evidence that demonstrates that by the time of any procurement exercise the 

relevant body submitting the expression of interest will be capable of providing or 

assisting in providing the relevant service. 

4. Information about the relevant service sufficient to identify it and the 

Agenda Item 6d

Page 142



 

geographical area to which the expression of interest relates. 

5. Information about the outcomes to be achieved by the relevant body or, where 

appropriate, the consortium of which it is a part, in providing or assisting in the 

provision of the relevant service, in particular – 

(a) how the provision or assistance will promote or improve the social, economic or 

environmental well-being of the relevant authority’s area; and 

(b) how it will meet the needs of the users of the relevant service. 

6. Where the relevant body consists of employees, details of how that relevant 

body proposes to engage other employees of the relevant authority who are 

affected by the expression of interest.  

17 In addition to the information above the Council may also require that the body 

submitting the expression of interest demonstrate that they meet the definition of 

a relevant body. 

Decisions on Expressions of Interest 

18 The Council must specify the maximum period that it will take to notify a relevant 

body of its decision on an expression of interest.  The time period may vary for 

different services and must be published, including on the Council’s website.  In 

addition the Council has a duty to communicate the maximum time period for a 

decision directly to the body submitting the expression of interest, this must be 

within 30 days of receiving the expression of interest and be in writing. 

19 In deciding on a maximum period the Council will take to reach a decision on an 

expression of interest the Council must have regard to a number of factors set out 

in statutory guidance.  The timescale must be reasonable, but may also relate to 

the complexity of the service to which the expression relates, the complexity of the 

expression of interest itself, and current procurement or budgetary timescales. 

Rejecting an Expression of Interest 

20 The Government has set out in Regulations 10 grounds on which an expression of 

interest may be rejected.  These are: 

1. The expression of interest does not comply with any of the requirements 

specified in the Localism Act 2011 or in Regulations. 

2. The relevant body provides information in the expression of interest which in the 

opinion of the relevant authority, is in a material particular inadequate or 

inaccurate.  

3. The relevant authority considers, based on the information in the expression of 

interest, that the relevant body or, where applicable –  

(a) any member of the consortium of which it is a part, or  

(b) any sub-contractor referred to in the expression of interest 

Agenda Item 6d

Page 143



 

is not suitable to provide or assist in providing the relevant service.  

4. The expression of interest relates to a relevant service where a decision, 

evidenced in writing, has been taken by the relevant authority to stop providing 

that service.  

5. The expression of interest relates to a relevant service – 

(a) provided, in whole or in part, by or on behalf of the relevant authority to 

persons who are also in receipt of a service provided or arranged by an NHS body 

which is integrated with the relevant service; and  

(b) the continued integration of such services is, in the opinion of the relevant 

authority, critical to the well-being of those persons. 

6. The relevant service is already the subject of a procurement exercise. 

7. The relevant authority and a third party have entered into negotiations for 

provision of the service, which negotiations are at least in part conducted in 

writing. 

8. The relevant authority has published its intention to consider the provision of 

the relevant service by a body that two or more specified employees of that 

authority propose to establish. 

9. The relevant authority considers that the expression of interest is frivolous or 

vexatious. 

10. The relevant authority considers that acceptance of the expression of interest 

is likely to lead to contravention of an enactment or other rule of law or a breach of 

statutory duty.  

21 In addition to the above reasons for rejection the Council may also refuse to 

consider an expression of interest if it is submitted outside of any published 

timescales that the Council may chose to set for expressions of interest to be 

accepted for any given service. 

22 Where the Council choses to reject an expression of interest it must notify the 

relevant body, clearly stating the reasons for doing so and also publish that 

notification on its website. 

The Procurement Exercise 

23 If an expression of interest is accepted the Council has a duty to run a full 

procurement exercise.  The procurement exercise would be open to any potential 

bidders from the private, public or third sector and be operated in accordance with 

the Council’s own financial and contract procedure rules. 

24 The Council must specify the minimum and maximum time period between 

accepting an expression of interest and a procurement exercise starting.  The 

timescale must be reasonable, allowing sufficient time for the body submitting the 

expression of interest to properly compete for the service, have regard to the 

Agenda Item 6d

Page 144



 

complexity of the procurement exercise and any existing contractual obligations, 

procurement or budgetary timetables the Council already has in place. 

Sevenoaks District Council approach 

25 Set out at Appendix A to this report is a draft policy for the management of the 

Community Right to Challenge at Sevenoaks District Council for Members 

consideration. 

26 The draft Policy aims to strike a balance between the Council being able to 

consider expressions of interest that may enhance the level of service and value 

for money delivered to the community but also ensuring appropriate processes are 

put in place for the proper management of expressions of interest within the 

resources the Council has available. 

27 Key to this is a proposal that Members limit the time period when expressions of 

interest are accepted.  The suggested time limited period is for a period between 1 

June and 31 July that would ensure expressions of interest can be considered as 

an integral part of the Council’s budget setting process.  This would ensure that 

the Council is able to consider any potential amendments to its future service 

delivery models within existing process, delivering efficiency and also ensuring 

proper financial management and protecting the strength and stability of the 10 

year budget.  

28 Within this approach there would be some exceptions.  For example where the 

Council already has contracts in place to provide a service to a third party or a 

third party is contracted to carry out a service on the Council’s behalf.  The Council 

would publish, on its website, separate timescales for expressions of interest for 

these services in line with the end of the current contractual obligations as is 

required by legislation. 

Key Implications 

Financial 

29 The Council will endeavour to ensure that the costs associated with managing the 

Community Right to Challenge process will be met from existing resources and 

budgets.   

30 The Council may incur additional costs relating to its Procurement function where 

an expression of interest is accepted.  It is anticipated that New Burdens funding 

will be payable in respect of the Community Right to Challenge but Government 

are still to confirm this.  It is estimated from the Governments Impact Assessment 

that if New Burdens funding is payable it will be in the region of £8,500 in the first 

year, reducing in future years as the number of expressions of interest expected 

reduces.  

31 There is potential under the Community Right to Challenge for expressions of 

interest to result in a procurement exercise that drives down the cost of service 

delivery.  However the impact on wider service costs could be significant as the 

Council suffers from diminishing economies of scale.  This will need to be 

Agenda Item 6d

Page 145



 

considered as part of each procurement process ensuring overall value to the 

taxpayer is not detrimentally affected. 

Community Impact and Outcomes 

32 The Community Right to Challenge is unlikely to have a significant impact on the 

community in terms of their experience of service delivery.  The Council will ensure 

that service standards do not decline in the case where there is a successful 

expression of interest for any Council service. 

33 Using the full powers of the legislation the Council may be able to improve 

community outcomes by ensuring that any external provider that may successfully 

be awarded a contract to run a council service improves the social, economic or 

environmental well-being of the area. 

Legal, Human Rights etc. 

34 Failure to administer the Community Right to Challenge in accordance with 

regulations will leave the Council in breach of the duties placed upon it by the 

Localism Act 2011. 

35 The Council in considering expressions of interest must have due regard to 

existing legislation that provides the powers and regulations for delivering services 

and ensure employment law legislation is followed in the contracting of any 

services. 

Resource (non-financial) 

36 None. 

Value For Money and Asset Management 

37 The Council will ensure that any procurement exercise delivers value for money to 

the taxpayer through a rigorous and structured tender process.  However this may 

have a detrimental impact on the value for money or related services that were not 

subject to the expression of interest that will need to be considered in more detail 

as circumstances demand. 

38 If the Council did contract out any services as a result of the Community Right to 

Challenge it is likely that there would be some impact on the Council’s assets.  

This could range from accommodation being vacated in Council offices to the 

transfer or sale of assets to benefit the level of service and value for money 

achievable through any procurement exercise. 

Equality Impacts 

39 Does the activity have the potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate 

against different groups in the community? 

No.  The Council is able to ensure through its Procurement Strategy that equality is 

a significant consideration in the tendering of services. 

40 Does the activity make a positive contribution to promoting equality? 

Agenda Item 6d

Page 146



 

Yes.  There is potential for the Council to ensure that any service provider 

considers the social benefits for the District when competing for services under 

the Community Right to Challenge.  Under these circumstances the Council is in a 

position to ensure a positive contribution is made to promoting equality. 

41 Summary of Impacts 

An assessment of the potential impacts of the Community Right to Challenge 

Policy has identified no detrimental impacts to Equality Groups.   

42 How the equality impacts weigh on other factors relating to the decision 

The impact assessment has identified no potential detrimental equality impacts.  

As a result the equality impacts do not weigh on other factors relating to this 

decision. 

Conclusions 

43 The Localism Act 2011 places a duty on the Council to administer the Community 

Right to Challenge in accordance with legislation, Regulations and Statutory 

guidance.  A Policy has been proposed for Members consideration that complies 

with the legislative framework but also allows the Council to make the most 

efficient use of its limited resources to effectively and fairly manage the 

Community Right to Challenge through its existing budget setting procedures. 

Risk Assessment Statement 

44 Setting out the Council’s approach to the Community Right to Challenge in a Policy 

minimises the risk of failing to comply with the relevant legislation. 

Appendices Appendix A – Community Right to Challenge Policy 

Background Papers: Localism Act 2011  

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents  

Community Right to Challenge Regulations 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/all?title=right%20to%20ch

allenge  

Community Right to Challenge Draft Statutory Guidance 

http://www.communities.gov.uk/communities/communit

yrights/righttochallenge/  

Contact Officer(s): Lee Banks, Policy & Performance Manager.  Ext. 7161  

 

Dr. Pav Ramewal 

Director of Corporate Resources and Deputy Chief Executive 

 

Agenda Item 6d

Page 147



Page 148

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Sevenoaks District Council 

Community Right to 

Challenge Policy 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Agenda Item 6d

Page 149



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

We are always interested in ways to improve 

our Community Right to Challenge Policy 

and welcome your suggestions 

 
Contact us 

 
Policy & Performance 

Sevenoaks District Council 

Argyle Road 

Sevenoaks 

Kent  TN13 1HG 

 

01732 227000 

policy@sevenoaks.gov.uk 

Publication details 
 

Purpose of the 

Community Right to 

Challenge Policy 

To help ensure that the 

Council maximises the 

opportunities of the 

Community Right to 

Challenge scheme and 

considers each expression of 

interest in accordance with 

legislation. 
 

Publication date 

July 2012 

Community Right to Challenge 

Chapter 5, Section 2 of the Localism Act 2011 provides the legislative 

framework for the Community Right to Challenge.  The Community Right to 

Challenge allows for relevant bodies to express an interest in running a local 

authority service.  Local authorities must consider that expression of interest 

and if acceptable under the legislation must run a full procurement process 

for the future running of that service. 

 
This Policy sets out the approach adopted by Sevenoaks District Council to 

receive, consider and approve or reject an expression of interest. 

 

The Policy is approved by Council and subject to regular review to ensure it 

takes on board the lessons learnt as this new policy area develops, new 

guidance is released by Government and best practice emerges. 
 

Agenda Item 6d

Page 150



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 

 Page 

1. Context 1 

� Legislative Framework 

� Council Aims and Objectives 

� Links to other Policies 

1 

2 

2 
  

2. Expressions of Interest 3 

� Submitting an Expression of Interest 

� Deciding on an Expression of Interest 

� Timeline 

3 

3 

4 

  

3. The Procurement Exercise 5 

� Procurement Policy 5 

� Timeline 5 

  

4.  Appendices 6 

� Appendix 1 – Flow Chart 6 

Contents 

Agenda Item 6d

Page 151



1 
Sevenoaks District Council Community Right to Challenge Policy 

 

 
 
 
 

 

Legislative Framework 

The Localism Act 2011, associated 

Regulations and Statutory Guidance set out 

the rules that the Council must follow in 

operating the Community Right to Challenge 

(CRtC).  This includes: 

� Specifying the ’relevant bodies’ that 
may submit an expression of interest; 

� Defining ‘relevant services’ and stating 
the services which are excluded from 

the CRtC; 

� Specifying the information required in 
an expression of interest; and 

� Specifying the grounds whereby an 
expression of interest may be rejected. 

This section of the Policy provides a brief 

summary of the key points within the 

legislation, but it is not a comprehensive 

guide. 

Relevant Bodies 

These are the groups that are allowed to 

submit an expression of interest.  The 

Government have currently limited this to: 

� A voluntary or community body; 

� A body of persons or a trust which is 
established for charitable purposes 

only; 

� A Town or Parish council; or 

� Two or more employees of the local 
authority. 

Relevant Services 

These are the services that relevant bodies 

can express an interest in operating.  They 

are defined as a service provided by or on 

behalf of a local authority in the exercise of 

its functions. 

In the case of Sevenoaks District Council 

this limits only a small number of functions 

that it is not allowed by law to pass on 

responsibility for.  For example the making 

of planning decisions is a Council function 

that is not subject to the community right to 

challenge but the processing of the 

planning applications themselves is. 

Expressions of Interest 

For an expression of interest to be valid it 

must include certain information, including:  

� Information about financial resources; 

� Evidence that demonstrates capability 
of providing or assisting in providing the 

relevant service; 

� Information about the geographical area 
to which the expression of interest 

relates; and 

� Information about the outcomes to be 
achieved, in particular how the provision 

or assistance will promote or improve 

the social, economic or environmental 

well-being of the local authority’s area 

and how it will meet the needs of the 

users of the relevant service. 

Rejecting an Expression of Interest 

The Government has set out 10 grounds on 

which an expression of interest may be 

rejected.  These include: 

� The expression of interest does not 
comply with any of the requirements 

specified in the Localism Act 2011 or in 

Regulations;  

� The local authority considers, based on 
the information in the expression of 

interest, that the relevant body is not 

suitable to provide or assist in providing 

the relevant service; 

� The expression of interest relates to a 
service where a decision has been to 

stop providing that service; or 

� The relevant authority considers that the 
expression of interest is frivolous or 

vexatious. 

1. Context 

Agenda Item 6d

Page 152



1. Context 

2 
Sevenoaks District Council Community Right to Challenge Policy 

 

Council Aims and Objectives 

Sevenoaks District Council is proud of the 

high quality, value for money services it 

delivers to the community. 

The Council takes pride in the District and 

has a vision to work with the community as 

a whole to sustain and develop a fair, safe 

and thriving local economy. 

Faithful to its core values of fairness, 

integrity and quality the Council is 

committed to considering the potential 

benefits of each expression of interest 

received through the Community Right to 

Challenge. 

At the same time the Council has promised 

to provide value for money.  To help ensure 

this continues the Council will integrate the 

Community Right to Challenge in to its 

robust financial planning processes.  

When an expression of interest is accepted 

the Council will ensure that the 

procurement exercise has a focus on:  

� the quality of the service delivered;  

� the value provided to the whole of the 
District; and  

� ensuring that the service provider is 
committed and able to promote or 

improve the social, economic or 

environmental well-being of the District. 

Links to Other Policies & Resources 

The Council has chosen to ensure that the 

Community Right to Challenge Policy is 

integrated in to its Policy Framework, 

ensuring that it contributes directly to the 

achievement of the Council’s vision and 

promises.  It is therefore linked to the 

Council’s: 

� Financial Strategy; 

� 10 Year Budget;  

� Procurement Strategy; and 

� Equality Aims and Commitments. 

 

 

Agenda Item 6d

Page 153



 

3 
Sevenoaks District Council Community Right to Challenge Policy 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Submitting an Expression of Interest 

Sevenoaks District Council has chosen to 

integrate the Community Right to Challenge 

into its budget setting processes. 

To ensure this is a fair, efficient and 

effective process it is necessary to restrict 

the time during which expressions of 

interest can be submitted to the Council. 

The Council will accept expressions of 

interest for any of its relevant services 

during the period of 1 June to 31 July. 

The only exceptions to this policy are those 

services where the Council already has a 

contractual obligation in place.  A record of 

these services and the time period when 

expressions of interest will be accepted will 

be publicised on the Sevenoaks District 

Council website at: 

www.sevenoaks.gov.uk/righttochallenge 

For an expression of interest to be accepted 

by the Council it must be made in writing.  

The Council are able to accept expressions 

of interest by post or by Email to the 

following addresses: 

Policy and Performance, 

Sevenoaks District Council 

Argyle Road 

Sevenoaks 

Kent 

TN13 1HG 

righttochallenge@sevenoaks.gov.uk  

Deciding on an Expression of Interest  

The Council will ensure that each 

expression of interest received is properly 

and effectively considered.   

It will be the responsibility of the Council’s 

Cabinet to decide on whether an expression 

of interest is acceptable under the legal 

framework set out by the Government. 

As expressions of interest will form part of 

the Council’s budget setting process the 

Council will be unable to provide a final 

decision on whether an expression of 

interest is accepted until 30 September. 

The Council will reply in writing confirming 

the receipt of each expression of interest.  

At that time the Council will state clearly 

when the relevant body submitting the 

expression of interest can expect to be 

informed whether it’s expression of interest 

has been accepted or rejected by the 

Council. 

  

 

 

2. Expressions of Interest 

Agenda Item 6d

Page 154



2.  Expressions of Interest 

4 
Sevenoaks District Council Community Right to Challenge Policy 

 

Timeline 
 

 

June 

 

Expression of Interest window opens 

 

July Expression of Interest window closes 

 

August All Expressions of Interest considered 

 

September Cabinet decision – accept or reject 

expression of interest 
 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 6d

Page 155



 

5 
Sevenoaks District Council Community Right to Challenge Policy 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Procurement Policy 

The Council is committed to ensuring the 

best value outcome for the whole District 

when tendering for contracts, including 

those received under the Community Right 

to Challenge. 

This Policy commits the Council to: 

� Delivering a procurement process that is 
appropriate for the size and complexity 

of the relevant service; 

� A requirement for method statements 
from potential providers that are clear 

on the resources and delivery model 

that they will use to provide the service 

to the council or the community; 

� A focus on best value to the whole of 
the District; 

� A focus on high quality service delivery; 

� The use of external tender assessors 
where appropriate; and 

� Ensuring contracts are outcome based. 

These commitments are in accordance with 

the principles set out in the Council’s 

Sustainable Procurement Policy and the 

regulations in the Council’s Constitution 

relating to financial and contract procedure 

rules.  

Further information about Council 

Procurement is available on the Sevenoaks 

District Council website at: 

www.sevenoaks.gov.uk/procurement 

Timeline 

The timeline below sets out a proposed 

procurement timetable.  The timetable will 

be subject to change dependent on the 

complexity of the service subject to the 

expression of interest. 

November 

to  

December 

 

Tender period open 

 

January 

to  

March 

Contract 

evaluation and 

decision 
 

April 

to  

June 

Preparation for 

new contract to 

commence 
 

1 July Contract start date 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3. The Procurement Exercise 

Agenda Item 6d

Page 156



Appendix 1 

6 

Sevenoaks District Council Community Right to Challenge Policy 

 

 

 

Community Right to Challenge  

Time Line 

 

 
June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb March April May June July 

               Expressions of Interest 

accepted     
 

  
                         Expressions of Interest 

considered 

  
    

                         Cabinet decision on 

Expression of Interest 

   
  

                         Council develops 

tender pack 

   
    

                        
Tender Period Open 

   
        

                      Contract evaluation 

and decision 

   
    

  
      

                   
Service preparation 

  
  

    
     

      
                

Contract start date 

   
    

        
  

   

 

 
          

 
 

Process ends if no 

Expression of 

Interest accepted 

A
genda Item

 6d

P
age 157



 

 

 
Sevenoaks District Council  

  Community Right to 

Challenge Policy 
 
 
 
 
If you have any comments about this 

document or require further copies, please 

contact: 

 
Policy & Performance 

Sevenoaks District Council 

Argyle Road 

Sevenoaks 

Kent 

TN13 1HG 

 
Telephone   01732 227000 
 
E-mail   policy@sevenoaks.gov.uk 
 
The Community Right to Challenge Policy is 

available on the Council’s website at 

www.sevenoaks.gov.uk/communityrights . 

 
 
Other formats: 

This publication is available in 

large print. 

For a copy, call 01732 227000. 

 
If you need help communicating with us 

or understanding this document, we can 

arrange for an interpreter to help you.  

Please contact us on 01732 227000 

stating your language and telephone 

number. 

 

www.sevenoaks.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

July 2012 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 6d

Page 158



  

  

 
 

COUNCIL – 24 July 2012 

 

Report by Leader of the Council 

 

This is my report to Council on the work undertaken by the Leader and the Cabinet in the 

period 7 April 2012 to 12 July 2012.  I am listing below the agenda items discussed 

since Members will have received the minutes of those meetings. 

 

Cabinet – 12 April 2012 

 

� The Developing Vision 

� Partnership working between Dartford Borough Council and Sevenoaks District 

Council in relation to Environmental Health Services 

� Property Review – Disposal of toilets, Leigh and Swanley 

� Planning: revised charging for pre-application enquiries 

� Sevenoaks Residential Character Assessment 

� Big Community Fund Applications 

 

Cabinet – 10 May 2012 

 

• Waste and Recycling – DCLG weekly collection support scheme and Health and 

Safety Executive Audit of Waste and Recycling Services  

• Community Safety Action Plan 2012/2013 

 

Cabinet – 14 June 2012  

 

• Property Review – Local Needs Housing Shoreham 

• Provisional Outturn 2011/12 and Carry Forward Requests 

• Bank Account Signatories 

• Consultation on the Community Infrastructure Levy 

 

Cabinet – 12 July 2012  

 

• Localisation of Council Tax Support 

• Community Right to Challenge 

• 2012/13 Performance Indicator Targets 

 

The work of the Leader – Meetings held and attended: 

 

7 April – 30 April 

 

• Locality Board scoping meeting 

• Communications Portfolio Holder briefing 

Agenda Item 9

Page 159



  

  

• Modern Local Government Group  

• West Kent Partnership meeting 

 

1 May – 31 May 

 

• Kent Forum Planning Group (Leaders sub group meeting) 

• Kent Housing Group – Welfare Reform 

• Shadow Police and Crime Panel for Kent  

• Meeting with CBRE re Fort Halstead 

• Meeting with Kent County Council re Social Fund Localisation 

• Meeting with Graham Chase, Chase & Partners re 66 London Road, Sevenoaks 

• Meeting with Stewart Deering, Reef re 66 London Road, Sevenoaks 

• Meeting with the Rt Hon Grant Shapps MP re Right to Buy scheme at DCLG 

• Speaker at Inside Government forum on The Future of Local Government: 

Delivering Innovative, Efficient and Effective Public Services 

• Kent Forum 

• Sevenoaks Society Diamond Jubilee Reception at Knole House 

• Speaker at Public Policy Exchange’s event: Revolutionising Public Sector 

Communications: Using The Power Of Social Media To Accelerate the Digitisation 

of Public Services 

• Meeting with Kent County Council regarding Commissioning Plan for Education 

Provision  

 

6 June – 30 June 

 

• Official Opening of Women’s Refuge 

• Speaker at Local Government Association’s Leadership Academy Graduation 

• New Local Government Network Summer Reception, House of Commons 

• League of Friends of Sevenoaks Hospital Annual General Meeting 

• Annual liaison meeting with Swanley Town Council 

• Meeting with Brian Johnson, Chief Executive of Moat Homes 

• Meeting with preferred supplier for In Shape magazine 

• Annual liaison meeting with Edenbridge Town Council 

• Annual Leader versus Chief Executive Cricket match 

• South East England Councils (SEEC) All member meeting 

• Communications Portfolio Holder briefing 

• Local Government Association conference 

 

2 July to 12 July 

 

• Meeting re Kent Forum architecture 

• Meeting with CBRE re Fort Halstead 

• Sevenoaks Locality Board 

• Eastbourne Borough Council Corporate Peer Challenge 

• Modern Local Government Group  

• Memorial Service for Mark Worrall 

 

Agenda Item 9

Page 160



Environment Select Committee – 29 May 2012 

 

There were no Interests declared, and no formal response from the Cabinet 

 

Action from previous meeting resulted in the e-mail sent to al Members that day in 

reference to pre-application enquiries 

 

Future work plan was adjusted, items deleted, some added 

 

We had a very full update on the work undertaken and to be done in respect of the 

OLYMPICS & PARALYMPICS which was a formidable list. 

The Torch relay was explained and the work that entailed. 

 

There then followed a lengthy and detailed presentation on the COMMUNITY 

INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY [CIL] and the PUBLIC CONSULTATION DOCUMENT AND 

PRELIMINARY DRAFT CHARGING SCHEDULE.  Both being very full and detailed 

 

Meeting finished at 8.22 pm 

 

Ian Bosley 

Chairman 

 

Agenda Item 10

Page 161



Page 162

This page is intentionally left blank



SERVICES SELECT COMMITTEE. 

A meeting of the committee took place on 19th June at which the following were 

discussed. 

A minor change to the Work Plan was reported. 

The Members IT Working Group will continue to meet with Cllr Hogarth joining the Group 

when it considers the Disaster Recovery Plan. 

Members Under Occupation of Social Housing Group and Members Universal Credit 

group will continue to meet with the same membership .for the Municipal year 2012/13. 

Universal Credit update – the Group Manager – Financial Services and the Chairman of 

the Working Group gave verbal updates. There were also contributions from the Vice 

Chairman of the Working Group and the Director of Corporate Resources. It is hoped that 

the final recommendations to the Committee will be presented at the September 

meeting. 

Localisation for Support of Council Tax – Verbal updated were given by the Group 

Managed – Financial Services, the Leader of the Council and the Director of Corporate 

Resources. The recommendation was made to Cabinet for the proposed tax scheme for 

its consideration and recommendation to full Council. 

Under Occupation of Social Housing – the Head of Housing and Communications 

presented the final report and Action Plan. Within the comprehensive list of action points, 

she noted five which were unique and innovative proposals. It was agreed to look into the 

possibility of sending a personalised letter to all under occupied properties. It was agreed 

that the strategy should be recommended to Cabinet  and if accepted be included in the 

Committee’s Work Plan. The Committee congratulated  the Housing Policy Manager on 

all the work he had put into the report. 

Following a meeting of P & G which recommended that Services Select should consider 

the matter the Human Resources Manager presented a comprehensive report dealing 

with staff absence rates. Members were pleased  with the report, referring one question 

to the Director of Corporate Resources and proposing that the report should be referred 

back to P & G. 

Waste and Recycling – Weekly Collection Scheme and H and S Audit of Waste and 

Recycling Schemes. A report which had previously been considered by Cabinet was 

noted. 

 

R.J.Davison 

Committee Chairman 

Agenda Item 10

Page 163



Page 164

This page is intentionally left blank



Social Affairs Select – Report of a Meeting held on 21st June 2012 

 

1. SENCIO 

 
The meeting was held at Lullingstone Park and was preceded by a tour of the golf 

course and the depot accompanied by Mark Whyman, Chief Executive of Sencio. 

 

Members were considering aspects of ‘Strong and Active Communities’ looking at 

leisure facilities and the work of the Stag Community Arts Centre. 

 

Sencio offers a wide range of leisure facilities to cater for diverse interests and 

abilities across all age groups. Golf and Fitness facilities are proving to be growth 
areas despite the recession whilst swimming continues to show a slight decline, in 

line with the national trend. Mr Whyman explained that Sencio’s strength lay in its 

staff and that investing in their training and ensuring that its buildings and 

equipment were well maintained were of paramount importance. Innovation, such as 

the introduction of a Youth Membership Scheme and working with partners such as 

West Kent Extra and Dorton House were also key elements of its philosophy. The 

organisation is constantly seeking new ways of engaging the public in healthy 

activities and works closely with the Council to deliver the relevant aims set out in the 

Community Plan. 

 
2. STAG COMMUNITY ARTS CENTRE 

 
Cllr. Eyre, in his capacity as general Manager of STAG talked about the different ways 

in which the Centre serves the community. He spoke of the army of volunteers who 

are central to its success and the provision of services, marketing specific interest 

groups with the introduction, for instance, of a Mother and Baby Film Club and a 

Classic Film Club. Whilst these attract relatively small audiences they nevertheless 

meet a need and are well received. The Centre works closely with the Amateur 

groups within the community as well as bringing in professional performances. It also 

provides a significant outreach programme working with schools across the District 

and offering workshop sessions for the highly successful Youth Theatre. Members 

were informed about the Youth Café and the intention to provide a confidential room 

where youngsters can receive help and advice. 

 

 
3. DISTRICT COUNCIL INPUT. 

 
These presentations were followed by an account of the many ways in which the 

District Council promotes and supports ‘strong and active communities’. These range 

from the Healthy Walks initiative to Speed Watch and from Consultation days to 

developing a scheme - Up and Running - to help reduce mental health problems. It is 

remarkable what can be achieved on a shoestring when organisations pool their 

resources and work together to achieve those things which can make a difference to 

people’s daily lives and well being. 

 

Agenda Item 10

Page 165



4. OLYMPIC UPDATE 

 
Members were advised about various arrangements for the Paralympic games and 

the training sessions leading up to that event at Brands Hatch between 5th – 8th  

September. It is anticipated that some 225 athletes will be competing in the road 

cycling event. 

 

The Council has to manage a host of requirements to ensure the good management 

of spectators, good liaison with various stakeholders and the local community, the 

provision of toilet facilities, first aid and cleaning the road and track to name but a 

few. 

 
Around 200 volunteers have been recruited, all of whom will need to be trained by 

Council officers and a Crowd Management company has been engaged to provide 

additional support. 

 

It is hoped that in addition to a memorable few days that both the local economy and 

residents of West Kingsdown will benefit from this event. 

 

There was also an update on the Olympic Torch Relay which will pass through parts 

of the District on 20th July. 

 

Officers have put in a huge amount of time and effort into ensuring the smooth 

running of these events. The Council should be proud of them and grateful for their 

hard work and dedication. 

 
Alison Cook 

 

Chairman 

Agenda Item 10

Page 166



 
 

 
 

THE PERFORMANCE AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

MEEETING OF 12 JUNE 2012 

 

Members were informed of the progress made on the Review of Car Parking income 

by the Environment Select Committee and the work of the Select Services Committee 

on staff long term sick absences.  The committee noted the Benefits Fraud Report of 

the work of the Anti-Fraud team carried out in 2011/12 and the work proposed for 

2012/13. Members agreed the Annual Governance Statement for 2011/12 which 

accompanies the Council’s Accounts.   Approval was given to the effectiveness of the 

Annual Self Assessment Review of the Internal Audit and support given to the annual 

assurance opinion that the Council had effective internal controls and governance 

arrangements in place. Members were given an update on the councils risk 

management process and plans for the improvement of risk management with a 

report that also updated members on the current strategic risks facing the Council. 

 

The Committee congratulated officers on achieving a favourable variance in the 

provisional outturn figures for 2011/12 which was an extremely challenging year and 

noted that the financial risks will require continued close and proactive financial 

management during 21012/13. 

 

 

Mark Fittock  

Agenda Item 11

Page 167



Page 168

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Annual Council Meeting held on 15 May 2012
	5 To appoint representatives on outside organisations.
	6a The Localism Act 2011 - The New Standards Regime
	Report for the new standards regime
	Appendix 1 Task Group Notes 28 June 2012
	Appendix 2a DCLG Code
	Appendix 2b LGA Code
	Appendix 2c Kent Code
	Appendix 2d NALC Code
	Appendix 3 Standards Committee
	Appendix 4 Arrangements
	Appendix 4 Part 1 Criteria for Assessment
	Appendix 4 Part 2 Inv Procedure
	Appendix 4 Part 3 Hearing Procedure
	Appendix 4 Part 4 complaint form
	Appendix 5 Independent Person Procedure
	Appendix 6 Declaration of Interests
	Appendix 7 Dispensations

	6b Amendments to the Constitution
	Amendments to the Constitution
	Amendments to the Constitution - Appendix A
	Amendments to the Constitution - Appendix B

	6c Localisation of Council Tax Support
	Localisation of Support for Council Tax -  Appendix A

	6d Community Right to Challenge
	Community Right to Challenge - Appendix 1

	9 To receive the report of the Leader of the Council on the work of the Cabinet since the last Council meeting.
	10 To receive a report from the Chairmen of the Select Committees on the work of the Committees since the last Council meeting.
	Services Select Committee Update
	Update from Social Affairs Select Committee

	11 To receive a report from the Chairman of the Performance and Governance Committee on the Work of the Committee since the last Council Meeting

